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Dear Shareholders,

I am pleased to report on the progress we have made during my first year as President and Chief Executive Officer 
of CPI Card Group. 

In 2024, we delivered 8% net sales growth, increased income from operations, generated strong cash flow, and 
improved our balance sheet. Our Prepaid segment was particularly strong, growing 26% and exceeding $100 
million in net sales for the year, led by demand for our innovative packaging solutions focused on fraud prevention. 
Our Debit and Credit segment increased 4%, with strong growth from credit and debit cards in the second half of 
the year, particularly eco-focused contactless cards, complementing full-year strength in our Card@Once® instant 
issuance solutions and other card personalization services. 

In addition to returning the business to growth after a challenging year in 2023, we advanced several key initiatives, 
including refining and expanding our strategy, enhancing our management team, and completing multiple key 
capital actions.

Our strategy continues to focus on understanding and serving the needs of our customers and delivering the 
highest-quality solutions, which has driven our previous success, and we’re adapting for the future by increasing 
our emphasis on efficiency, innovation, and diversification. This includes expanding our addressable markets by 
offering additional payment products and services to our existing customer base, such as digital push provisioning 
for mobile wallets, and offering existing solutions to new customer verticals, such as healthcare payment solutions.
 
To support our strategy and business execution, we have enhanced our management team, bringing in outside 
expertise to complement the leadership that has driven our growth and success over the last several years. In 
addition to growing the business, our team is committed to providing a values-driven work environment and 
empowering our people to serve our customers and other stakeholders.

Finally, we completed several key capital actions in 2024 that we believe will benefit shareholders over time, 
including refinancing our debt, repurchasing $9 million of our stock, and supporting a secondary offering of 
common stock on behalf of our largest shareholder.

We are proud of the accomplishments we achieved in 2024 and excited about the long-term opportunities for 
CPI®. We believe we have the right vision, strategies, solutions, and team to drive the business forward and 
continue to create shareholder value.

Best,

2024 - A Letter from John Lowe

John Lowe 
President and Chief Executive Officer
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Values:
 Do the Right Thing | Strive for Excellence 
Be Curious | Be a Great Partner

Vision:
To be the most trusted partner for  
innovative payment technology solutions

CPI strives to be our customers’ partner of choice by providing market-
leading, high-quality payment solutions and best-in-class customer service 
while delivering continuous innovation. Our customers choose us for our 
extensive experience in delivering payment card solutions, including debit 
and credit payment card production, personalization services, leading 
Software-as-a-Service-based instant issuance and other digital solutions, 
and prepaid debit cards and related tamper-evident packaging solutions.

CPI’s Strategic Pillars drive our approach to doing business and maintaining 
strong, long-term relationships with our customers and our people:

 People and Culture: We promote a values-driven work environment 
to ensure our people are safe, productive, and empowered to serve 
our customers and each other.

 Innovation and Diversification: We develop innovative, market-
leading differentiated solutions that create competitive advantages 
for our customers, and we diversify by expanding our offerings to 
accelerate growth and balance risk.

 Quality and Efficiency: We deliver high-quality solutions and drive 
continuous improvement.

 Customer Focus: We listen to the voice of the customer and provide 
outstanding support and partnership.



With more than 30 years of production experience, CPI offers 
customers a wide range of high-quality payment card options 
that includes dual interface contactless cards, contact cards, 
eco-focused solutions, and encased metal cards. We are 
experts in supporting issuers through a variety of choices in 
materials, specialty print capabilities, and design services.  

Quality at Our Core
All CPI cards are constructed with quality core materials like 
traditional PVC, encased metals, or eco-focused materials.

Technology to Tap or Insert
Dual interface provides the flexibility for both contact and 
contactless EMV® transactions and is available for credit and 
debit programs. 

EMV® is a registered trademark in the U.S. and other countries and an unregistered trademark elsewhere. The EMV trademark is owned by EMVCo, LLC. 
The Contactless Indicator mark, consisting of four graduating arcs, is a trademark owned by and used with permission of EMVCo, LLC.

CPI Solutions - Debit & Credit Payment Cards

Secure Card Solutions

Metal Cards

CPI has robust expertise in encased metal card 
design, printing, and production, and offers multiple 
options developed by our industry-leading research 
and development specialists. High-definition 
printing techniques and the integration of EMV 
technology and payment brand certification allow 
CPI to provide choices to customers looking for a 
premium heavy card.

Eco-focused Cards

CPI continues to be a leading provider of eco-focused 
payment card solutions in the U.S. market, with more than 
350 million eco-focused debit, credit, and prepaid card or 
package solutions sold since launch. 

Second Wave®

Payment cards that feature a core made with upcycled 
recovered ocean-bound plastic.

Earthwise®

Payment cards that replace traditional PVC with a recycled 
option to help reduce first-use plastic that otherwise may 
have ended up in a landfill.



Personalization Solutions

Print-on-Demand

Our innovative Print-on-Demand solution enables our 
customers to quickly personalize their cardholder experience 
with uniquely customized cards, carriers, and collateral 
through an on-demand, zero-inventory personalization model.

CPI’s traditional card personalization and fulfillment services are delivered through our high-security card service facilities located in the 
United States. We support contactless (dual interface), contact, and magnetic stripe with a variety of packaging and mail service options.

Card Data Personalization and Prepaid

CPI provides next-generation personalization technologies, including 
print-on-demand and instant issuance, to meet issuer needs.

Prepaid Solutions
Prepaid Debit Cards & Related Tamper-Evident Secure 
Packaging Solutions  

We collaborate with the industry’s largest prepaid program managers to deliver highly innovative and market-leading retail prepaid 
solutions, including tamper-evident packaging and robust designs for prepaid debit, gift, general purpose reloadable cards, and more.

Our solutions include open-loop general purpose reloadable cards that are issued on the networks of the major payment card brands, 
retail gift cards that can be utilized for purchases on an open- or closed-loop network, and Restricted Authorization Network prepaid 
cards designed for a unique set of merchants.



Digital Solutions

Digital Solutions

Push Provisioning

CPI’s integrated SaaS-based service utilizes APIs to automate the process 
of provisioning cards to mobile wallets, enabling faster card replacement, 
quicker onboarding, higher account activation, and deeper cardholder loyalty. 

We offer market-leading, third-party AI-driven solutions for managing card 
risk, utilizing machine learning and predictive analytics to analyze millions of 
transactions daily for quick insights into merchant risk, data breaches, and fraud.

Fraud Tools

Digital Card

CPI’s Digital Card solution is designed to offer prepaid incentives and 
rewards via card-not-present transactions that give cardholders immediate 
spending power with online merchants.

Card@Once®

Software-as-a-Service-based Instant Issuance

Card@Once is CPI’s market-leading Software-as-a-Service (SaaS)-based instant issuance 
solution for issuing high-quality contactless, contact, and magnetic stripe cards on demand in 
a customer’s location. At the end of 2024, Card@Once hardware installations included more 
than 16,000 locations across more than 2,000 financial institutions in the United States.
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information 
 

Certain statements and information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (as well as information included in 
other written or oral statements we make from time to time) may contain or constitute “forward-looking statements” 
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, 
as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”). The words “believe,” “estimate,” “project,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “affirm,” “plan,” “intend,” “foresee,” 
“should,” “would,” “could,” “continue,” “committed,” “attempt,” “aim,” “target,” “objective,” “guides,” “seek,” “focus,” 
“provides guidance,” “provides outlook” or other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements, which are not historical in nature. These forward-looking statements, including statements about our strategic 
initiatives and market opportunities, are based on our current expectations and beliefs concerning future developments 
and their potential effect on us and other information currently available. Such forward-looking statements, because they 
relate to future events, are by their very nature subject to many important risks and uncertainties that could cause actual 
results or other events to differ materially from those contemplated. 

 
These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to: (i) risks relating to our business and industry, such 

as a deterioration in general economic conditions, including due to inflationary conditions, resulting in reduced 
consumer confidence and business spending, and a decline in consumer credit worthiness impacting demand for our 
products; the unpredictability of our operating results, including an inability to anticipate changes in customer inventory 
management practices and its impact on our business; our failure to retain our existing key customers or identify and 
attract new customers; the highly competitive, saturated and consolidated nature of our marketplace; our inability to 
develop, introduce and commercialize new products and services, including due to our inability to undertake research 
and development activities; new and developing technologies that make our existing technology solutions and products 
obsolete or less relevant or our failure to introduce new products and services in a timely manner or at all; system 
security risks, data protection breaches and cyber-attacks; the usage, or lack thereof, of artificial intelligence 
technologies; disruptions, delays or other failures in our supply chain, including as a result of inflationary pressures, 
single-source suppliers, failure or inability of suppliers to comply with our code of conduct or contractual requirements, 
trade restrictions, tariffs, foreign conflicts or political unrest in countries in which our suppliers operate, and our inability 
to pass related costs on to our customers or difficulty meeting customers’ delivery expectations due to extended lead 
times; interruptions in our operations, including our information technology systems, or in the operations of the third 
parties that operate computing infrastructure on which we rely; defects in our software and computing systems; 
disruptions in production at one or more of our facilities due to weather conditions, climate change, political instability, 
or social unrest; problems in production quality, materials and process and costs relating to product defects and any 
related product liability and/or warranty claims and damage to our reputation; our inability to recruit, retain and develop 
qualified personnel, including key personnel, and implement effective succession processes; our substantial 
indebtedness, including the restrictive terms of our indebtedness and covenants of future agreements governing 
indebtedness and the resulting restraints on our ability to pursue our business strategies; our inability to make debt 
service payments or refinance such indebtedness; our inability to successfully execute on acquisitions or divestitures or 
strategic relationships; our status as an accelerated filer and complying with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the 
costs associated with such compliance and implementation of procedures thereunder; our failure to maintain effective 
internal control over financial reporting and risks relating to investor confidence in our financial reporting; 
environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) preferences and demands of various stakeholders and the related impact 
on our ability to access capital, produce our products in conformity with stakeholder preferences, comply with 
stakeholder demands and comply with any related legal or regulatory requirements or restrictions; negative perceptions 
of our products due to the impact of our products and production processes on the environment and other ESG-related 
risks; damage to our reputation or brand image; the effects of climate change on our business; our inability to adequately 
protect our trade secrets and intellectual property rights from misappropriation, infringement claims brought against us 
and risks related to open source software; our inability to renew licenses with key technology licensors; our limited 
ability to raise capital, which may lead to delays in innovation or the abandonment of our strategic initiatives; costs and 
impacts related to additional tax collection efforts by states, unclaimed property laws, or future increases in U.S. federal 
or state income taxes, resulting in additional expenses which we may be unable to pass along to our customers; our 
inability to realize the full value of our long-lived assets; costs and potential liabilities associated with compliance or 
failure to comply with laws and regulations, customer contractual requirements and evolving industry standards 
regarding consumer privacy and data use and security; our failure to operate our business in accordance with the 
Payment Card Industry Security Standards Council security standards or other industry standards; the effects of trade 
restrictions, delays or interruptions in our ability to source raw materials and components used in our products from 
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foreign countries; the effects ongoing foreign conflicts on the global economy; adverse conditions in the banking system 
and financial markets, including the failure of banks and financial institutions; our failure to comply with environmental, 
health and safety laws and regulations that apply to our products and the raw materials we use in our production 
processes; (ii) risks relating to ownership of our common stock, such as those associated with concentrated ownership of 
our stock by our significant stockholders and potential conflicts of interests with other stockholders; the impact of 
concentrated ownership of our common stock and the sale or perceived sale of a substantial amount of common stock on 
the trading volume and market price of our common stock; potential conflicts of interest that may arise due to our board 
of directors being comprised in part of directors who are principals of or were nominated by our significant stockholders; 
the influence of securities analysts over the trading market for and price of our common stock, particularly due to the 
lack of substantial research coverage of our common stock; the impact of stockholder activism or securities litigation on 
the trading price and volatility of our common stock; certain provisions of our organizational documents and other 
contractual provisions that may delay or prevent a change in control and make it difficult for stockholders other than our 
significant stockholders to change the composition of our board of directors; and (iii) general risks, such as relating to 
our ability to comply with a wide variety of complex evolving laws and regulations and the exposure to liability for any 
failure to comply; the effect of legal and regulatory proceedings and the adequacy of our insurance policies; and other 
risks that are described in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other reports filed 
from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).  

 
We caution and advise readers not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as 

of the date hereof. These statements are based on assumptions that may not be realized and involve risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results or other events to differ materially from the expectations and beliefs 
contained herein. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements after the date 
they are made, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 
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PART I 

Item 1. Business  

As used herein, “CPI,” “the Company,” “we,” “our” and similar terms refer to CPI Card Group Inc. and its 
subsidiaries, unless the context indicates otherwise. 

Overview 

CPI is a payments technology company providing a comprehensive range of payment cards and related digital 
solutions. We are a leader in several areas of the U.S. payment card solutions market, including debit and credit card 
production, personalization, and Software-as-a-Service-based (“SaaS-based”) instant issuance services. We are also a 
market leader in the production of “Prepaid Debit Cards,” which we define as debit cards issued on the networks of the 
“Payment Card Brands” (Visa, Mastercard®, American Express® and Discover®) but not linked to a traditional bank 
account, and related secure packaging solutions. We serve thousands of customers through direct and indirect sales 
channels and have maintained long-standing relationships with our top customers.  

The foundation of our strong market position is our focus on customer service, quality and innovation and our 
comprehensive offering of payment card solutions. Our solutions provide a full suite of products and services required to 
produce, personalize and fulfill payment cards, while maintaining the security requirements of the Payment Card Brands. 
We are integral to many of our customers’ card programs, pairing design and production with an end-to-end offering of 
data personalization and services that are integrated within our customers’ operations and require process and/or 
technology integration, such as secure data links to transfer highly sensitive cardholder information. These services are 
important to many of our customers not just for the payment cards themselves but as an essential element in utilizing 
them as part of their overall branding and marketing initiatives. 

The U.S. payment card solutions market in which we operate has experienced growth in cards-in-circulation 
over a long-term period, driven by new account openings by legacy issuers and new entrants to the payment card market, 
such as financial technology companies (“fintechs”) and others. The U.S. payment card solutions market is characterized 
by users (primarily U.S. consumers) maintaining multiple payment cards and by historically stable and recurring revenue 
driven by the continuous reissuance of debit and credit cards due to card expiration, re-branding, and card replacement 
activity, and by U.S. consumers switching from one financial institution to another. 

Our revenues are primarily generated from the production of and services related to secure debit and credit 
cards that are issued on the networks of the Payment Card Brands, including Prepaid Debit Cards. Our business consists 
of the following reportable segments: 

• Debit and Credit: primarily produces secure debit and credit cards and provides card services for U.S. 
card- issuing financial institutions. Services include personalization; instant issuance, which provides customers 
the ability to issue an instant personalized debit or credit card on-demand within a customer location; and other 
payment solutions such as digital push provisioning for mobile wallets; 

• Prepaid Debit: primarily provides secure packaging solutions, Prepaid Debit Cards, and other integrated prepaid 
card services to prepaid program managers in the U.S.; and 

• Other: primarily corporate expenses.  

For additional details regarding our segments, see Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary 
Data, Note 17 "Segment Reporting," and Part II, Item 7, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Our Strategy  

Our vision is to be the most trusted partner for innovative payments technology solutions. We aim to expand 
our addressable market over the long term through diversification by adding adjacent product and service offerings, 
including additional digital solutions, for our extensive customer base, and by leveraging our existing solutions for new 



5 

customer verticals. We have initiated the expansion of our offerings to customers in non-traditional industry verticals, 
such as the sale of our card solutions to the healthcare and gig economy verticals, which has already expanded our 
addressable markets. We also believe our digital SaaS-based instant card issuance solution could be utilized by certain 
businesses outside of the financial services industry. 

To achieve our objectives, we aim to prioritize four strategic pillars: 

• Customer Focus: Listen to the voice of our customers and provide outstanding support and partnership; 

• Quality and Efficiency: Deliver high-quality solutions and drive continuous improvement; 

• Innovation and Diversification: Develop innovative, market-leading differentiated solutions that create 
competitive advantages for our customers and diversify our offerings to accelerate growth and balance risk; and 

• People and Culture: Promote a values-driven work environment to ensure our people are safe, productive and 
empowered to serve our customers and each other. 

By helping our customers elevate their customers’ experience, we foster compelling connections between 
people and technology through traditional and next-generation solutions that build brands and enhance people’s 
everyday lives. For both our traditional business and our market expansion opportunities, we believe we are 
well- positioned for success given our history of innovation and ability to evolve with the needs and expectations of our 
customers. 

Our Solutions  

Debit and Credit Payment and Other Cards 

We differentiate from other providers by focusing on high-quality, innovative payment cards. For many 
customers, we pair card design and production with an end-to-end offering of data personalization and services that are 
integrated within our customers’ operations. In addition to providing payment solutions to typical financial institution 
and fintech payment card issuers, we also produce payment and other cards for healthcare payments, entertainment 
venues, government disbursements, transit services, and other industries. 

We primarily produce contact and contactless cards that are issued on the networks of the Payment Card 
Brands. Contact cards feature an integrated circuit that interfaces with a payment terminal over a contact plate on the 
surface of the card when inserted into an enabled payment terminal. We also produce contactless cards (also known as 
dual interface cards), which share the functionality of a contact card but also have a radio-frequency identification 
(“RFID”) antenna that utilizes near field communications (“NFC”) technology to allow transactions to process on a 
contactless basis when the card is brought within the requisite proximity to an NFC-enabled payment terminal. 
Contactless cards have increased as a percentage of sales versus contact cards for both CPI and the wider U.S. industry.   

We believe we are a leading provider of eco-focused card solutions in the U.S. payments market. Dependent 
upon design and card construction, our Second Wave® and Earthwise® eco-focused cards incorporate various types and 
amounts of upcycled material, including recycled ocean-bound plastic (“ROBP”) and recycled PVC. Cards in our 
eco- focused portfolio have been approved by two of the major Payment Card Brands. These solutions aim to satisfy 
increasing U.S. cardholder demand for more environmentally friendly products and help support our and our customers’ 
environmental objectives. We also have a variety of metal card offerings that we produce as contact or contactless 
depending on the needs of our customers. 

We also produce non-chip cards that only utilize magnetic stripes, contactless payment and non-payment cards 
that utilize NFC technology, and cards that include both magnetic stripes and NFC technology. 

Card Data Personalization and Fulfillment 

We facilitate the issuance and distribution of payment cards to consumers for the majority of our U.S. 
customers. We offer a variety of data personalization and mailing solutions for both daily and bulk mail programs. 
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Our customers provide us with data, in many cases through technology integrations, that we use to personalize 
payment cards to individual consumers. We provide data preparation and personalization solutions for debit, credit and 
Prepaid Debit Cards. Our technology-driven personalization services provide a wide range of customization options 
using advanced processes to encode, program, and emboss or print data, such as the cardholder’s name and account 
number. In addition, we provide data preparation services related to the embedded chips within payment cards.  

In certain cases, we prepare customized mailers to deliver cards to individual cardholders. We are also able to 
personalize payment cards and related collateral on a one-by-one, on-demand basis for our customers, enabling 
individualized offerings in an expedited manner. Our service offering includes online ordering of a customized payment 
card through a program manager, with direct fulfillment to a consumer.  

We believe our breadth, quality, and speed of personalization solutions further differentiates us with our 
financial institution and prepaid program manager customers and enables us to access additional business-to-business 
and business-to-consumer verticals such as healthcare, gig economy payment, corporate incentives, government 
disbursement, benefits, insurance, tax refund, transit, payroll and others. 

SaaS-based Instant Card Issuance and Other Digital Solutions 

We provide a comprehensive solution that makes it easy for our customers to issue payment cards in a customer 
location and on-demand. Our proprietary and patented SaaS-based Card@Once® instant issuance system and 
personalization solution offers a faster delivery of payment cards by our customers to their consumers, typically within a 
few minutes.  

Our Card@Once software solution transfers data from our servers to encode a contact or contactless card and 
personalizes the card on a hardware solution placed in our customer’s location. This process results in the issuance of a 
completely personalized, permanent debit or credit card to individual cardholders within a customer’s location. These 
processes are audited for Payment Card Industry (“PCI”) Security Standards Council data security standards compliance 
annually. Our Card@Once solution generates both initial sales revenue for the hardware and recurring revenue from the 
sale of cards, card personalization and consumables. We have increased installations of our instant issuance solution 
from approximately 11,000 customer locations in 2019 to more than 16,000 in 2024. 

We also have the ability to provide other digital solutions, including digital push provisioning, which allows our 
customers to push card credentials to a cardholder’s mobile wallet, and digital cards. Although revenues for these 
additional digital solutions have been insignificant to date, we believe these solutions have the opportunity to grow in the 
future. In 2024, we expanded our digital solution offerings by entering into a strategic relationship with a third-party to 
resell credit and debit card fraud prevention services. We believe we are well positioned to expand our digital solutions 
offerings to our customers through technology integrations with certain financial institution platform providers, card 
processors, core banking systems, and mobile banking app providers. Many of these integrations have been developed 
over time to support the reselling of personalization services through our digital SaaS-based instant issuance solution. 
We believe these technology integrations could enable us to provide additional digital solutions to our customers, 
including our digital push provisioning service as a complement to physical cards. Digital solutions often require upfront 
investment and additional integration but have the potential to deliver incremental revenue and increased margins over 
time.  

Prepaid Debit Cards and Related Tamper-Evident Secure Packaging Solutions 

CPI is a trusted and significant supplier of Prepaid Debit Cards and related secure packaging solutions in the 
U.S. We believe our solutions in this market are differentiated by our capabilities to provide custom solutions related to 
features such as security, aesthetics, and the use of eco-focused materials, and by our large volume capacities. We also 
offer specialized and innovative tamper-evident secure packaging solutions aimed at reducing fraud.  

Our customers include some of the largest prepaid program managers in the U.S., with whom we have built 
joint processes over many years, utilizing technology in certain instances, to facilitate the exchange of critical data such 
as information used to print and encode card number, expiration, and security codes. Prepaid program managers sell the 
cards and related packages we produce to retail channels, including national big box, grocery, and convenience/gas 
retailers, and others in various industries. For prepaid cards sold through retail, the relationships and processes we 
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developed allow us to provide activation data, including information printed on the packaging which transacts with the 
retailer’s point of sale system to activate cards for use. In certain cases, we also manage the fulfillment of fully 
completed Prepaid Debit Card packages to retail locations on behalf of our customers. 

Our prepaid solutions include open-loop general purpose reloadable cards that are issued on the networks of the 
Payment Card Brands, retail gift cards that can be utilized for purchases on an open or closed-loop network, and 
Restricted Authorization Network prepaid cards designed for a unique set of merchants. These cards typically utilize 
magnetic stripes to facilitate payment transactions, but in certain instances cards may use bar codes and contact chips. 
The cards we produce are offered in a variety of treatments, substrates, finishes, and packaging options focused on both 
security features and card and package design, and we have teams that consult regularly with our customers to create 
advanced solutions to address their needs. 

Our Competitive Strengths 

• Strong Market Position. Our vision is to be our customers’ partner of choice by providing market-leading, 
high- quality payment solutions and customer service and delivering continuous innovation. We believe these 
efforts have resulted in CPI gaining estimated overall U.S. market share over the last several years. We believe 
our long-term customer relationships, comprehensive end-to-end card solutions, including eco-focused 
solutions, and capabilities such as our Card@Once instant issuance solution have contributed to these gains 
with issuers of secure credit and debit cards in the United States. We have also established a leading market 
position in the U.S. prepaid debit market, built on high-quality services, innovative tamper-evident secure 
packaging solutions aimed at reducing fraud and driving shelf appeal, and reliable delivery to our customers. 

• Long-Term Customer Relationships. We have long-standing, trust-based relationships with customers and have 
collaborated with our top 10 customers for more than 10 years, on average. We strive to put our customers at 
the center of everything we do. Our customer relationships generally involve the handling of sensitive 
information and require process and/or technology integration. As a result, our customers often view CPI as a 
partner they can trust and that can deliver the highest quality products and customer service. 

• Comprehensive End-to-End Card Solutions. The foundation of our strong market position with our small to 
mid-sized financial institution and fintech customers is our comprehensive end-to-end payment card solutions. 
Our solutions provide a full suite of products and services required to produce, personalize and fulfill payment 
cards, while maintaining the security requirements of the Payment Card Brands. We are integral to many of our 
customers’ card programs, pairing design and production with an end-to-end offering of data personalization 
and services that are integrated within our customers’ operations and in certain cases utilize data links to 
transfer highly sensitive cardholder information. Such services are important to many of our customers not just 
for the payment cards themselves but as an essential element in utilizing them as part of their overall branding 
and marketing initiatives. We believe that our comprehensive solutions allow many of our customers to choose 
a single, trusted partner to address their card program needs in a cost-effective manner instead of managing 
multiple suppliers across a complex value chain. 

• Payment Card Capabilities, Industry Experience, and Proprietary and Patented Solutions. Over the course of 
our long operating history, we have developed technological, engineering and operational expertise that we 
believe has made us a leader in our industry, including expertise with respect to complying with global 
technical standards for smart payment cards. We continuously work to enhance our offerings and to create and 
deliver next-generation products and solutions that meet the demands of the marketplace and our 
customers. Our eco-focused cards, including Second Wave cards featuring a core made with recovered 
ocean- bound plastic and Earthwise cards made with upcycled plastic, address customer demands for more 
eco- focused card options. Our expanding digital offerings include Card@Once, a proprietary and patented 
instant card issuance system and SaaS-based solution. We believe that our technological and operational 
capabilities, combined with our continuous innovation, gives us a competitive advantage. 

• Integrations with the U.S. Payments Eco-system. We have developed and continue to expand technology 
integrations with certain financial institution platform providers, card processors, core banking systems, and 
mobile banking app providers. We have been implementing these integrations for more than 10 years to support 
the reselling of personalization services through our digital SaaS-based instant issuance solution. We believe 



8 

these technology integrations could enable us to provide additional digital services to customers, including our 
digital push provisioning service as a complement to physical cards. 

• Network of High-Security Facilities. Each of our high-security facilities is audited for compliance with the PCI 
Security Standards Council by one or more of the Payment Card Brands, forming a network of compliant 
facilities in the United States. The Payment Card Brands’ attestations of compliance allow us to produce cards 
bearing these brands and provide relevant card services for our customers. These audit processes are long and 
complex, and our facilities and systems must comply with strict standards of security in order to obtain and 
retain these designations, which are regularly verified by both the Payment Card Brands and our customers. We 
believe the complexity and investment needed to obtain and retain these compliance designations serves as a 
barrier to new entrants into our market. 

• Experienced Leadership Team. We have an experienced leadership team focused on serving customers, driving 
innovation, generating efficient production and services processes, ensuring accountability, delivering timely 
and high-quality results, and generating long-term value for our stockholders. 

Customers 

We have developed long-lasting relationships with our customers by working together to enhance payment card 
programs and by providing innovative, high-quality solutions and customer service. We primarily sell in the U.S. market 
and our diverse customer base includes some of the largest issuers of secure credit and debit cards, the largest prepaid 
program managers, major financial institution platform providers and card processor organizations, leading fintechs, 
thousands of small to mid-sized financial institutions, and others. 

Solutions for customer segments in our traditional markets include:  

• Large card issuers (defined as the top 10 card issuers in the United States based on an average of cards issued 
during the past three years): secure debit and credit cards; 

• Small to mid-sized financial institutions: secure debit and credit cards, card personalization services, instant 
card issuance, and other payment solutions including digital solutions. The small to mid-sized financial 
institutions market segment includes regional banks, independent community banks, credit unions, and others 
and is often served by us through Resellers. We define “Resellers” as financial institution platform providers 
and card processor organizations that assist financial institutions with their core banking operations, including 
management of their credit and debit card programs; 

• Fintechs: secure debit and credit cards and card personalization services; 

• Prepaid program managers: Prepaid Debit Cards, secure packaging solutions and other integrated prepaid card 
services. These prepaid program managers resell to their customer base which represents a significant number 
of U.S. distribution points, such as retail channels including national big box, grocery, and convenience/gas 
retailers, and others in various industries, and assist with the management and operations of their customers’ 
Prepaid Debit Cards programs; and 

• Other: payment and non-payment cards for healthcare providers, entertainment venues, government 
disbursements, transit services and others. 

CPI had one customer that accounted for 10% or more of its net sales in 2024. Net sales from this customer 
were approximately 18% of total net sales for the year ended December 31, 2024, and we have been serving this 
customer for nearly 20 years. Although our direct relationship is with this customer, this customer resells our services to 
a large number of indirect customers. Nearly two-thirds of our net sales for the year ended December 31, 2024 were 
from our top 10 customers, whom we have been serving for an average of more than 10 years. The majority of these 
sales are from Resellers, who provide our products and services to thousands of indirect customers. Through our direct 
and indirect customer relationships, a majority of our annual net sales in our Debit and Credit segment are derived from 
small to mid-sized financial institutions and fintechs. Individually, many of these customers, including independent 
community banks and credit unions, represent minor amounts of our annual net sales. 
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We typically enter into master purchase or service agreements that govern the general terms and conditions of 
our commercial relationships. We then enter into a purchase order or other short-term arrangement that defines the 
quantities of products to be delivered or services rendered and other terms specific to the order, as appropriate. In most 
cases, our contractual arrangements include neither exclusivity clauses nor commitments from our customers to order 
any given quantities of products on a medium or long-term basis. 

Production 

We have a network of high-security facilities that we leverage to fulfill customer orders, with an array of 
products and services available to our customers. We have attempted to design our facilities and operating processes to 
provide exceptional service to all customers, with capabilities to execute high-volume and lower-volume production runs 
and on-demand solutions. 

As of December 31, 2024, we operated facilities comprising approximately 400,000 square feet in the United 
States, with the majority of the space dedicated to payment card production, personalization services, card packaging and 
fulfillment services. We are also in the process of constructing a new facility in Fort Wayne, Indiana, pursuant to a 
build- to-suit lease agreement, to which we intend to relocate our current Indiana operations. This new facility is intended 
to modernize our operations, increase efficiencies and provide additional capacity and capabilities to accommodate 
future growth. See Part I, Item 2, Properties in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information on the operations of 
each facility. 

We rely on secure ground and air freight to deliver finished products to our customers. Due to the high-security 
nature of the payment card products we provide to our customers, certain products must be shipped to these customers 
via a secure method, such as armored vehicle. With respect to customers for whom we fulfill individual and personalized 
debit and credit cards, we primarily utilize the U.S. postal service and other express shipping services to deliver these 
cards directly to individual cardholders. For other customers, we deliver our products via regular ground and air freight. 

In addition, we seek to embrace practices and solutions at our facilities designed to limit our impact on the 
environment, preserve natural resources and create innovative and responsible products. Our key areas of focus in this 
area include incorporating environmental sustainability practices when feasible in alignment with our business model, 
values and customer needs; engaging employees; and communicating and promoting our commitment and contribution 
to more sustainable practices and products. 

Sales and Marketing 

We market ourselves as a leader and trusted partner in payments, seeking to meet or exceed the needs of our 
customers through high quality, flexibility, and meaningful, innovative products at value-driven pricing. We strategize 
and collaborate with our customers to bring them valuable and innovative solutions. We have sales representatives, 
customer relationships and partners that provide a wide geographic reach across the United States to sell and market our 
solutions. Our sales representatives offer complete end-to-end solutions that incorporate the full spectrum of our 
products and services from concept to delivery.  

Our sales and marketing strategy is focused on strengthening our relationships with existing customers through 
a consultative approach that includes cross-selling expanded services and sharing expertise to enhance customers’ card 
programs. Our marketing efforts focus on the needs of our specific types of customers and leverage the strength of our 
full-service offerings to attract new customers. By tailoring our marketing strategy to different customer segments, we 
are able to provide relevant targeted solutions to meet our customers’ individual needs. We use an array of marketing 
communications and thought leadership across various industry publications, editorial white papers, case studies, 
conferences and trade shows, print and digital advertisements, educational webinars, podcasts, and blogs to introduce our 
existing customers and new customers to innovations in the payments market. We also strive to develop new or 
enhanced products by innovating through research and development activities. We believe these efforts drive customer 
retention and satisfaction and attract new customers. 



10 

Competition 

The market for products and services in the payment card industry is highly competitive. Competitive factors 
for our business include product quality, customer service, innovation, product line comprehensiveness and integration, 
timely introduction of new products, features and capabilities, and price. Although our company is smaller in size than 
the corporations that own some of our key competitors, we believe that our size and payment card related focus allow us 
to be more flexible and responsive to our customers’ needs. 

We believe we are in competition with other card producers, card personalization service providers, card 
packaging providers, and others that provide technology and digital solutions related to payment cards, such as ABCorp, 
Arroweye, CompoSecure L.L.C., Entrust, FIS, Fiserv, Giesecke & Devrient GmbH, HID Global, IDEMIA, Perfect 
Plastic Printing, Thales, Travel Tags, and WestRock (Multi Packaging Solutions), among others. 

Certain of these competitors are global conglomerates that possess substantially greater financial, sales and 
marketing resources than we do and can offer additional integrated products and solutions. 

In addition, certain existing and potential customers have the ability to produce and/or personalize debit and 
credit payment cards in-house. Accordingly, we compete with certain of our customers, including those that offer 
transaction processing products and services to financial institutions. 

Suppliers 

Our general procurement philosophy is to prevent or avoid being dependent on a single-source supplier. We 
believe we have developed constructive relationships with our suppliers and, in general, receive a high level of 
cooperation and support from them. However, certain components are only available from a single supplier, or 
substituting a component from a different supplier may require additional time and investment. Some of the most 
important components of our products include the microchips and antennas for our card products. Our main suppliers of 
microchips and antennas include three leading international producers with locations in Germany, Thailand, and 
Singapore, some of which source materials from Taiwan. For the year ended December 31, 2024, approximately 95% of 
our purchased microchips and antennas came from these three main suppliers, and approximately 78% came from one 
supplier, including most of our contactless chips. The other key components for our products are substrates and inlays. 
Our Second Wave payment cards feature a core made with ROBP, which we either have sourced or currently source 
from suppliers in Haiti and Thailand. 

We monitor supply-chain risks and evaluate alternative suppliers based on numerous attributes including 
quality, performance, service, scalability, features, innovation, resiliency and price. In 2022 in order to fulfill the 
demands of our customers and to mitigate the impact of supply chain shortages, we entered into a capacity reservation 
agreement with one of our chip suppliers to reserve production supply capacity. Under the agreement, we agreed to pay 
certain fees in exchange for the supplier’s commitment to reserve capacity to produce a set quantity of chips from 2023 
through 2026, subject to certain conditions, and we have committed to purchase those chips. The total value of our 
commitment is approximately $190.0 million over the term of the agreement. As of December 31, 2024, the remaining 
commitment was $62.0 million. 

Intellectual Property 

We own, control or license various intellectual property rights, such as patents, trade secrets, confidential 
information, trademarks, service marks, tradenames, copyrights and applications. We are party to certain patent 
cross- license arrangements with industry participants and may, from time to time, enter into similar commercial 
agreements we consider necessary or beneficial for our business. 

We rely on a combination of statutory (copyright, trademark and trade secret) and contractual safeguards to 
protect our intellectual property throughout the world. As of December 31, 2024, we had 66 U.S. and foreign trademark 
registrations and applications, 63 existing U.S. patents, 50 existing foreign patents, as well as 34 pending U.S. and 
foreign patent applications. Our U.S. and foreign patents and applications have an average remaining maturity of 
approximately 12 years, and our trademarks will be due for renewal for additional ten-year periods on an ongoing basis. 
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Regulation 

Privacy and Data Security 

In the course of our business, we receive personally identifiable information of cardholders from our customers, 
either from a financial institution or through a Reseller. Such information can include names, email and physical 
addresses, card account numbers and expiration dates. As a service provider to financial institutions in the United States, 
we are subject to certain Federal Trade Commission requirements, certain privacy provisions of the 
Gramm- Leach- Bliley Act and its implementing regulations, various other federal and state privacy statutes and 
regulations, certain of the PCI Security Standards Council’s requirements and the Health Insurance Portability and 
Accountability Act (“HIPAA”), each of which is subject to change at any time. Outside of the United States, we are 
subject to privacy laws and regulations of certain countries and jurisdictions. The interpretation and application of 
privacy and data protection laws are often uncertain and in a state of flux. Furthermore, many of our customers are 
subject to privacy and data protection laws, and our customers often impose contractual obligations on us related to their 
obligations. In order to comply with our obligations under applicable privacy laws and regulations and our contractual 
agreements with our customers, we are required to implement adequate policies and safeguards to protect the privacy of 
personally identifiable information we receive.  

Under the PCI Security Standards Council’s requirements, we must meet certain security standards in order to 
achieve compliance that allows us to produce and personalize debit and credit cards issued on the Payment Cards 
Brands’ networks. These standards include extensive requirements with respect to the physical characteristics of our 
facilities, as well as our utilization and digital storage of cardholder data. We believe that we have developed significant 
expertise in achieving and maintaining compliance with the requirements from the Payment Card Brands, and have 
invested, and will continue to invest, significant capital to achieve and retain compliance, which is regularly verified by 
both the Payment Card Brands and our customers. We believe the complexity involved and investment needed to obtain 
and retain these compliance designations may serve as a barrier to new entrants into our market. 

The status and interpretation of pending and existing laws and regulations is evolving and these laws and 
regulations may be applied inconsistently, and the obligations imposed upon us by our customers can vary. It is possible 
that our current data protection policies and practices may be deemed inconsistent with new legal requirements or 
interpretations thereof, and breaches in the security of our systems and technology could result in a violation of these 
laws and regulations and contractual requirements. Changes to these laws and regulations, as well as any associated 
inquiries or investigations or any other government actions, and additional requirements imposed by our customers may 
be costly to comply with and may delay or impede the development of new products, result in negative publicity, 
increase our operating costs, require significant management time and attention, and subject us to remedies that may 
harm our business, including reputational harm, fines, or demands or orders that we modify or cease existing business 
practices. 

Financial Services 

We are generally not directly subject to federal or state regulations specifically applicable to financial 
institutions such as banks and credit unions. However, as a provider of products and services to these financial 
institutions, our operations may be examined by various state and federal regulatory authorities and representatives of 
the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council, which is a formal inter-agency body empowered to prescribe 
uniform principles, standards and report forms for the federal examination of financial institutions and to make 
recommendations to promote uniformity in the supervision of financial institutions. Also, state and federal regulations 
require our financial institution customers to include certain provisions in their contracts with service providers like us 
and to conduct ongoing monitoring and risk management for third party relationships. In addition, we engage 
independent auditors annually to review certain of our operations to provide internal control evaluations for our 
customers’ auditors. 

In conducting certain aspects of our card services, we are directly subject to various federal and state laws and 
regulations and contractual obligations. In order to comply with our obligations under applicable laws, we are required, 
among other things, to comply with reporting requirements, to implement operating policies and procedures to comply 
with Office of Foreign Assets Control requirements, to protect the privacy and security of our customers’ information 
and to undergo periodic audits and examinations. 
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The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Protection Act (the “Dodd-Frank Act”) set forth substantial reforms to 
the supervision and operation of the financial services industry, including the establishment of the Consumer Financial 
Protection Bureau (“CFPB”), which has broad supervisory, enforcement and rulemaking authority over consumer 
financial products and services. In certain circumstances, the CFPB has examination and supervision powers with 
respect to service providers who provide a material service to a covered financial institution offering consumer financial 
products and services, including service providers like us. Any new rules or regulations implemented by the CFPB or 
pursuant to the Dodd-Frank Act that are applicable to us or our customers’ businesses, or any adverse changes thereto, 
could increase our cost of doing business, require us to implement new or modified compliance processes or procedures 
or limit our current offerings. 

Environmental Protection 

Our operations are subject to environmental protection regulations, including those governing the emissions of 
pollutants into the air, wastewater discharges, the use and handling of hazardous substances, waste disposal, and the 
investigation and remediation of soil and groundwater contamination. We are also required to obtain environmental 
permits from governmental authorities for certain of our operations. 

Human Capital 

Our leadership team has significant experience in the payment card industry, and many of our employees 
possess specialized career-long expertise and knowledge. Our compensation programs are designed to attract and retain 
individuals with the unique skill sets that are fundamental to our business. We provide our employees with competitive 
salaries and incentives, access to health insurance and paid time off, in addition to other benefits. As part of our 
promotion and retention efforts, we also invest in ongoing leadership development and conduct employee surveys to 
measure employee engagement and identify areas of focus. 

 
Employee health and safety in the workplace is one of our core values. The health and safety of our employees 

has remained paramount, and we have adapted our health and safety procedures and protocols as necessary to foster a 
safe working environment. We maintain a combination of on-site and remote employees in our workforce. 

 
We are committed to equal employment opportunity, inclusion and belonging, through which we promote 

honest, ethical and respectful conduct. Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics sets the standards for appropriate 
behavior, and employees are required to follow these standards and participate in related training. We encourage 
employees to bring forward issues and concerns. In addition, we periodically analyze our employment procedures and 
pay practices to help ensure individuals are provided with equal employment opportunities and equitable pay. We also 
focus on a variety of community initiatives to enhance the lives of people in the communities where we operate through 
volunteerism, charitable giving and economic support.  

 
As of December 31, 2024, approximately 1,500 people were employed by CPI, of which nearly half are women 

and approximately 60% identify as being within a minority category. Approximately 73% of our full-time employees are 
production and service facility staff. None of our employees are represented by labor unions. We believe that our 
relations with our employees are positive. 

  
Available Information 

We are a Delaware corporation and were initially formed as CPI Holdings I, Inc. in June 2007 and changed our 
name to CPI Card Group Inc. in August 2015. Our principal executive offices are located at 10368 West Centennial 
Road, Littleton, CO 80127, telephone (720) 681-6304. Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on 
Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports are available free of charge through the 
“Investor Relations” portion of our website (www.cpicardgroup.com), as soon as reasonably practical after they are filed 
with, or furnished to, the SEC. Our website and the information contained on that site, or connected to that site, are not 
incorporated into and are not a part of this report. The SEC also maintains a website (www.sec.gov), which contains 
reports and information statements, and other information filed electronically with the SEC. 

We qualify as a smaller reporting company in accordance with Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act and have 
elected to follow certain of the scaled back disclosure accommodations within this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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Item 1A. Risk Factors 

There are many factors that affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows, some 
of which are beyond our control. The following is a description of some important factors that may cause our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows in future periods to differ materially from those currently 
expected or desired. Factors not currently known to us or that we currently deem to be immaterial may also materially 
and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. You should carefully 
consider all of these risks described below, together with the other information included in this Annual Report on Form 
10-K, before investing in our securities. As a result of any of these risks, known or unknown, you may lose all or part of 
your investment in our securities. 

Risk Factors Summary 

Risks Relating to our Business and Industry 
• A deterioration in general economic conditions, including due to inflation-related challenges, resulting in 

reduced consumer confidence and consumer and business spending and decreased demand for our products. 
• The unpredictability of our operating results due to the varying cyclicality of the financial card and electronic 

payment industries, changes in customer inventory management practices, capital requirements, competition, 
new product developments, technological changes and other factors. 

• Failure to retain existing key customers and attract new customers due to competitive products, pricing 
pressures, extended production lead times, financial health of our customers and macroeconomic conditions 
affecting our industry or our customers. 

• The highly competitive, saturated and consolidated nature of our marketplace. 
• Our inability to develop new or enhanced products and services, including due to our inability to undertake 

time-consuming and costly research and development activities. 
• The widespread adoption of technological changes, new products or industry standards, such as digital payment 

systems or mobile payments, which may render our products obsolete or irrelevant, and our failure to develop, 
introduce and commercialize innovative products to address the evolving needs of our customers in a timely 
manner or at all. 

• A cyber-attack or breach of our information technology systems resulting in losses of our intellectual property 
and/or sensitive cardholder data, harm to our competitive position and a loss of customer trust and confidence, 
and, as threats evolve, the necessity to invest in significant additional resources to enhance our information 
security and controls. 

• The usage, or lack thereof, of artificial intelligence technologies. 
• Disruptions, delays or other failures in our supply chain, including due to increased costs and inflationary 

pressures in our supply chain, single-source suppliers, or the failure or inability of our suppliers to comply with 
our codes of conduct or contractual requirements, trade restrictions, tariffs, foreign conflicts or political unrest 
in countries in which our suppliers operate, and our inability to pass related costs on to our customers or 
difficulty meeting customers’ delivery expectations due to extended lead times. 

• Any interruption of our information technology systems, including disruptions or failures of our third-party data 
centers, inhibiting our ability to serve our customers. 

• Defects in our software and computing systems, resulting in errors or delays in the processing of transactions 
and other interruptions in our business operations. 

• A disruption at any of our production facilities due to weather conditions, climate change, political instability, 
or social unrest and our inability to recover quickly or otherwise provide continuity of production to meet 
customer requirements. 

• Problems in our production processes, including as a result of mechanical or technological failures, which could 
lead to reduced production capacity and quality. 

• Defects in our products that may give rise to products recalls, product liability and warranty claims as well as 
damage to our reputation. 

• Failure to recruit, retain and develop qualified new and replacement personnel and implement effective 
succession processes amidst labor shortages and competitive labor markets. 

• Our substantial indebtedness and the covenants and restrictions in the agreements governing our indebtedness 
limiting our ability to use our cash flow in certain areas of our business, capitalize on certain business 
opportunities and pursue our business strategies, all of which could be further impacted if we incur additional 
debt and could impact our ability to make debt service payments. 
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• Our inability to make debt service payments and an inability to refinance our existing debt on favorable terms 
or at all. 

• Our inability to execute successfully on an acquisition strategy or strategic relationships. 
• Our inability to divest or consolidate certain non-strategic businesses. 
• Our potential failure to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including maintaining effective control 

over financial reporting and risks relating to investor confidence in our financial reports.  
• The impact of the increasing focus on ESG factors on our ability to access capital, produce our products in 

conformity with stakeholder preferences, and comply with stakeholder demands as well as comply with any 
new ESG-related legal or regulatory requirements or restrictions, and negative perceptions of our products due 
to the impact of our products and production processes on the environment and other ESG-related risks. 

• Damage to our reputation or brand image resulting from negative perceptions of our business or those entities 
or individuals with whom we do business. 

• The effects of climate change on our business. 
• Our inability to protect our trade secrets, intellectual property and proprietary software; to obtain additional 

intellectual property rights in the future; and to ensure our products are not infringing the intellectual property 
rights of others. 

• Our inability to renew licenses with key technology licensors, resulting in our loss of access to certain 
technologies upon which we rely to develop certain of our products. 

• Our inability to successfully access capital markets due to the effects of the low trading volume and fluctuating 
trading price of our common stock as well as terms of our outstanding indebtedness and unfavorable market 
conditions, which may lead to delays in innovation or the abandonment of our strategic initiatives. 

• Our exposure to additional tax collection efforts by states, unclaimed property laws, or future increases in U.S. 
federal or state income taxes, resulting in additional expenses which we may be unable to pass along to our 
customers. 

• Our inability to realize the full value of our long-lived assets, which represent a significant portion of our total 
assets.  

• Challenges, costs and potential liabilities associated with compliance or failure to comply with existing or 
future data privacy and security laws, regulations and other requirements, including customer contractual 
requirements.  

• Our failure to comply with the standards of the PCI Security Standards Council and other industry standards, 
including due to an inability to continue to make investments in our facilities necessary to maintain compliance 
with such standards. 

• The effects of delays or interruptions in our ability to source raw materials and components used in our 
products from foreign countries due to economic downturns or disruptions, including as a result of responses to 
global health emergencies and tariffs and trade restrictions. 

• The effects of ongoing foreign conflicts on the global economy. 
• Adverse conditions in the banking system and financial markets, including bank and financial institution 

failures. 
• Our failure to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including climate change 

regulations, that apply to our products and the raw materials we use in our production processes. 

Risks Relating to Ownership of our Common Stock 
• Continued concentrated ownership of our shares by our significant stockholders and their ability to control 

decisions regarding our business direction and policies as well as the potential conflicts of interest that may 
arise between our significant stockholders and our other stockholders. 

• The impact of concentrated ownership of our common stock and the sale or perceived sale of a substantial 
amount of common stock on the trading volume and market price of our common stock. 

• Potential conflicts of interest for certain individuals serving on our board of directors due to their relationships 
with our significant stockholders. 

• The influence of securities analysts over the trading market for and price of our common stock, particularly due 
to the lack of substantial research coverage of our common stock. 

• The impact of stockholder activism or securities litigation on the trading price and volatility of our common 
stock.  
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• Certain provisions of our organizational documents and other contractual provisions that may delay or prevent a 
change in control and make it difficult for stockholders other than our significant stockholders to change the 
composition of our board of directors. 

General Risk Factors 
• Our inability to comply with numerous evolving and complex laws and regulations relating to financial 

reporting standards, corporate governance, data privacy, tax, trade regulations, environmental regulations and 
permit requirements, export controls, competitive practices, labor and health and safety. 

• Legal costs, the adequacy of our insurance policies, settlement costs and the risk of an adverse decision related 
to legal or regulatory proceedings or litigation. 
 

Risks Relating to our Business and Industry 
 
Risks associated with reduced levels of consumer and business spending, inflation-related challenges and the effects 
of an economic downturn could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Our business depends heavily on consumer and business spending. Our revenue is exposed to general economic 
conditions that affect consumer confidence, spending, discretionary income or purchasing habits. A sustained 
deterioration in general economic conditions, particularly in the United States, or increases in interest rates may 
adversely affect our financial performance by reducing the demand for our payment card solutions or reducing the 
purchase of our higher margin products. If an economic downturn occurs, credit card issuers may reduce credit limits, 
close accounts and become more selective in issuing credit cards. Certain of our customers, especially in the fintech 
space, could be severely impacted by a downturn in economic conditions limiting credit card spending, or cease to exist 
altogether. Additionally, an economic downturn or another global health emergency similar to the COVID-19 pandemic 
could result in extended voluntary or mandated closure of retail locations that sell certain of our products to consumers, 
including our Prepaid Debit Cards. These and other changes in economic conditions could therefore adversely impact 
our future revenues and profits and cause a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Inflation, which increased significantly during 2022 and 2023, has adversely affected us by increasing the costs 
of materials and labor needed to operate our business and could continue to adversely affect us in future periods. In 
response to inflation, we have increased and may in the future increase, the sales prices of our products and services in 
order to maintain satisfactory margins. However, such increases or maintaining such increases may result in customer 
pushback or attrition and be difficult or impossible in future periods, all of which may have an adverse effect on our 
financial condition and results of operations.  

Our operating results are unpredictable and may vary significantly from quarter to quarter and annually, and may 
differ significantly from our expectations. 

Our operating results are affected by a wide variety of factors that could materially and adversely affect revenue 
and profitability or lead to significant variability in our operating results. These factors include the varying cyclicality of 
the financial card and electronic payment industries, limited visibility into our customers’ anticipated purchasing needs, 
labor and supply challenges, capital requirements, Payment Card Brands standards and requirements, competition, new 
product developments, technological changes and other factors. 

Furthermore, in periods of industry overcapacity or when our customers encounter difficulties, orders are more 
exposed to cancellations, reductions, price reductions or postponements, or changes in customer inventory management 
practices which in turn reduce our ability to forecast the next quarter or full-year production levels, net sales, profits and 
cash flows. For these reasons, our net sales and operating results and cash flows may differ materially from our 
expectations. This may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Failure to retain our existing customers or identify and attract new customers would have a material adverse effect 
on our business. 
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A substantial portion of our net sales is derived from several large customers. The Company had one customer 
that accounted for approximately 18% of total net sales for the year ended December 31, 2024. We have been serving 
this customer for nearly 20 years. In addition, nearly two-thirds of our net sales for the year ended December 31, 2024 
were from our top 10 direct customers, which include certain Resellers. We have been serving these top 10 direct 
customers for an average of more than 10 years. If one or more of our key customer relationships ends, it could have a 
material adverse effect on our business and financial results. Our ability to provide products and services to these and 
other customers and meet very high-quality standards in a timely manner is critical to our success. For example, one of 
our key services is the prompt and timely production and delivery of replacement debit or credit cards. Orders for these 
replacement cards often are placed on short notice and may require personalization. If we are unable to offer these and 
our other products and services in a high quality and timely manner, our relationships with our customers may be 
adversely affected and customers may terminate their contracts with us. 

In addition, our continued business relationship with our customers may be impacted by several factors beyond 
our control, including changes in customer purchasing and inventory management practices, more attractive product 
offerings from our competitors, pricing and inflationary pressures, Resellers’ and program managers’ ability to retain 
existing or gain new customers, the financial health of our customers and macroeconomic conditions affecting the 
payment card industry or our customers. Our business practices may also be subject to periodic audits by customers as 
part of their third-party risk management programs, the outcome of which may result in customer loss or cause us to 
incur significant costs to satisfy customer requirements. Because our contractual arrangements with customers generally 
do not include exclusivity clauses or commitments to order specified quantities of products on a medium or long-term 
basis, there is no guarantee that we will receive orders on a consistent basis or on favorable terms, or be able to renew 
contracts or purchase orders in a given year on favorable terms or at all. Additionally, as a result of labor shortages and 
supply-chain constraints, the Company has in the past experienced, and may in the future experience, extended 
production lead times which may result in difficulty meeting some customers’ delivery expectations. While we continue 
to proactively monitor, assess and take steps to minimize disruptions and delays in production, these disruptions and 
delays have caused, and may continue to cause, the Company to lose or delay customer opportunities. 

If we experience difficulty attracting and retaining customers, particularly our key customers, our business, 
financial condition and results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.  

We face competition that may result in a loss of our market share and/or a decline in our profitability. 

Our marketplace is highly competitive, relatively saturated and increasingly consolidated. We expect these 
market dynamics to continue for new product innovations, and as competitors develop lower-cost production, 
competitors consolidate and other competitors attempt to enter the markets in which we operate.  

Some of our competitors have larger global customer bases and significantly greater financial, sales and 
marketing, production, distribution, technical and other capabilities than we do. These competitors may be able to adapt 
more quickly to new technological requirements and changes in customer and/or regulatory requirements to lower 
production costs and prices, and utilize their global footprint to win customers with card needs in multiple markets and 
by producing cards in lower cost geographies. In addition, some competitors are non-public companies and are not 
subject to the public company requirements and related expenses that we are. We also face competition from newly 
established competitors, suppliers of products and customers who develop their own products and services. 

Existing or new competitors may develop products, technologies or services that more effectively address our 
markets with enhanced features and functionality, greater levels of integration and/or lower cost. As the technological 
sophistication of our competitors and the size of the market increases, competing low-cost producers could emerge and 
grow stronger. These dynamics could result in declining average selling prices and reduced gross margins in our 
businesses. If we cannot sufficiently reduce our production costs or develop new products, technologies or services, we 
may not be able to compete successfully, and we may lose or fail to maintain market share, which could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Our future success depends upon our ability to develop, introduce and commercialize new products and services 
which can be a lengthy and complex process. New and developing technology solutions and products could make our 
existing technology solutions and products obsolete or irrelevant. We may be unable to commercialize new or 
improved products and services we may develop on a timely basis or at all. 

Our ability to enhance our current products and services and to develop and introduce innovative products and 
services that address the increasingly sophisticated needs of our customers will significantly affect our future 
success. We may not be successful in developing, gaining market acceptance of, marketing or selling new or enhanced 
products and services that meet these changing demands in a timely manner or at all. Our failure to do so would likely 
have a material adverse effect on our ability to retain existing customers or attract new ones.  

Our ability to develop and deliver new products and services successfully will depend on various factors, 
including our ability to: 

• effectively identify and capitalize upon opportunities in new and emerging product markets; 
• invest resources in innovation and research and development; 
• complete and introduce new products and integrated services solutions in a timely manner; 
• license any required third-party technology or intellectual property rights; 
• qualify for and obtain required industry compliance for our products; 
• effectively manage the supply chain and related risks; 
• comply with applicable data protection regulations;  
• execute on our strategy to diversify our products by adding adjacent product and service offerings, including 

digital solutions; and 
• retain and hire personnel experienced in developing new products and services. 

 
The research and development of new or enhanced products and services is a complex, time-consuming, costly 

and uncertain process requiring the accurate anticipation of technological, market and industry trends, as well as precise 
technical execution, and all such challenges could adversely affect our ability to meet customer demand for new or 
enhanced products. We have limited research and development resources compared to many of our competitors, which 
may result in an immature product development process and lengthy product roll-outs, and competitors may be able to 
develop and commercialize competing products more quickly and efficiently. Artificial intelligence and machine 
learning technologies have rapidly developed and if we cannot successfully integrate these technologies into our internal 
business processes and product and service offerings in a timely, cost-effective, compliant and responsible manner, we 
may be at a competitive disadvantage. New or enhanced product and service offerings may also expose us to additional 
risks, such as new sources of supplies, increased regulation or reputational harm. If we have difficulty producing 
innovative products, there could be a material adverse effect on our revenue, results of operations, reputation and 
business.  

Additionally, opportunities to combine or package products and service offerings and the ability to cross-sell 
products and services or expand into new customer verticals or markets are critical to remaining competitive in our 
industry. As a result, part of our business strategy is to develop new products and services, including digital solutions, 
that may be used in conjunction with or in addition to our existing offerings. If we are unable to identify adequate 
opportunities to cross-sell our products and services or successfully leverage our offerings to new customer verticals or 
markets, this may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Further, the markets for our products and services are subject to technological changes, frequent introductions 
of new products and services, evolving industry standards and changing customer preferences and demands, and our 
product and service offerings could be rendered obsolete. In particular, the rise in the adoption in digital payment 
systems or mobile payments may make physical cards less attractive as a method of payment. Certain merchants are also 
increasingly offering “buy now pay later” installment programs directly to consumers which may eliminate the use of a 
payment card to complete a transaction. Mobile payments, biometric payments and direct installment payment programs 
allow consumers to make purchases without the need to carry a physical card and could, if widely adopted, reduce the 
number of debit and credit cards issued to consumers. In addition, other new and developing technology solutions and 
products, including artificial intelligence and machine learning capabilities, could make our existing technology 
solutions and products obsolete or irrelevant. Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations.  
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System security risks, data protection breaches, and cyber-attacks could compromise our proprietary information, 
impair customer and vendor relationships, disrupt our internal operations, harm perception of our products and 
expose us to litigation and/or regulatory penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and 
our reputation. 

The reliability and security of our information technology (“IT”) infrastructure and our ability to protect 
sensitive and confidential information for our customers, which include many financial institutions, is critical to our 
business. We have been and may continue to be a target of cyber-attacks or cyber intrusions via the Internet, computer 
viruses, break-ins, malware, phishing attacks, ransomware attacks, hacking, denial-of-service attacks or other attacks and 
similar disruptions from unauthorized use of or access to computer systems (including from internal and external 
sources). In addition, increased attention on and use of artificial intelligence increases the risk of cyber-attacks and data 
breaches, which can occur more quickly and evolve more rapidly when artificial intelligence is used. A breach of our 
security defenses could result in a loss of our intellectual property, the release of sensitive cardholder information and 
customer, consumer or employee personal data, or the loss of production capabilities at one or more of our production 
facilities. Further, use of artificial intelligence by our employees, whether authorized or unauthorized, increases the risk 
that our intellectual property and other proprietary information will be unintentionally disclosed. We may also be at risk 
from cyber-attacks on third parties with whom we do business to the extent their compromised systems interact with our 
systems or employees. For example, our employees, contractors, customers or other users of our systems are from 
time- to-time subject to fraudulent inducements by parties attempting to gain access to our data. We have no control over 
the level of response offered by any third party whose systems have been impacted by a cyber-security breach and to the 
extent we are also impacted by interacting with compromised systems or bad actors, we could also experience system 
disruptions, financial loss, fines or penalties and potential damage to our reputation. In recent years these types of 
incidents have become more prevalent and pervasive across industries, including in our industry. 

In addition, our encryption systems are at risk of being breached or decoded. We use encryption technology to 
protect sensitive data while in transit and at rest. Also, smart cards are equipped with keys that encrypt and decode 
messages to secure transactions and maintain the confidentiality of data. The security afforded by this technology 
depends on the integrity of the encryption keys and the complexity of the algorithms used to encrypt and decode 
information. Any significant advances in technology that enable the breach of cryptographic systems, malicious software 
infiltration or that allow for the exploitation of weaknesses in such systems could result in a decline in the security we 
are able to provide through this technology. Any material breach of our secured systems could harm our competitive 
position, result in a loss of customer trust and confidence, and cause us to incur significant costs to remedy the damages 
caused by system or network disruptions, which could ultimately have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

The protective measures we have implemented may not prevent system or network disruptions and may be 
insufficient to prevent or limit the damage from any future security breaches. Our activities and investment in protective 
measures may not be deployed sufficiently quickly or successfully to protect our system or network against disruptions 
and may not prevent or limit the damage from any future security breaches. In addition, as these threats continue to 
evolve, we may be required to invest significant additional resources to modify and enhance our information security 
and controls or to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities. 

A disruption or other failure in our supply chain could adversely affect our business and financial results. 

We are subject to the risks inherent in production and distribution activities, including product quality control 
issues, disruptions or delays in our supply chain and other external factors over which we have no control. Raw materials 
used in our products may be sourced from a few key suppliers or a single key supplier. Specifically, certain key 
components for our payment card products include microchips, substrates (such as PVC), resin, modules, antennas and 
inlays, which we source from multiple suppliers located in various countries, primarily on a purchase order basis. For the 
year ended December 31, 2024 approximately 95% of the total value of our purchased microchips and antennas came 
from three main suppliers, and approximately 78% came from one supplier, including most of our contactless chips. We 
may enter into supplier agreements from time to time which commit us to purchase products at prices less favorable than 
those available in the market at the time of the order, or in quantities greater than our future needs. If such supplier is 
unable or delayed in fulfilling our microchip orders, we could fail to timely fulfill customer orders, which could damage 
our reputation and result in a loss of customers and customer opportunities and material harm to our financial results. 
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Additionally, our Second Wave cards featuring a core made with ROBP, rely on a largely international supply 
chain to provide such plastic in accordance with our parameters. It is difficult and costly to monitor supplier compliance 
with our parameters, our codes of conduct, and applicable laws. Any failure by our suppliers to so comply could 
adversely affect our ability to produce payment cards at all or in a manner consistent with standards agreed upon with 
our customers, which could adversely affect our business, reputation and customer relationships. Moreover, in certain 
cases, such as with ROBP, microchip and resin suppliers, we may rely on suppliers for which there are not adequate and 
immediate replacements. If these suppliers terminate their relationships with us, fail to timely deliver required products 
or materials or at all, or otherwise fail to meet their obligations to us, we may be unable or delayed in our ability to 
produce products using components from these suppliers. We generally do not maintain large volumes of certain types 
of inventory, which makes us even more susceptible to harm if a supplier fails to deliver products or materials as 
required.  

Changes in the financial or business condition of our suppliers, political instability, social or civil unrest, war or 
adverse market conditions in a supplier’s country, including any new global health emergency, demand from other 
customers of such suppliers or failure to comply with our codes of conduct or other contractual requirements, could 
render our suppliers unable to provide us with, or render us unable or unwilling to accept, the components we need and 
thus subject us to losses or adversely affect our ability to bring products to market. Further, the failure of our suppliers to 
deliver goods and services in sufficient quantities, in compliance with applicable standards, contract requirements, or 
laws and regulations, and in a timely manner could adversely affect our customer service levels, our reputation and our 
overall business. For example, during the COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced delays in the supply of, and increased 
costs of, materials necessary to operate our business, which made it difficult to produce our products in a timely manner. 
In addition, any increases in the costs of goods and services for our business, including because of inflationary pressures 
or tariffs, may adversely affect our profit margins if we are unable to pass along any higher costs in the form of price 
increases or otherwise achieve operational cost efficiencies. If a supplier engages in illegal, unethical or other 
questionable conduct, we may not have visibility into these practices, we may in certain circumstances be deemed to 
have concurrent responsibility with our supplier for such conduct, and we, and our customers, may face legal or 
reputational harm in addition to interruptions to our supply chain. 

Interruptions in our operations, particularly in our IT systems, could have a material adverse effect on our business 
and reputation. 

Our business is dependent upon our ability to execute, in an efficient and uninterrupted fashion, necessary 
business functions, including the operation of complex IT systems and production equipment. In addition, a significant 
portion of the communication between our employees, customers and suppliers depends on our IT systems. The 
reliability of our IT infrastructure and software, and our ability to expand and continually update technologies in 
response to our changing needs, are critical to our business.  

To serve our customers and operate certain aspects of our business, we depend on data centers and computing 
infrastructure that is both our own and provided by third party vendors. To the extent applications and data used in our 
business are hosted by third party vendors at their facilities, we do not control the operation of such facilities or in some 
cases the hardware and infrastructure within them. Any disruption of, interference with, or inability to keep up with our 
capacity needs by our third-party data centers or hosted infrastructure partners could interrupt our business operations. In 
addition, any problems faced by our third-party data center operations or hosted infrastructure partners with their or our 
telecommunications network providers, or with the systems by which our telecommunications providers allocate 
capacity among their customers, including us, could adversely affect the experience of our customers. Our ability to 
serve our customers also largely depends on the efficient and uninterrupted operation of our own computer information 
systems and complex production equipment, much of which relies on computer operating systems, residing at our leased 
facilities. The proper functioning of such systems can be adversely affected by the increasing age and usage of such 
systems, among other things. Any interruption in our business applications, systems or networks, including due to new 
system implementations, server downtime, failure to upgrade or patch software, facility issues, natural disasters or 
energy disruptions, could have a material adverse impact on our operations, sales and operating results. Additionally, we 
have a limited number of employees with the expertise required to operate such internal applications, systems and 
networks as well as remediate them in the event of a failure, and thus the attrition of such employees could result in our 
inability to quickly and effectively resolve future IT issues. 

We could suffer damage to our brand and reputation in the event of a system outage or data loss or interruption 
and also be liable to third parties, including our customers. Some of our contractual agreements require the payment of 
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penalties if our systems do not meet certain operating standards, and failure to operate in accordance with the standards 
of one or more of the Payment Card Brands could result in a loss of compliance of our facilities, any of which could 
have a material adverse effect on our business.  

In addition, to successfully operate our business, we must be able to protect our processing and other systems 
from interruption, including from events that may be beyond our control. Protective measures we have established for 
continuation of core business operations in the event of a catastrophic event may be insufficient to prevent or limit the 
damage from any future disruptions, and any such disruption could have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

We may experience software defects, which could harm our business and reputation and expose us to potential 
liability. 

The sophisticated software and computing systems underlying our services may contain undetected errors or 
defects when first introduced or when new versions are released. In addition, we may experience difficulties in installing 
or integrating our technology on systems used by our customers. Defects in our software, errors or delays in the 
processing of digital transactions or other difficulties could result in the interruption of business operations, delays in 
market acceptance, additional development and remediation costs, diversion of technical and other resources, loss of 
customers, negative publicity or exposure to liability claims, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Disruptions in production at one or more of our facilities may have a material adverse impact on our business, results 
of operations and/or financial condition. 

Any serious disruption at any of our facilities, including as a result of public health emergencies, severe weather 
conditions, climate change, natural disasters, hostilities, political instability, social unrest, network outages, terrorist 
activities, or our inability to successfully relocate our Fort Wayne, Indiana operations to a new location as anticipated 
could impair our ability to use our facilities and have a material adverse impact on our revenues and increase our 
costs. In the event of a disruption at one of our facilities, our other facilities may not have sufficient capacity or 
necessary specialized equipment, may have higher production costs, may take significant time to increase production or 
may fail to meet our customers’ requirements, any of which could negatively impact our business, results of operations 
and financial condition. Production disruptions may cause our customers to seek alternative supply, which could further 
adversely affect our profitability. 

Significant specialized production capacity is also concentrated in single-site locations and therefore if a facility 
experiences disruption, it may not be possible to find replacement capacity quickly or substitute production from our 
other facilities. Accordingly, disruption at a single-site production operation could significantly impact our ability to 
supply our customers and could have a severe impact on us. 

Additionally, all of our production facilities are currently leased, and we are subject to risks associated with our 
current and future real estate leases. As each lease expires, we may fail to negotiate renewals, either on commercially 
acceptable terms or at all, we may be unable to find replacement locations with adequate capacity for our unique 
equipment and both current and future operational needs, and we may experience disruption or significant cost in 
relocating, any of which could have an adverse effect on our operations, customer relationships and financial 
performance. Moreover, we are working to relocate the operations at our Fort Wayne, Indiana facility to a new location. 
We may not be able to successfully relocate our operations in a timely manner or do so without experiencing business 
interruption. Our other production facilities may not have the ability to support the production needs serviced by this 
facility, and we do not have contractual arrangements with any other manufacturers in the event this facility ceases to be 
available to us for any reason. Also, a substantial investment in improvements and equipment is necessary to facilitate 
the relocation. These costs may exceed our expectations or we may face delays for the relocation of the facility, which 
could have an adverse effect on our operations, customer relationships and financial performance. 
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Our business could suffer from problems in production quality, materials and process, which could reduce, delay or 
interrupt production of our products, resulting in adverse impacts to our business and financial results. 

Our production processes are highly complex, require complex and costly equipment and must continually be 
modified to improve yields and performance. We may experience production difficulties due to machinery or technology 
failures, human or other errors, or because of external factors beyond our control, such as delay of, or quality issues with, 
materials provided by suppliers, interruption of our electrical service or a natural disaster, any of which can reduce 
product yields or quality, or interrupt production. We may not have adequate and timely replacements for failing or 
malfunctioning machinery available. Additionally, we have experienced malfunctions and errors, including human error, 
relating to the operation of certain production machinery and systems that, in some instances, have resulted in the 
delivery to our customers of products that did not meet their standards or specifications or failed to function in the 
marketplace. Such problems have resulted, and may in the future result, in our inability to properly fulfill customer 
orders and/or our obligation or election to replace products at our cost and expense, provide credit to or reimburse 
customers for related damages. We may also be subject to claims relating to such issues. 

As the complexity of both our products and our technological processes has become more advanced, production 
tolerances have been reduced and requirements for precision have become more demanding. If we do not advance our 
production processes at the market rate, we may experience lower production quality than the market standard. We may 
also risk non-compliance with certain industry standards if we experience failure of certain required operations or 
processes, such as those related to facility security, which may impede our ability to deliver products to our 
customers. The occurrence of any of these risks could damage our reputation and result in the loss of business, which 
could have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Costs relating to product defects, and any related product liability and warranty claims may materially adversely 
affect our business. 

We offer highly complex services and products and, accordingly, from time to time, defects have 
occurred. Such defects can give rise to significant costs, including relating to recalling products, replacing defective 
items, writing down defective inventory, the loss of potential sales and claims by third parties, and our reputation could 
suffer. In addition, the occurrence of such defects may give rise to product liability and warranty claims, including 
liability for damages. We may also incur liability for damages claims from customers in excess of the amounts they pay 
us for our products, including consequential damages. In addition, our customers may recall their products if they are 
defective or make compensatory payments in accordance with industry or business practice or to maintain good 
customer relationships. If such a recall or payment is caused by a defect in one of our products, our customers may seek 
to recover all or a portion of their losses from us. If any of these risks materialize, there could be a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

The failure to effectively recruit, retain and develop qualified personnel and implement effective succession processes 
could adversely affect our success and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 
 

Our business functions are complex and require wide-ranging expertise and intellectual capital. If we fail to 
recruit, retain and develop personnel who can provide the needed expertise across the entire spectrum of our operating 
and intellectual capital needs, including due to leadership changes, then the ability of our business to successfully 
compete and grow may be adversely affected. The market for qualified personnel is highly competitive and we have 
previously experienced labor availability issues in several of our facilities. This shortage of labor has resulted, and may 
in the future result, in increased compensation and recruiting expenses which could have a material adverse effect on our 
profitability, particularly if we are unable to pass all such expenses on to our customers or are limited in our ability to 
find suitable workers.  

In addition, we rely, in part, on the accumulated knowledge, skills and experience of our key personnel, 
including our executive officers. The loss of the services of any of our key personnel could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations because we may not be able to replace them on a 
timely basis or without incurring increased costs, or at all. If our key personnel were to leave us without adequate 
succession plans in place we may be unable to maintain continuity in key business functions. We may not succeed in 
recruiting sufficient personnel to support our production needs or may fail to effectively replace current personnel who 
depart with qualified or effective successors. Personnel shortages have resulted, and may in the future result, in extended 
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production lead times and difficulty in meeting customers’ delivery expectations, which could result in the loss of 
customers and damage to our reputation and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and 
results of operations. 

The covenants and restrictions contained in agreements governing our indebtedness may adversely affect our 
business and results of operations, may restrict our ability to grow and could make it difficult or impossible to timely 
make our debt service payments or refinance our debt when it comes due. 

We maintain a substantial amount of debt, and we may incur additional debt in the future to help fund our 
business. The agreements governing our indebtedness do not fully prohibit us or our subsidiaries from incurring 
additional indebtedness in the future, and to the extent that we incur additional indebtedness, the risks associated with 
our substantial indebtedness described below, including our possible inability to service our debt, may increase. 

Our substantial indebtedness and interest expense could have important consequences to us, including: 

• limiting our ability to use significant cash flow from operations in other areas of our business, including for 
working capital, research and development, expanding our infrastructure, capital expenditures and other general 
business activities and investment opportunities in our company, because we must dedicate a substantial portion 
of these funds to pay interest, make principal payments and/or otherwise service our debt; 

• impacting our cash flows, results of operations and financial condition when interest rates rise, because the 
interest rate on our revolving credit facility is a floating rate that varies depending on market interest rates and 
issuance or refinancing of other debt in the future may be incurred at higher interest rates than current debt; 

• limiting our ability to retain or attract customers and our ability to attract or retain qualified employees due to 
our significant amount of debt and the related implications of such debt for the Company’s long-term financial 
condition; 

• limiting our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures, debt 
service requirements, acquisitions and the execution of our strategy, and other expenses or investments planned 
by us; 

• limiting our flexibility and our ability to capitalize on business opportunities and to react to competitive 
pressures and adverse changes in government regulation, our business and our industry; 

• limiting our ability to timely make our debt service payments or to satisfy our other obligations under our 
indebtedness (which could result in an event of default and acceleration if we fail to comply with the 
requirements of our indebtedness); 

• limiting our ability, or increasing the costs, to refinance indebtedness prior to maturity dates; 
• increasing our vulnerability to a downturn in our business and to adverse economic and industry conditions 

generally; and 
• placing us at a competitive disadvantage as compared to our competitors that are less leveraged. 

Additionally, the terms of the agreements governing our indebtedness restrict, and any additional indebtedness 
we may incur in the future could similarly restrict, our ability to operate our business and to pursue our business 
strategies. Among other things, these agreements restrict our ability to do the following (in each case, subject to a 
number of important exceptions and qualifications as set forth in the respective agreements): 

• incur additional indebtedness; 
• create liens or use assets as security in other transactions; 
• enter into certain asset sale transactions or other dispositions of assets; 
• declare or pay dividends, repurchase or redeem stock, or make other distributions to stockholders; 
• make investments in other businesses or joint ventures; 
• merge or consolidate, or sell, transfer, lease or dispose of substantially all of our assets; and 
• enter into transactions with affiliates. 

 
We may not be able to refinance our existing long-term debt if necessary, or we may only be able to do so at a higher 
interest rate or on other less favorable terms. 
 

In 2024, we refinanced our existing indebtedness that was due to mature in March 2026, and extended our 
maturity dates for both our long-term debt and senior secured revolving credit facility to July 2029. We may be unable to  
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refinance or renew our existing long-term debt and our failure to repay all amounts due on the maturity date would cause 
a default under the long-term debt and our credit facility. Amounts borrowed and outstanding under our long-term debt 
agreement and credit facility are required to be repaid in full, together with any accrued and unpaid interest, no later than 
July 15, 2029 (and may be subject to earlier mandatory prepayment upon certain events). Alternatively, any renewal or 
refinancing may occur on less favorable terms for both the long-term debt and credit facility. If we refinance on terms 
less favorable to us than the current terms, our interest expense may increase significantly, which could impact our 
results of operations and impair our ability to use our funds for other purposes. 
 
We may not be able to successfully execute our acquisition strategy or integrate acquisitions successfully, or 
successfully enter into, maintain and leverage business relationships, which could adversely affect our financial 
condition and results of operations. 

We have sought and intend to continue to seek acquisition opportunities and business relationships to 
potentially expand into new markets and to enhance our position in existing markets. We may not be able to successfully 
identify suitable acquisition or relationship opportunities, prevail against competing potential acquirers or business 
partners, negotiate appropriate acquisition terms, obtain financing that may be needed, extend our product or service 
offerings into areas in which we have limited experience, enter into new geographic markets, complete proposed 
acquisitions or successfully integrate acquired businesses into our existing operations. Regularly considering strategic 
acquisitions or relationships can also divert management’s attention from other business concerns and lead to significant 
negotiation, due diligence and other expenses, regardless of whether we pursue or consummate any transaction or 
arrangement. Even if an acquisition or business partnership is successfully integrated, it could result in unforeseen 
liabilities, cause us to lose key employees or other business relationships or may not otherwise perform as planned. If 
any of these or other factors limit our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of a transaction or relationship, or if we 
encounter other unexpected costs and liabilities in connection with the foregoing, our business, financial condition and 
results of operations could be materially and adversely affected. 

We may not be able to sell, exit or reconfigure businesses or facilities that we determine no longer are aligned with 
our strategy or that should be consolidated. 

In executing our strategy, we have consolidated certain of our facilities and divested certain of our businesses. 
We will continue to evaluate such opportunities.  

We may not be able to sell non-strategic businesses on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. In addition, if 
the sale of any non-strategic business cannot be consummated or is not practical, alternative courses of action, including 
relocation of operations or closure, may not be available to us or may be more costly than anticipated. Any such 
consolidation or divestiture could adversely affect our continuing business and expenses, revenues, results of operations, 
cash flows and financial position. 

We are considered an accelerated filer and are required to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and our 
inability to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future could result in investors losing 
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and negatively affect the market price of our 
common stock. 
 

As a public company, we are required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and to report any 
material weaknesses in such internal controls. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) requires our 
independent registered public accounting firm to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial 
reporting. The costs associated with compliance with these and future laws and related rules and interpretations could 
have a material impact on our results of operations. 
 

Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. See Item 
9A – Controls and Procedures – Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. We have identified 
material weaknesses and significant deficiencies in our internal controls in the past and we may identify additional 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in the future. If any such control deficiencies occur in the future, we may 
not detect errors on a timely basis, our financial statements may be materially misstated, investors may lose confidence 
in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and we may be unable to timely produce our financial reports. 
Any of the foregoing could negatively affect the market price of our common stock, perhaps significantly. In addition, 
we could become subject to investigations by any stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC or other 
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regulatory authorities, or litigation or disputes with stockholders, which could require additional financial and 
management resources and result in more costly directors’ and officers’ insurance, which could have an adverse impact 
on our business. 

 
Expectations of stakeholders relating to environmental, social and governance matters may impose additional costs 
and expose us to new risks as well as have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations, and cash flows. 

Many investors, regulators, customers, employees and other stakeholders are increasingly focused on corporate 
responsibility and ESG matters. Some investors may use these factors to guide their investment strategies and may 
choose not to invest in the Company if they believe our ESG practices or assessment performance are inadequate, which 
may hinder our access to capital. In addition to the topics typically considered in such assessments, for card production 
companies, issues of emissions and plastic waste are of particular importance. For example, increased attention to 
conservation measures and negative consumer attitudes about plastic products or other components in our products could 
have an adverse impact on demand for our products. 

There have also been changing consumer concerns and perceptions (whether accurate or inaccurate) regarding 
the potentially adverse environmental effects of certain substances and components the Company uses in its products, 
including PVC plastic. Potential consumer concerns may also extend to the sourcing of certain materials and labor and 
other conditions in those locations. Further, our customers may request that changes be made to our products, operations, 
or production processes. We may be unable to produce or procure our products in conformity with these preferences and 
concerns, or doing so may require significant research and development costs, increased costs to procure alternative raw 
materials and components, and additional capital expenditures.  
 

Furthermore, customer, investor and consumer ESG expectations have been varied, rapidly evolving and 
increasing. Specifically, certain customers are beginning to request that the Company provide information on its plans 
relating to certain environmental related matters such as greenhouse gas emissions, waste sent to landfills and energy 
usage. The enhanced stakeholder focus on ESG issues requires the continuous monitoring of various and evolving 
standards, which is time consuming and costly. In addition, if we communicate certain ESG initiatives or goals, we 
could fail, or be perceived to fail, to meet them, or we could be criticized for the scope of such initiatives or goals or our 
approach to meeting those goals. A failure to adequately meet various stakeholder expectations and standards may result 
in reputational damage, the loss of business, diluted market valuation, an inability to attract customers or an inability to 
attract and retain top talent.  

Additionally, future ESG and climate risk reporting requirements may result in additional costs to monitor, 
track and report sustainability measures. The failure to implement ESG strategies, meet our ESG goals or evolving 
stakeholder expectations or standards or comply with any new ESG-related laws, regulations or restrictions could 
adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. 

Damage to our reputation or brand image can adversely affect our business. 

Our reputation forms the foundation of our relationships with key stakeholders and other constituencies, 
including employees, consumers, customers and suppliers, and maintaining a positive reputation globally is critical to 
the successful operation of our business. Negative publicity surrounding us, our activities, our personnel or our business 
partners, consumer perception of our response to political and social issues or catastrophic events, and campaigns by 
activists, whether or not warranted, connecting us, our personnel, our supply chain or our business partners to a failure to 
maintain high ethical, business and environmental, social and governance practices, including with respect to human 
rights, workplace conditions and employee health and safety, whether actual or perceived, could adversely impact our 
reputation and brand image and may decrease demand for our products, thereby adversely affecting our business, results 
of operations, cash flows or financial condition. 

Climate change may adversely affect our operations and financial performance. 

There is continuing concern from the scientific community and the general public that emissions of greenhouse 
gases (“GHG”) and other human activities have caused or will cause significant changes in weather patterns and increase 
the frequency and severity of extreme weather events, including, droughts, wildfires, hurricanes and flooding. Extreme 
weather events have and may continue to adversely affect us because of their impact on the availability and cost of raw 
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materials and components we need to produce our products and that we source from locations in the United States and 
internationally that have experienced and may continue to experience such events. In addition, extreme weather events 
could have an adverse impact on our customers’ demand for our products and services due to impacts on their, or 
general, consumer demand and spending power, and also on our insurance premiums, operating costs and ability to 
timely fulfill customer orders in the event of damage or disruption to one of our facilities. 

We may be unable to adequately protect our trade secrets and intellectual property rights against misappropriation or 
infringement, which may have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Our ability to protect our intellectual property is important to our business. We depend on patents and other 
intellectual property rights to protect our products, proprietary designs and technological processes against 
misappropriation by others. Our existing or future patents may be challenged, invalidated or circumvented. Our patents 
have been and may in the future be challenged as invalid. Furthermore, we may have difficulty obtaining additional 
patents and other intellectual property protections in the future. The patents and intellectual property rights that we 
receive may be insufficient to provide us with meaningful protection or commercial advantage. Moreover, effective 
patent, trademark, service mark, copyright and trade secret protection may not be available in every country in which we 
provide services or sell or license products.  

Our efforts to prevent the misappropriation or infringement of our intellectual property or the intellectual 
property of our customers may not succeed. We actively seek to protect our proprietary rights and trade secrets by 
engaging in litigation and by entering into confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, and strategic 
partners and controlling access to and distribution of our technologies, documentation and other proprietary 
information. Nevertheless, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects of our products or technologies or to obtain 
and use information that we regard as proprietary and may use such information to interfere with our business. Enforcing 
our intellectual property rights has in the past caused and may in the future cause us to incur significant costs. These 
costs and other consequences from the unauthorized use of our intellectual property could have a material adverse effect 
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Companies in our industry aggressively protect their intellectual property rights. Our products often contain 
technology provided to us by other parties such as suppliers or customers, and we compete in an industry that is highly 
active in generating intellectual property. We may have little or no ability to determine in advance whether such 
technology infringes the intellectual property rights of a third party. From time to time, we receive notices or are named 
in litigation that claim we have infringed upon, misappropriated or misused other parties’ proprietary rights or that 
challenge the validity of our patents. In addition to the costs and distraction that result from intellectual property 
litigation and infringement claims, an adverse outcome in these types of disputes could prevent us from offering some of 
our products and services or from enforcing our intellectual property rights. Settlements can involve royalty or other 
payments that could reduce our profit margins and may have a material adverse effect on our financial results. Our 
suppliers, customers and licensors may not be required to fully indemnify us for the costs of defending against 
infringement claims. In addition, we may be required to indemnify some customers and strategic partners related to 
allegations, regardless of merit, that our products infringe on the intellectual property rights of others.  

We also face risks related to open source software. Certain of our software is derived from open source 
software, which is generally made available to the public by its authors and/or other third parties. Open source software 
is often made available under licenses, which impose certain obligations in the event we distribute derivative works of 
the open source software. These obligations may require us to make source code for the derivative works available to the 
public and/or license such derivative works on terms different from those customarily used to protect our intellectual 
property and we may incur additional costs to the extent we use open source software that is subject to licensing. With 
respect to our proprietary software, we generally license such software under terms that prohibit combining it with open 
source software. Despite these restrictions, parties may combine our proprietary software with open source software 
without our authorization, in which case we might nonetheless be required to release the source code of our proprietary 
software. Usage of open source software can lead to greater risks than the use of third party commercial software, as 
open source licensors generally do not provide warranties, controls on the origin or development of the software or 
remedies against the licensors. Many of the risks associated with open source software cannot be eliminated and could 
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

In addition, the rise of artificial intelligence and machine learning technologies may expose us to increasing risk 
with regard to both protecting of our intellectual property and defending against misappropriation claims. Such 
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technologies are imperfect and the use of artificial intelligence or machine learning technologies by us, our customers or 
parties with whom we conduct business, and by unrelated third parties could inadvertently cause us to infringe upon 
other parties’ intellectual property ownership or rights, or could alternatively infringe upon our intellectual property 
rights. As a result, we may be subject to claims we have infringed upon, misappropriated or misused other parties’ 
intellectual property. We may also have to resort to litigation to enforce our intellectual property rights, either of which 
could result in substantial costs and diversion of our resources. 

We rely on licensing arrangements in production and other fields, and actions taken by any of our licensing partners 
could have a material adverse effect on our business. 

Many of our products integrate third-party technologies that we license or otherwise obtain the right to use, 
including software relating to smart card operating systems. As part of our strategy, we have entered into licensing 
agreements with other leading industry participants that provide us with access to technology owned by third parties. For 
example, we license card technology for use in certain of our products, and we rely on our commercial arrangements 
with the licensors of such technology for the continued use of these platforms. These licensors may not continue to 
renew their licenses with us on similar terms or at all, which could negatively impact our net sales. We have also entered 
into cross-licensing agreements with certain of our competitors that provide for an exchange of intellectual property, 
including the sharing of certain patent rights in our respective portfolios, and we continue to do so as we pursue 
additional growth initiatives. If we are unable to enter into new cross-licensing agreements or continue to successfully 
renew existing cross-licensing agreements, we may lose our access to certain technologies that we rely upon to develop 
certain of our products and or be forced to cease or delay certain growth initiatives, which could have a material adverse 
effect on our business. 

Our ability to raise capital in the future may be limited, which could lead to delays in innovation and abandonment of 
our strategic initiatives. 

In the future, we may need to raise additional funds through the issuance of new equity securities, debt or a 
combination of both. The terms of our outstanding indebtedness and the low trading volume and fluctuating trading price 
of our common stock may adversely affect our ability to access capital markets and any such financing may not be 
available on favorable terms, or at all. If adequate funds are not available on acceptable terms, we may be unable to fund 
our capital requirements. We may be unable to access capital due to unfavorable market conditions or other market 
factors outside of our control, and we may not be able to raise additional capital when needed. Any failure to achieve 
adequate funding will delay our products and services innovation and development and could lead to abandonment of 
one or more of our strategic initiatives. Any of these events could materially harm our business, financial condition and 
prospects. 

We may become subject to additional tax collection obligations, claims for uncollected amounts, and assessments 
from unclaimed property audits, new U.S. tax legislation could expose us to additional liabilities and our income tax 
positions or unclaimed property practices may be challenged by relevant authorities, all of which could adversely 
affect our cash flows and financial results. 

Several states have adopted legislation requiring out-of-state sellers to collect and remit sales tax on sales 
transactions into those states where they have no physical presence. States seeking to expand applicability of sales tax 
“nexus” laws could result in additional tax expenses in the event we are unable to pass these expenses along to our 
customers and additional administrative burden to collect and remit sales tax in such jurisdictions.  

In addition, we are subject to U.S. federal and state income taxes. Our tax receivables may not be realized, and 
our tax expense and the tax positions included in our financial statements, which are subject to estimates, could be 
impacted by changes in rules or interpretations of existing tax laws and changes in U.S. federal and state tax legislation 
and tax rates. New legislation may be enacted which could increase income tax rates in jurisdictions where we operate or 
have nexus and materially impact our tax provision, cash tax liability and effective tax rate. Additionally, our income tax 
positions may be challenged by relevant tax authorities and we may not be successful in defending against any such 
challenge, which may adversely affect our future cash flows and financial results. 

We are also subject to unclaimed property (escheat) laws in various states which require us to turn over to 
certain government authorities the property of others held by us that has been unclaimed for a specified period of time. 
We are subject to audit by individual U.S. states with regard to our escheatment practices. Such audits may cause us to 
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incur significant costs related to outside professional fees and divert management’s time away from business operations. 
Additionally, we may be subject to assessments, penalties or fines that could adversely affect our financial results. The 
legislation and regulations related to tax and unclaimed property matters tend to be complex and subject to varying 
interpretations by both government authorities and taxpayers.  

Our long-lived assets represent a significant portion of our total assets, and we may never realize their full value. 

Our long-lived assets recorded as of December 31, 2024 include $68.6 million of plant, equipment, leasehold 
improvements and operating lease right-of-use assets, $10.5 million of net intangible assets, and $47.2 million of 
goodwill. 

We perform goodwill impairment testing on an annual basis as of October 1 of each year. Other long-lived 
assets, such as identifiable intangible assets and plant, equipment and leasehold improvements are reviewed for 
impairment whenever events, changes or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may 
not be recoverable. If we were to conclude that a future write-down of our long-lived assets is necessary, we would have 
to record the appropriate charge, which could result in a material adverse effect on our results of operations. A 
write-down of our long-lived assets may result from, among other things, deterioration in our performance and a decline 
in expected future cash flows and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 

Current and prospective regulations, changes in our product offerings and customer contractual requirements 
addressing consumer privacy and data use and security could increase our costs of operations, which could adversely 
affect our operations, results of operations and financial condition. 

In operating a payment card business, we manage large amounts of personally identifiable information of 
cardholders, including cardholder names, account numbers, healthcare provider names and health savings account 
numbers, and similar information and are thus subject to laws and requirements relating to data privacy and security, 
which continue to evolve and may become increasingly difficult to comply with. For example, the California Consumer 
Privacy Act and the California Privacy Rights Act generally require companies like ours, which process consumer 
personal information on behalf of their customers, to use, retain or disclose consumer personal information solely for 
certain limited purposes, including to provide services to our customers according to the terms of our customer contracts. 
Other states have enacted or amended similar data privacy laws and regulations. Furthermore, to the extent these laws 
apply to our customers, our customers have imposed, and may continue to impose additional, privacy related contractual 
obligations on us, adherence to which may require additional investment in resources and internal processes. 
Additionally, as we continue to innovate our products and services offerings, including potentially leveraging the use of 
artificial intelligence and machine learning capabilities, and expand into new lines of business, and as the number of 
jurisdictions enacting privacy and related laws increases and the scope of these laws and enforcement efforts expand, we 
have and may continue to become subject to additional data privacy and security legal requirements and regulations such 
as HIPAA. The legal, political and business environments in these areas are rapidly changing, and subsequent 
legislation, regulation, litigation, court rulings or other events could expose the Company to increased program costs, 
liability and reputational damage. New products and services we develop may also require that we obtain and retain 
more personally identifiable information for a longer period of time than we have done historically. We have incurred 
significant expenses to meet the obligations of current privacy-related laws and requirements, and we expect to continue 
to incur these as well as additional expenses if we become subject to additional privacy-related laws and regulations, 
which will continue to necessitate us making changes to our internal processes, procedures and systems. Failure to 
comply with existing or future data privacy and security laws, regulations and requirements could result in fines, 
sanctions, penalties, civil lawsuits or other adverse consequences as well as loss of customer and consumer confidence, 
which could materially adversely affect our results of operations, overall business and reputation.  

Our failure to operate our business in accordance with the standards of the PCI Security Standards Council or other 
industry standards applicable to our customers, such as Payment Card Brands compliance standards, could have a 
material adverse effect on our business. 

Many of our customers issue their cards on the networks of the Payment Card Brands that are subject to the 
standards of the PCI Security Standards Council or other standards and criteria relating to service providers’ and 
producers’ facilities, products and physical and logical security which we must satisfy to be eligible to supply products 
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and services to such customers. Most of our contractual arrangements with our customers may be terminated, or 
customers may cease doing business with us, if we fail to comply with these standards and criteria. 

We make significant investments in our high-security facilities to meet these standards and criteria and changes 
in them. Further investments may be costly, and if we are unable to continue to meet these standards and criteria, we 
may become ineligible to provide products and services that have been an important part of our revenue and 
profitability. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the vast majority of our products and services were subject to 
compliance with the standards of one or more of the Payment Card Brands. If we fail to comply with one or more of the 
standards of the Payment Card Brands or of the PCI Security Standards Council for one or more of our facilities, we may 
lose the ability to produce cards for or provide services to banks issuing credit or debit cards on the Payment Card Brand 
networks. Additionally, certain of our facilities operate under variances of certain of these standards. If such variances 
are not granted in the future or if we are required to move or alter a facility in order to maintain compliance, we may 
incur significant costs and delays, or may lose our ability to offer services in that facility, which would be disruptive to 
our business and have an adverse effect on our customer relationships and financial results. If, as a result of 
noncompliance with standards of the PCI Security Standards Council or the Payment Card Brands, we are not able to 
produce cards for or provide services to any or all of the issuers issuing debit or credit cards on such networks, we could 
lose a substantial number of our customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

Delays or interruptions in our ability to source raw materials and components used in our products from foreign 
countries, as well as trade restrictions on goods imported into the United States, could materially harm our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

Most of our microchips, as well as certain other raw materials used in our products, are imported from suppliers 
located outside of the United States. We have experienced and may in the future experience delays and interruptions in 
our ability to obtain materials imported into the United States due to global economic downturns and trade disruptions, 
including related to global health crises. We may also experience such delays and interruptions in our supply chain due 
to political instability, civil unrest or war in countries from which we directly or indirectly source raw materials and 
components used in our products. Additionally, the U.S. government has imposed tariffs on imports from certain 
countries, including countries in which our suppliers are located. The new presidential administration has imposed, and 
may continue imposing, substantial additional new or increased tariffs and/or trade restrictions. The future status of 
certain existing international trade agreements to which the United States is party is also uncertain, and such trade 
agreements could be terminated or replaced.  

Additional tariffs or trade restrictions may lead to increased prices to our customers, which may reduce demand, 
or, if we are unable to achieve increased prices, result in lowering our margin on products sold. Any of these factors 
could depress economic activity, restrict our access to suppliers and have a material adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

 
We cannot predict the extent to which the U.S. or other countries will impose quotas, duties, tariffs, taxes or 

other similar restrictions or related retaliatory responses on the import or export of goods in the future, nor can we 
predict future trade policy or the terms of any renegotiated trade agreements and their impact on our business. The 
adoption and expansion of trade restrictions, the occurrence of a trade war, or other governmental action related to tariffs 
or trade agreements or policies has the potential to adversely impact demand for our products, our costs, our customers, 
our suppliers and the U.S. economy, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

Prolonged military action in foreign conflicts has impacted and may continue to have adverse effects on the global 
economy, and such effects could materially adversely affect our business, operations, operating results and financial 
condition. 

In early 2022, Russian forces launched significant military action against Ukraine, and the region has since 
experienced sustained conflict and disruption, which may continue in 2025 and beyond. Governments in the United 
States, United Kingdom and European Union have each imposed export controls on certain products and financial and 
economic sanctions on certain industry sectors and parties in Russia. Additionally, hostilities in several parts of the 
Middle East are ongoing and could develop to have a more widespread economic and geopolitical effect in the Middle 
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East, Europe or other regions, and could result in economic sanctions between or among countries. The continuation or 
escalation of geopolitical tensions or military action related to the conflict and the imposition of additional economic 
sanctions could continue to adversely affect the global economy and financial markets, disrupt trade and accelerate 
inflationary pressures, among other things, which could negatively affect the demand for our products and further 
intensify problems in the global supply chain. Although we do not have any operations in the affected areas, we believe 
we have experienced shortages in raw materials and increased costs for transportation and energy due in part to the 
negative impact of the foreign military conflicts on the global economy, which impacts may persist or worsen as these 
conflicts continue or escalate. Such conflicts also increase the risk of retaliatory acts impacting U.S. companies, which 
may include disruptions to our or our customers’ or suppliers’ technology infrastructure, including through cyberattack, 
ransom attack or cyber-intrusion. The extent and duration of any military action, sanctions and resulting market and 
economic disruptions are impossible to predict but could be substantial. 
 
Conditions in the banking system and financial markets, including the failure of banks and financial institutions, 
could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect 

financial institutions, transactional counterparties or other companies in the financial services industry or the financial 
services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past 
led and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, in March 2023, the Federal Deposit 
Insurance Corporation took control and was appointed receiver of Silicon Valley Bank and Signature Bank, after each 
bank was unable to continue its operations. These events exposed vulnerabilities in the banking sector, including 
uncertainties, significant volatility and contagion risk, any or all of which could have an adverse effect on our business, 
financial condition and results of operations. 

 
In addition to the market-wide impacts, our reliance on financial institutions and non-traditional financial 

service providers such as fintechs as our primary customers exposes us to additional risk from adverse events affecting 
the industry. Certain financial institutions’ failures, the migration of deposits from smaller financial institutions to larger 
ones due to reduced confidence in or concerns about the stability of smaller financial institutions or non-traditional 
financial service providers, as well as consumers opening fewer new accounts at these institutions, may impact the 
quantity and timing of orders for our products. Additionally, uncertainty in the banking sector, as well as broader 
economic conditions in general, may cause banks and financial institutions to implement precautionary measures such as 
reducing spending on card programs or being more selective about issuing or renewing cards to customers. Any of the 
foregoing events could result in lower demand for our products, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Critical vendors, third-party manufacturers or other third parties on which we rely could also be adversely 

affected by the liquidity and other risks related to bank failures. These could include delayed access to, or the uninsured 
loss of, deposits or other financial assets and difficulty in accessing commercial financing on acceptable terms or at all 
due to tightening credit markets, unfavorable covenant terms and higher interest rates. Any third-party bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or any breach or default by a third party on which we rely, or the loss of any significant supplier 
relationships, could result in material adverse impacts on our business, financial condition and results of operations. 

Environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including climate change regulations, expose us to liability 
and any such liability may have a material adverse effect on our business. 

We are subject to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which we 
operate. Such regulations govern, among other things, emissions of pollutants into the air, wastewater discharges, waste 
disposal, the investigation and remediation of soil and groundwater contamination, and the health and safety of our 
employees. For example, the handling of certain materials and equipment we use in our production processes is subject 
to health and safety and environmental laws and regulations. We are also required to obtain environmental permits from 
governmental authorities for certain of our operations. If we violate or fail to comply with these laws, regulations or 
permits, we could be fined or otherwise sanctioned by regulators. 

As with other companies engaged in similar activities or that own or lease real property, we face inherent risks 
of environmental liability at our current and historical production facilities. Certain environmental laws impose strict 
and, in certain circumstances, joint and several liabilities on current or previous owners or operators of real property for 
the cost of the investigation, removal or remediation of hazardous substances as well as liability for related damages to 
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natural resources. In addition, we may discover new facts or conditions that may change our expectations or be faced 
with changes in environmental laws or their enforcement that would increase our liabilities. Furthermore, our costs of 
complying with current and future environmental and health and safety laws, or our liabilities arising from past or future 
releases of, or exposure to, regulated materials, may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition 
and results of operations. 

The increasing concern over climate change has resulted in a broad range of proposed and promulgated federal, 
state and local regulations aimed at mitigating the effects of climate change. Because we use materials in many of our 
products and engage in production processes that may be the subject of certain of these regulations, if enacted, such 
regulations could result in additional costs and adverse effects on our business in the form of (i) additional taxes, 
(ii) potential fines for noncompliance, (iii) restrictions on output, (iv) additional expenditures to either purchase new, or 
modify existing, equipment or processes, (v) required acquisition or trading of emission allowances and/or (vi) increased 
costs in the price of energy and/or in procuring alternative or additional raw materials from our suppliers. These 
developments and further legislation that may be enacted could negatively affect our operations and increase our 
production costs. Climate change regulation continues to evolve, and while it is not possible to accurately estimate either 
a timetable for implementation or our future compliance costs relating to implementation, such regulation could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial position, capital expenditures and reputation. 

Risks Relating to Ownership of our Common Stock 

Our former controlling stockholders continue to own a significant percentage of our common stock, and such 
stockholders may influence major corporate decisions of the Company and our interests may conflict with the 
interests of other holders of our common stock. 

Tricor Pacific Capital Partners (Fund IV), Limited Partnership and Tricor Pacific Capital Partners (Fund IV) 
US, Limited Partnership (collectively, the “Tricor Funds”), affiliated with Parallel49 Equity (formerly known as Tricor 
Pacific Capital) (“Parallel49”), were formerly our controlling stockholders and own approximately 43% of our common 
stock, in the aggregate, as of December 31, 2024.  

As a result of their ownership, the Tricor Funds, may have the ability to influence the outcome of matters 
submitted to a vote of all stockholders and, through our board of directors, the ability to influence decision-making with 
respect to our business direction and policies. Matters over which the Tricor Funds, directly or indirectly, exercise 
influence include the election of directors, approval of business combinations or dispositions and other extraordinary 
transactions. The Tricor Funds may also have interests that differ from the interests of other holders of our securities and 
may vote in a way that may be adverse to other stockholders’ interests. The concentration of ownership may have the 
effect of delaying, preventing or deterring a change of control of the Company which could materially and adversely 
affect the market price of our securities. 

The concentration of ownership by our significant stockholders and the sale or availability for sale of substantial 
amounts of our common stock may adversely impact the market price and liquidity of our common stock. 

Although our former controlling stockholders, the Tricor Funds, reduced their ownership in our common stock 
from 56% as of September 30, 2024 to 43% as of December 31, 2024, they continue to maintain a significant ownership 
position in the Company. Continued concentrated ownership could result in a limited number of shares being available 
to be traded in the market, resulting in reduced liquidity, and historically the price of our common stock has experienced 
volatility due to the limited number of shares available to trade on the open market. 

Additionally, sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, including sales by our 
significant stockholders, or the perception that these sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of our 
common stock and could materially impair our ability to raise capital through equity offerings in the future. The shares 
of our common stock held by the Tricor Funds are registered for resale, which means that they may be offered and sold 
to the public now or in the future without regard to the volume limitations under Rule 144 of the Securities Act, and the 
Tricor Funds sold a portion of these shares through an underwriter in 2024. If some or all of the remaining shares are 
sold by the Tricor Funds or the participants in their funds, either through sale on the open market, through privately 
negotiated transactions or through a distribution to the participants in their funds, or if it is perceived that they will be 
sold, the market price of our common stock could decline. 
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Conflicts of interest may arise because directors who are principals of or who were nominated by our significant 
stockholders serve on our board of directors. 

Nicholas Peters, who is an officer of Parallel49 (and its predecessor), serves on our board of directors. 
H. Sanford Riley and Lisa Oleson each were nominated to serve on our board of directors by the Tricor Funds, our 
significant stockholders pursuant to the Director Nomination Agreement (defined below). The Tricor Funds are 
controlled by Parallel49 and its affiliates. Parallel49 and entities controlled by it may in the future hold equity interests in 
entities that directly or indirectly compete with us, and companies in which it currently invests may begin directly or 
indirectly competing with us. As a result of these relationships, when conflicts between the interests of Parallel49, on the 
one hand, and of our other stockholders, on the other hand, arise, such directors may not be disinterested. Although our 
directors and officers have a duty of loyalty to the Company under Delaware law and our certificate of incorporation, 
transactions that we enter into in which a director or officer has a conflict of interest are generally permissible so long as 
(1) the material facts relating to the director’s or officer’s relationship or interest as to the transaction are disclosed to our 
board of directors and a majority of our disinterested directors approves the transaction, (2) the material facts relating to 
the director’s or officer’s relationship or interest as to the transaction are disclosed to our stockholders and a majority of 
our disinterested stockholders approve the transaction or (3) the transaction is otherwise fair to us. Our certificate of 
incorporation also provides that any principal, officer, member, manager and/or employee of Parallel49 or any entity that 
controls, is controlled by or under common control with Parallel49 (other than any company that is controlled by us) or 
any investment funds managed by Parallel49 will not be required to offer any transaction opportunity of which such 
person becomes aware to us and could take any such opportunity for himself, herself or itself or offer such opportunity to 
other companies in which such person has an investment, unless such opportunity is offered to such person solely in his, 
her or its capacity as one of our directors. 

Securities analysts may not publish favorable research or reports about our business or may publish no information 
at all, which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline. 

The trading market for our common stock could be influenced to some extent by the research and reports that 
industry or financial analysts publish about the Company and our business. We do not control these analysts. 
Historically, we have not attracted substantial research coverage, and the current or future analysts who publish 
information about our common stock may have relatively little experience with us, which could affect their ability to 
accurately forecast our results and could make it more likely that we fail to meet their estimates. If one or more of these 
analysts provide inaccurate or unfavorable research, issue an adverse opinion regarding our stock price, cease coverage 
of us or fail to publish reports covering us regularly, we could lose visibility in the market, which in turn could cause our 
stock price or trading volume to decline. 

Our business and operations could be negatively affected by stockholder activism and securities litigation. 

Stockholder activism, which could take many forms or arise in a variety of situations, has become increasingly 
prevalent in recent years. Previously, a stockholder in the Company publicly expressed criticism regarding the 
Company’s strategic direction, capital allocation priorities and corporate governance in connection with an attempt to 
nominate a director candidate at our 2023 annual meeting of stockholders. We could also face similar criticism from 
others, as well as criticism for risks associated with Parallel49’s significant ownership interest in the Company and may 
be more prone to stockholder activist demands as Parallel49’s has reduced, and may continue to reduce, its ownership in 
the Company. Additionally, we have in the past been subject to securities litigation following volatility in the price of 
our common stock, and may again be subject to securities litigation, including as a result of the volatility in the price of 
our common stock, related to stockholder activism, or otherwise.  

Stockholder activism, including potential proxy contests and advance stockholder proposals, and securities 
litigation could result in substantial costs and divert management’s and our board of directors’ attention and resources 
from our business. Additionally, stockholder activism or securities litigation could give rise to perceived uncertainties as 
to our future, adversely affect our relationships with customers and make it more difficult to attract and retain qualified 
personnel. These matters could also hinder the execution of our business and growth strategies or constrain our capital 
deployment opportunities. Further, the price of our common stock could be subject to significant fluctuation or otherwise 
be adversely affected. Any adverse determination in litigation could also subject us to significant liabilities.  



32 

Certain provisions of our organizational documents and other contractual provisions may make it difficult for 
stockholders to change the composition of our board of directors and may discourage hostile takeover attempts that 
some of our stockholders may consider to be beneficial. 

Certain provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of 
delaying or preventing changes in control if our board of directors determines that such changes in control are not in the 
best interests of us and our stockholders. The provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and 
bylaws include, among other things, the following: 
 

• the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to determine the price and other terms, 
including preferences and voting rights, of those shares without stockholder approval; 

• stockholder action may only be taken at a special or regular meeting and not by written consent, and special 
meetings may only be called by a majority of the total number of directors that we would have if there were no 
vacancies on our board of directors; 

• advance notice procedures and information and disclosure requirements for nominating candidates to our board 
of directors or presenting matters at stockholder meetings; and 

• allowing only our board of directors to fill vacancies on our board of directors. 
 

We have entered into a director nomination agreement (the “Director Nomination Agreement”) with the Tricor 
Funds that provides the Tricor Funds the right to designate nominees for election to our board of directors for so long as 
the Tricor Funds collectively beneficially own 5% or more of the total number of shares of our common stock then 
outstanding. The number of nominees that the Tricor Funds are entitled to designate under the Director Nomination 
Agreement bears the same proportion to the total number of members of our board of directors as the number of shares 
of common stock beneficially owned by the Tricor Funds bears to the total number of shares of common stock 
outstanding, rounded up to the nearest whole number. In addition, the Tricor Funds are entitled to designate the 
replacement for any of its board designees whose board service terminates prior to the end of such designee’s term 
regardless of the Tricor Funds’ beneficial ownership at such time. The Tricor Funds also have the right to have their 
designees participate on committees of our board of directors, subject to compliance with applicable law and stock 
exchange rules. The Director Nomination Agreement will terminate when the Tricor Funds collectively own less than 
5% of our outstanding common stock. 

We have elected in our certificate of incorporation not to be subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General 
Corporation Law, an anti-takeover law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from 
engaging in a business combination, such as a merger, with a person or group owning 15% or more of the corporation’s 
voting stock for a period of three years following the date the person became an interested stockholder, unless (with 
certain exceptions) the business combination or the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder is 
approved in a prescribed manner. Accordingly, we will not be subject to any anti-takeover effects of 
Section 203. However, our certificate of incorporation contains provisions that have the same effect as Section 203, 
except that they provide that the Tricor Funds, their affiliates (including any investment funds managed by Tricor) and 
any person that becomes an interested stockholder as a result of a transfer of 5% or more of our voting stock by the 
forgoing persons to such person are excluded from the “interested stockholder” definition in our certificate of 
incorporation and are therefore not subject to the restrictions set forth therein that have the same effect as Section 203.  

While these provisions have the effect of encouraging persons seeking to acquire control of the Company to 
negotiate with our board of directors, they could enable the board of directors to hinder or frustrate a transaction that 
some, or a majority, of our stockholders might believe to be in their best interests and, in that case, may prevent or 
discourage attempts to remove and replace incumbent directors. In addition, the potential issuance of preferred stock 
may delay or prevent a change in control of us or discourage bids for our common stock at a premium over the market 
price. It may also adversely affect the market price and the voting and other rights of the holders of our common stock as 
it could be issued with voting, liquidation, dividend and other rights superior to the rights of our common stock. 

In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our 
current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors, which is 
responsible for appointing the members of our management. 
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General Risk Factors 

We are required to comply with complex laws and regulations in the United States and other countries and are 
exposed to business risks associated with our international business. Moreover, changes in such laws could occur at 
any time and could impact us in significantly negative ways that we are unable to predict or protect against. 

We are subject to numerous evolving and complex laws and regulations which apply, among other things, to 
financial reporting standards, corporate governance, data privacy, tax, unclaimed property, trade regulations, 
environmental regulations and permit requirements, export controls, competitive practices, and labor and health and 
safety laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which we operate. Though we currently have limited international 
operations, the expansion thereof in the future may increasingly expose us to risks associated with international business 
operations, including political instability (e.g., the threat of or actual war, terrorist attacks or civil unrest), inconsistent 
regulations across jurisdictions, unanticipated changes in the regulatory environment, and import and export 
restrictions. We may not be in full compliance at all times with the laws and regulations to which we are subject and we 
may not have obtained the permits, authorizations or licenses that we need. Any failure to comply with applicable laws 
or regulations could result in fines or sanctions. In such a case, or if any of these international business risks were to 
materialize, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Our business and financial results may be materially adversely affected by various legal and regulatory proceedings. 

We are subject to legal proceedings, lawsuits and other claims in the normal course of business and could 
become subject to additional claims in the future, some of which could be material. A future adverse ruling, settlement 
or unfavorable development could result in charges that could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating 
results or financial condition. In addition, litigation can be costly, and the expenses and damages arising from any 
liability could harm our business. Furthermore, our insurance may not be adequate to cover claims against us or any 
liability that may be imposed on us. 

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 
 

None. 
 
Item 1C. Cybersecurity 
 

Cyber threat actors and the types of threats posed are becoming more sophisticated and effective and are 
increasingly targeting commercial companies. In seeking to mitigate these cyber threats to our business, we take a 
comprehensive approach to cybersecurity risk management and make securing the data, customers and other 
stakeholders entrusted to us, a top priority. The board of directors and our management are actively involved in the 
oversight of our risk management program, which includes cybersecurity. We have established policies, standards, 
processes and practices for assessing, identifying and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats. There may be 
instances where our policies and procedures are not properly followed or where such policies and procedures prove to be 
ineffective. As of the date hereof, we are not aware of any material risk from cybersecurity threats that has materially 
affected the Company, including our business strategy, results of operations or financial condition. We can provide no 
assurance that there will not be incidents in the future or that such incidents will not materially affect us, including our 
business strategy, results of operations, or financial condition. For more information regarding risks related to system 
security risks, data protection breaches and cyber-attacks, see the risk factor entitled “System security risks, data 
protection breaches, and cyber-attacks could compromise our proprietary information, impair customer and vendor 
relationships, disrupt our internal operations, harm perception of our products and expose us to litigation and/or 
regulatory penalties, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and our reputation” included as part of 
our risk factor disclosures at Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Risk Management and Strategy  

Our policies and processes for assessing, identifying and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats are 
integrated into our overall risk management program and are based on the frameworks established by the National 
Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST”) and other applicable industry standards. Our cybersecurity program in 
particular focuses on the following key areas: 
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Collaboration 

We work to identify and address our cybersecurity risks through a comprehensive, cross-functional approach. 
Key security, risk and compliance stakeholders meet regularly to develop strategies for preserving the confidentiality, 
integrity and availability of Company and customer information, identifying, preventing and mitigating cybersecurity 
threats and effectively responding to cybersecurity incidents. We maintain controls and procedures that are designed to 
encourage prompt escalation of certain cybersecurity incidents so that decisions regarding customer and supplier 
disclosure, public disclosure and reporting of such incidents can be made by management and the board of directors in a 
timely manner. 

Risk Assessment 

Annually, the Security Committee (defined below) conducts a cybersecurity risk assessment that takes into 
account information from internal stakeholders, known information security vulnerabilities and information from 
external sources (e.g., reported security incidents that have impacted other companies, industry trends and evaluations by 
third parties and consultants). The results of the assessment are used to drive alignment on, and prioritization of, 
initiatives to enhance our security controls, make recommendations to improve processes and inform a broader 
enterprise-level risk assessment that is analyzed by the Security Committee and presented to the board of directors, 
Audit Committee and members of management. 

Technical Safeguards 

The Company’s cybersecurity program evaluates new threats to learn new attacker techniques, adopt defenses 
and implement new safeguards to protect our information systems from cybersecurity threats. These safeguards are 
evaluated and improved based on vulnerability assessments, cybersecurity threat intelligence and incident response 
experience. Independent assessments of the safeguards by external third-party consultants, which also include the 
detection of threats, are evaluated and improvements to systems are incorporated. 

Incident Response and Recovery Planning 

In an effort to effectively respond to a security event, we follow a comprehensive cybersecurity incident 
response plan. We regularly review, test and evaluate the plan for effectiveness. 

Third-Party Risk Management 

We have implemented controls designed to identify and mitigate cybersecurity threats associated with our use 
of third-party service providers. Such providers are subject to security risk assessments at the time of onboarding, 
contract renewal and upon detection of an increase in risk profile. We use a variety of inputs in such risk assessments, 
including information supplied by providers and third parties. In addition, we require our providers to meet appropriate 
security requirements, controls and responsibilities and investigate security incidents that have impacted our third-party 
providers, as appropriate. 

Education and Awareness 

Our Company policies require our employees to assist in the protection of our customers’ data. We have 
various training programs, conducted frequently, designed to heighten employees' awareness of current threats, educate 
them on effective mitigation strategies and reinforce the importance of handling and safeguarding customer and 
employee data in accordance with our established security protocols. To evaluate the effectiveness of these training 
programs and monitor the effectiveness of our security controls, we have implemented mock testing practices. Annual 
incident response training is conducted for administrative personnel that would be expected to be involved with, and 
respond to, a security incident. 

External Assessments 

Our cybersecurity policies, standards, processes and practices are regularly assessed by consultants and external 
auditors. These assessments include a variety of activities including information security maturity assessments, audits 
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and independent reviews of our information security control environment and operating effectiveness. We conduct 
regular independent cyber audits to assess our controls and alignment against the NIST Cybersecurity Framework, 
compromise assessments to baseline and assess if a current or past compromise had occurred within our infrastructure, 
and maintain industry certifications and attestations that demonstrate our dedication to protecting customer data. The 
results of significant assessments are reported to management, the board of directors and Audit Committee. 
Cybersecurity processes are adjusted based on the information provided from these assessments. 

Governance 

Board Oversight 

The board of directors, in coordination with the Audit Committee, oversees our management of cybersecurity 
risk. They receive regular reports from management about the prevention, detection, mitigation and remediation of 
cybersecurity incidents, including material security risks and information security vulnerabilities. Our Audit Committee, 
as part of its risk oversight function, is responsible for overseeing our cybersecurity program. The Audit Committee 
receives regular updates from management on cybersecurity risk resulting from risk assessments, progress of risk 
reduction initiatives, external auditor feedback, control maturity assessments and relevant internal and industry 
cybersecurity incidents. 

Management’s Role 

Our Chief Information Security Officer (“CISO”), Chief Information Officer (“CIO”), Chief Technology 
Officer (“CTO”), Chief Legal and Compliance Officer (“CLCO”) and Director of Information and Cybersecurity (“DC”) 
have primary responsibility for assessing and managing material cybersecurity risks and are members of an internal 
committee that reviews issues and initiatives related to data security and privacy (the “Security Committee”), which 
drives alignment on security decisions across the Company. The CISO has over 20 years of experience in various roles 
related to information security and related technology, including roles specific to managing security requirements related 
to organizations operating in the payment card industry. The CIO, CTO and DC also each have over 20 years of 
experience serving in various roles in information technology fields; the CIO has over 25 years of global technology 
leadership across fintech, software, and payments industries, leading technology, product, and engineering organizations 
for multinational companies, with extensive experience in implementing software solutions and managing risk across the 
entire technology lifecycle. The CTO has been with the Company since 2014 and the DC previously served as the Chief 
Information Security Officer at an IT services and consulting company. The CLCO has over 20 years of experience 
managing risks and related disclosure requirements, including risks arising from cybersecurity threats, at publicly traded 
companies. The Security Committee meets at least quarterly to evaluate security performance metrics, prioritize risks 
identified through threat intelligence, vulnerability and risk assessments, external audits, and incident response insights, 
and review the progress of approved security enhancements. The Security Committee also considers and makes 
recommendations to the Audit Committee on security policies and procedures, security service requirements and risk 
mitigation strategies. 

Item 2. Properties 
 
Information regarding each of our facilities, which may include multiple leases at each location, is set forth 

below. 
 
       

Location      Operations      
Square 
Footage      

Owned/ 
Leased 

Littleton, Colorado . . . . . .    Debit and Credit card production, corporate facility    65,000   Leased 
Roseville, Minnesota . . . . .  

  
Debit and Credit card production and personalization services; 
and Prepaid Debit card packaging services, fulfillment 

   227,000   Leased 

Fort Wayne, Indiana (1) . . .    Debit and Credit card production    45,000   Leased 
Nashville, Tennessee . . . . .  

  
Debit and Credit card personalization services, instant 
issuance, fulfillment 

   65,000   Leased 

 
(1) In 2025, we intend to relocate our current Indiana operations to a new build-to-suit leased facility. This new facility will be located in Fort 

Wayne, Indiana and will be approximately 80,000 square feet.   
 



36 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 

The Company may be subject to routine legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. The Company 
believes that the ultimate resolution of any such matters will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial 
condition or results of operations. 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 
 

Not applicable.  
 

PART II 

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities 

Market  

Our common stock trades on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “PMTS”.  

Holders 

There were 19 stockholders of record as of February 27, 2025. This figure does not include an estimate of the 
indeterminate number of beneficial holders whose shares may be held of record by brokerage firms and clearing 
agencies. 

Dividends 

We do not currently expect that any cash or other dividends will be paid to holders of our common stock in the 
near future. Any future cash dividend or other dividend declarations are subject to the determination of the Company’s 
board of directors.  

Repurchases 

On November 2, 2023, the Company's board of directors approved a share repurchase plan authorizing the 
Company to repurchase up to $20.0 million of the Company's common stock, par value $0.001 per share. This 
authorization expired on December 31, 2024 with a remaining unused authorized amount of $11.2 million.  

 
In connection with the share repurchase plan, the Company entered into stock repurchase agreements with 

Parallel49, which was one of the Company’s majority stockholders. The Company agreed to purchase from Parallel49, 
and Parallel49 agreed to sell to the Company, three times the number of shares of the Company’s common stock 
acquired by the Company in the open market from time to time from non-Parallel49 holders up to a maximum of 
650,000 shares in total. Pursuant to these agreements, the Company repurchased 364,848 shares from Parallel49 at an 
average price of $18.09 per share during the year ended December 31, 2024. The agreements with Parallel49 expired on 
June 30, 2024.  
 

The following table sets forth share repurchases activity for each of the three months of the quarter ended 
December 31, 2024: 
 
             

Period      
Total Number of  
Shares Purchased      

Average Price  
Paid per Share      

Total Number of Shares 
Purchased as Part of 
Publicly Announced 
Plans or Programs      

Approximate Dollar  
 Value of Shares that  

 May Yet Be Purchased  
 Under the Plans or  

Programs (in thousands) 
October 1 - 31 . . . .     — $  —   — $  11,154 
November 1 - 30 . .     — $  —   — $  11,154 
December 1 - 31 . .     — $  —   — $  — 
Total . . . . . . . . . . . .      —  $  —    —    
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Item 6. 
 

[Reserved] 

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the 
notes to those statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This discussion and analysis contains 
forward-looking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual results may differ materially 
from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, some of which are not within 
our control. See "Risk Factors" and “Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”  

Company Overview  

CPI is a payments technology company providing a comprehensive range of payment cards and related digital 
solutions. We are a leader in several areas of the U.S. payment card solutions market, including debit and credit card 
production, personalization, and Software-as-a-Service-based (“SaaS-based”) instant issuance services. We are also a 
market leader in the production of “Prepaid Debit Cards,” which we define as debit cards issued on the networks of the 
“Payment Card Brands” (Visa, Mastercard®, American Express® and Discover®) but not linked to a traditional bank 
account, and related secure packaging solutions. We serve thousands of customers through direct and indirect sales 
channels and have maintained long-standing relationships with our top customers. 

Our revenues are primarily generated from the production of and services related to secure debit and credit 
cards that are issued on the networks of the Payment Card Brands, including Prepaid Debit Cards. 

Segment Overview 
 

Our business consists of the following reportable segments: Debit and Credit, Prepaid Debit, and Other. 

Debit and Credit Segment 

Our Debit and Credit segment primarily produces secure debit and credit cards and provides card services for 
U.S. card-issuing financial institutions. Services include personalization; instant issuance, which provides customers the 
ability to issue an instant personalized debit or credit card on-demand within a customer location; and other payment 
solutions such as digital push provisioning for mobile wallets.  

Prepaid Debit Segment 

Our Prepaid Debit segment primarily provides secure packaging solutions, Prepaid Debit Cards, and other 
integrated prepaid card services to prepaid program managers in the U.S.  

Other 

Our Other segment includes corporate expenses. 

Key Components of Results of Operations 

Set forth below is a brief description of key line items of our consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income. 

Net Sales 

Net sales reflect our revenue generated from the sale of products and services. Product net sales include the 
design and production of payment cards, including contact and contactless cards, which includes our eco-focused cards. 
Contactless cards have additional technology to process contactless transactions and generally have a higher selling price 
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than contact-only cards. We also generate product revenue from the sale of our Card@Once® instant issuance system 
and consumables, private label credit cards and retail gift cards. Services net sales include revenue from the 
personalization and fulfillment of payment cards, tamper-evident secure packaging, fulfillment services, SaaS-based 
personalization of instant issuance payment cards and other digital offerings. See Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data, Note 2 “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” and Part II, Item 7, Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, “Critical Accounting Policies and 
Estimates—Revenue Recognition” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information and timing of revenue 
recognition for net sales. We include gross shipping and handling revenue in net sales. 

Cost of Sales 

Cost of sales includes the direct and indirect costs of the products we sell and the services that we provide. 
Product costs include the cost of raw materials, including microchips for all applicable cards and antennas for contactless 
cards, labor costs, equipment and facilities costs, operation overhead, depreciation and amortization, leases and transport 
costs. Product costs also include Card@Once instant issuance hardware and consumable product costs. Services costs 
include the cost of labor, raw materials in the case of tamper-evident secure packaging, equipment and facilities costs, 
operation overhead, depreciation and amortization, leases and transport costs. Cost of sales can be impacted by many 
factors, including volume, operational efficiencies, procurement costs, promotional activity, and employee relations. We 
include the costs of shipping and handling related to customer sales in cost of sales. 

Gross Profit and Gross Margin 

Gross profit consists of our net sales less our cost of sales. Gross margin is gross profit as a percentage of net 
sales.  

Operating Expenses 

Operating expenses are primarily comprised of selling, general and administrative expenses (“SG&A”) which 
generally consist of expenses for executive, finance, sales, marketing, legal and compliance, information technology, 
procurement, customer service, human resources, research and development and administrative personnel, including 
payroll, benefits and stock-based compensation expense, bad debt expense and outside legal and other advisory fees, 
including consulting, accounting, and software related fees. Operating expense also includes depreciation and 
amortization expense and may include impairment charges on tangible and intangible assets, when necessary.  

Income from Operations and Operating Margin 

Income from operations consists of our gross profit less our net operating expenses. Operating margin is income 
from operations as a percentage of net sales. 

Other (Expense) Income, net 

Other (expense) income, net consists primarily of interest expense and other non-operating items. 

Income Tax Expense 

Income tax expense consists of our federal and state income taxes at statutory rates, including the impact of 
other items such as valuation allowances, tax credits, permanent items, and foreign taxes. 

Net Income  

Net income consists of our income from operations, less other expense, net, and income taxes. 
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Results of Operations 

Year Ended December 31, 2024 Compared With Year Ended December 31, 2023 

The following table presents the components of our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income for each of the periods presented: 

 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
      2024      2023      $ Change      % Change  
  (dollars in thousands)   
Net sales: (1)            

Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  250,008  $  249,354  $  654   0.3 % 
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     230,593     195,193    35,400    18.1 % 

Total net sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     480,601    444,547    36,054    8.1 % 
Cost of sales (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     309,382     289,058    20,324    7.0 % 
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     171,219   155,489    15,730    10.1 % 
Operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     108,427     93,899    14,528    15.5 % 
Income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     62,792   61,590    1,202    2.0 % 
Other expense, net:         

Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (34,087)    (26,913)   (7,174)   26.7 % 
Loss on debt extinguishment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (2,987)   (243)   (2,744) *  
Other (expense) income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (691)    28    (719)  *  

Income before taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     25,027   34,462    (9,435)   (27.4)% 
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (5,506)    (10,477)   4,971    (47.4)% 

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  19,521 $  23,985  $  (4,464)   (18.6)% 
         
Gross profit margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    35.6%   35.0%     

 
*  Calculation not meaningful. 
(1) For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, net sales and cost of sales each include $1.2 million and $0.7 million of intersegment 

eliminations, respectively. 
 

The following discussion of our consolidated results of operations and segment results refers to the year ended 
December 31, 2024 compared to the corresponding prior year period. The results of operations should be read in 
conjunction with the discussion of our segment results of operations, which provide more detailed discussions 
concerning certain components of the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.  
  
Net Sales:  
 

Net sales increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to higher Services net sales in our 
Prepaid Debit segment and higher personalization services net sales in our Debit and Credit segment.  

 
Net sales were negatively impacted by reduced demand from some of our customers for debit and credit card 

products during 2023 and the first half of 2024, which we believe was the result of economic concerns and supply 
chain- related purchase timing, whereby certain customers increased their inventory of our products during 2022 amid 
product availability concerns and then focused on reducing their inventory levels in subsequent periods.   

 
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin:  

Gross profit and gross profit margin increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to higher 
net sales described above and the resulting operating leverage.  

Operating Expenses:  
  
Operating expenses increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to increased 

compensation- related expenses, including employee performance-based incentive compensation related to stronger 2024 
company performance compared to 2023 and salary expenses. 
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Interest, net:  
 
Interest expense increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to payment of an early 

redemption premium of $5.8 million related to the redemption of the $267.9 million 8.625% Senior Secured Notes due 
2026 (the “2026 Senior Notes”), as well as impacts from higher interest rates on the 10.000% Senior Secured Notes due 
2029 (defined below) entered into on July 11, 2024. 

 
Loss on Debt Extinguishment: 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded a loss on debt extinguishment relating to unamortized 
deferred financing costs in connection with the redemption of the 2026 Senior Notes and the refinancing of our ABL 
Revolver Credit Agreement in July 2024. 

Other (Expense) Income, net: 
 

Other (expense) income, net increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to expenses 
incurred related to a secondary offering of our common stock. See Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data, Note 12, “Stockholders’ Deficit” of the consolidated financial statements for further information. 

 
Income Tax Expense:  
 

Our effective tax rates on pre-tax income were 22.0% and 30.4% for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 
2023, respectively. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2024 benefited from increased deductibility 
of stock-based compensation realized upon certain stock option exercises and restricted stock unit vesting, and benefits 
recognized due to the lapse of the statute of limitations related to specific uncertain tax benefit positions. The effective 
tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023 was impacted by limitation of executive compensation deductibility 
related to the former Chief Executive Officer’s (“CEO’s”) retention agreement. 

 
Segment Discussion 

 
Debit and Credit: 
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
      2024      2023      $ Change      % Change  
  (dollars in thousands)  
Net sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  375,261  $  361,057  $  14,204   3.9 % 
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  128,095  $  126,776  $  1,319   1.0 % 
Income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  92,856  $  94,906  $  (2,050)  (2.2) % 
             
Gross profit margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     34.1%   35.1%       
 
Net Sales: 
 

Net sales for Debit and Credit increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to increased 
Services net sales. The increase in Services net sales was driven by higher personalization and Card@Once services. 
Products net sales were relatively consistent, as higher volumes of contactless cards were offset by volume declines in 
contact-only and other cards. 

 
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin: 
 

Gross profit for Debit and Credit was relatively consistent and gross profit margin decreased for the year ended 
December 31, 2024 as the increase in net sales was offset by a higher volume of lower margin products sold compared to 
the prior year period. 
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Income from Operations: 
 
Income from operations for Debit and Credit decreased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to 

increased employee performance-based incentive compensation related to stronger 2024 company performance 
compared to 2023 and salary expenses. 

 
Prepaid Debit: 
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
      2024      2023      $ Change      % Change  
  (dollars in thousands)  
Net sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  106,541  $  84,237  $  22,304   26.5 % 
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  43,124  $  28,713  $  14,411   50.2 % 
Income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  37,201  $  24,927  $  12,274   49.2 % 
             
Gross profit margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    40.5%   34.1%       

 
Net Sales: 

 
Net sales for Prepaid Debit increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to increased sales to 

existing customers of higher-priced packaging solutions and healthcare payment cards. 
 

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin: 

Gross profit and gross profit margin for Prepaid Debit increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, 
primarily due to higher net sales discussed above and the resulting operating leverage. 
 
Income from Operations: 

 
Income from operations for Prepaid Debit increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the 

factors discussed in “Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin” above, partially offset by increased employee 
performance- based incentive compensation related to stronger 2024 company performance compared to 2023 and salary 
expenses. 
 
Other: 
 

As the Other segment is comprised entirely of corporate expenses, income from operations for Other consists of 
operating expenses shown below. 
 
             

  Year Ended December 31,  
      2024      2023      $ Change      % Change  
  (dollars in thousands)  
Operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  67,265  $  58,243  $  9,022   15.5 % 
 
Operating Expenses: 

 
Other operating expenses increased for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to an increase in 

compensation-related expenses, including the factors discussed in consolidated “Operating Expenses” above. 
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Liquidity and Capital Resources  

At December 31, 2024, we had $33.5 million of cash and cash equivalents. Our primary source of liquidity has 
been cash generated from our operating activities, which has been driven from net income and fluctuations in working 
capital. Our working capital fluctuates primarily due to the timing of tax payments, timing of receipts from customers, 
inventory purchases, payments of employee incentive programs and interest payments on our outstanding Senior Notes, 
with the interest payments being due in the first and third quarters of the year. 

Our ability to make investments in and grow our business, service our debt and improve our debt leverage 
ratios, while maintaining strong liquidity, depends on our ability to generate excess operating cash flows through our 
operating subsidiaries. Although we can provide no assurances, we believe that our cash flows from operations, 
combined with our current cash levels, and our senior secured revolving credit facility (the “2029 ABL Revolver”) with 
available borrowing capacity of $72.8 million as of December 31, 2024, will be adequate to fund debt service 
requirements and provide cash, as required, to support our ongoing operations, capital expenditures, lease obligations, 
and working capital needs. Our future cash flows could be impacted by a variety of factors, some of which are beyond 
our control. Factors include, but are not limited to, demand from some of our customers for certain products and 
services, changes in economic conditions, especially those impacting our customers, and the pricing, terms and 
availability of goods and services that we purchase, and financings that we enter into.  

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2024 increased to $43.3 million from 
$34.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to higher net income excluding debt refinancing 
costs and changes in working capital. Working capital changes included lower employee performance-based incentive 
compensation payments in 2024 related to 2023 performance as compared to those made in 2023 related to 2022 
performance and lower cash paid for interest on our Senior Notes due to the timing of the refinancing, partially offset by 
payments for incentives related to a customer contract entered into in the first quarter of 2024, a $5.0 million payment 
pursuant to an agreement entered into on June 2, 2023 with the Company’s prior CEO, and deposits made on machinery 
and equipment yet to be placed in service. Working capital was also significantly impacted in 2024 by the timing of 
collections from customers and payments to our vendors.   

Financing 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had the following outstanding borrowings: 
       

  December 31,  
      2024      2023 
  (dollars in thousands) 
2029 Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  285,000  $  — 
2026 Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    267,897 
Unamortized deferred financing costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (4,595)   (2,900)

Total long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  280,405  $  264,997 
 
2029 Senior Notes 
 

On July 11, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), we completed a private offering by our wholly-owned subsidiary, CPI 
CG Inc. (the “Issuer”), of $285.0 million aggregate principal amount of 10.000% Senior Secured Notes due 2029 (the 
“2029 Senior Notes”) and related guarantees at an issue price of 100%. The notes and related guarantees were offered 
and sold in a private transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, to 
persons reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144A under the Securities Act 
and outside the United States to certain non-U.S. persons in compliance with Regulation S under the Securities Act. 

Net proceeds from the 2029 Senior Notes, together with cash on hand, were used to redeem the entire principal 
balance of $267.9 million on the 2026 Senior Notes as of the Closing Date, and to pay related fees, an early redemption 
premium of 2.156%, and other expenses. The early redemption premium paid is recorded in “Interest, net” on the 
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income for the year ended December 31, 2024.  
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The 2029 Senior Notes mature on July 15, 2029. Interest is payable on the 2029 Senior Notes on January 15 
and July 15 of each year, beginning on January 15, 2025. The 2029 Senior Notes are guaranteed by us and our domestic 
subsidiaries (other than the Issuer), and are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and the guarantors, 
subject to customary exceptions. We may be required to make an offer to repurchase the 2029 Senior Notes, upon the 
occurrence of certain events including a change of control or certain asset sales. 

2029 ABL Revolver 
 

On the Closing Date, the Company and CPI CG Inc. as borrower (the “Borrower”), entered into a credit 
agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as lender, administrative agent and 
collateral agent, providing for an asset-based, senior secured revolving credit facility (the “2029 ABL Revolver”) of up 
to $75.0 million (the “Maximum Revolver Amount”). The 2029 ABL Revolver is guaranteed by us and our subsidiaries 
(other than excluded subsidiaries (as defined in the ABL Credit Agreement)), and is secured by substantially all of the 
assets of the Company, the Borrower and their subsidiaries, (other than excluded subsidiaries (as defined in the ABL 
Credit Agreement)). 

The 2029 ABL Revolver consists of revolving loans, letters of credit and swing line loans provided by lenders, 
with a sublimit on letters of credit outstanding at any time of $10.0 million. The 2029 ABL Revolver also includes an 
uncommitted accordion feature whereby the Borrower may increase the 2029 ABL Revolver commitment by an 
aggregate amount not to exceed $25.0 million, subject to certain conditions. The 2029 ABL Revolver matures on the 
earliest to occur of July 11, 2029 and the date that is 91 days prior to the maturity of the 2029 Senior Notes. 

As of the Closing Date, the Borrower had $4.0 million of outstanding borrowings under a prior Credit 
Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. entered into in March 2021 (the “2026 ABL Revolver”). The Company used 
initial borrowings under the 2029 ABL Revolver, together with cash on hand and proceeds under the notes, to repay in 
full and terminate the 2026 ABL Revolver and to pay related fees and expenses, and will use future borrowings for 
general corporate purposes.  

Borrowings under the 2029 ABL Revolver bear interest at a rate per annum that ranges based on the applicable 
term secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) as administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York plus 1.50% 
to 1.75% (subject, in each case, to a credit spread adjustment of 0.10%), based on the average daily borrowing capacity 
under the 2029 ABL Revolver over the most recently completed month. The unused portion of the 2029 ABL Revolver 
commitment accrues a commitment fee, which ranges from 0.375% to 0.50% per annum, based on the average daily 
excess availability under the 2029 ABL Revolver over the immediately preceding month. 

As of December 31, 2024, there were no outstanding borrowings on the 2029 ABL Revolver. 

Credit Ratings and Debt Covenants 
 

The credit ratings on our debt are an important consideration in our overall business, managing our financing 
costs and facilitating access to additional capital on favorable terms. Factors that we believe are important in assessing 
our credit ratings include earnings, cash flow generation, leverage, available liquidity and the overall health of the 
business. 
 

The 2029 Senior Notes and the 2029 ABL Revolver contain covenants limiting the ability of the Company, the 
Borrower and the Company’s restricted subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or guarantee additional debt or issue 
disqualified stock or certain preferred stock; create or incur liens; pay dividends, redeem stock or make other 
distributions; make certain investments; create restrictions on the ability of the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries to 
pay dividends to the Company or make other intercompany transfers; transfer or sell assets; merge or consolidate; and 
enter into certain transactions with affiliates, subject to a number of important exceptions and qualifications as set forth 
in the indenture governing the 2029 Senior Notes and the ABL Credit Agreement. 

The 2029 ABL Revolver includes limitations on the Borrower’s ability to borrow in certain situations, 
including limitations based on the calculation of borrowing capacity and further limitations that are triggered if the 
amount available to borrow under the ABL Revolver is less than the greater of $7.5 million and 10% of the Maximum 
Revolver Amount. The borrowing capacity represents the net availability under the ABL Revolver and is calculated as 
the lesser of a) the total of certain eligible assets, including cash, accounts receivable and inventories, further reduced by 
stated contribution percentages and adjustments (the “Borrowing Base”) and b) the Maximum Revolver Amount. The 
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Borrowing Base is further reduced by credit line reserves and letters of credit, as well as the loan ledger balance 
outstanding on the ABL Revolver. Additionally, commencing with the month immediately following a date on which 
borrowing capacity is below the greater of $7.5 million and 10% of the Maximum Revolver Amount and until such time 
that borrowing capacity equals or exceeds the greater of $7.5 million and 10% of the Maximum Revolver Amount for 
30 consecutive days, the Company must maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the ABL Credit 
Agreement) of at least 1.00 to 1.00, calculated for the trailing 12 months, in order to borrow under the ABL Revolver. 

Cash Priorities 
 
Capital Expenditures 
 

We primarily use cash in investing activities for capital expenditures. During the year ended December 31, 
2024, capital expenditures, including investments to support the business, such as machinery and information technology 
equipment, totaled $9.3 million. 

 
During 2023, we commenced work on relocating and modernizing our production facility in Indiana. Capital 

expenditures, net for this project are anticipated to increase cash used in investing activities and assets acquired under 
lease arrangements in 2025. 
 
Share Repurchase Authorization and Activity 
 

On November 2, 2023, our board of directors approved a share repurchase plan authorizing us to repurchase up 
to $20.0 million of our common stock, par value $0.001 per share. This authorization expired on December 31, 2024 
with a remaining unused authorized amount of $11.2 million. 
 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we repurchased 473,284 shares of our common stock at an average 
price of $18.16 per share, excluding commissions, or $8.6 million in aggregate, on a trade date basis. This amount 
includes 364,848 shares purchased from one of our significant stockholders at an average price of $18.09 per share, in 
accordance with the stock repurchase agreements entered into with Tricor Pacific Capital Partners (Fund IV) US, LP 
(“Parallel49”). 

Material Cash Requirements 

Our material cash requirements include interest payments on our long-term debt, operating and finance lease 
payments, and purchase obligations to support our operations. 

Debt Service Requirements 

As of December 31, 2024, the total projected principal and interest payments on our borrowings are 
$429.7 million, primarily related to the 2029 Senior Notes, of which $29.2 million of interest is expected to be paid in 
the next 12 months.  

The remaining interest payments are expected to be paid over the remaining term of the 2029 Senior Notes, 
which mature in 2029, and the principal is due upon maturity. We have estimated our future interest payments assuming 
no additional borrowings under the 2029 ABL Revolver, no early redemptions of principal on the 2029 Senior Notes, 
and no debt issuances or renewals upon the maturity dates of our notes. However, we may borrow additional amounts 
under the 2029 ABL Revolver, redeem principal on the 2029 Senior Notes early or refinance all or a portion of our 
borrowings in future periods. 

Leases 

We lease equipment and real property for production and services. Refer to Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements 
and Supplementary Data, Note 9, “Financing and Operating Leases,” for details on our leasing arrangements, including 
future maturities of our operating lease liabilities, as of December 31, 2024. 

In February 2024, we entered into a build-to-suit lease agreement to relocate and modernize our operations at 
our Fort Wayne, Indiana production facility, which is set to commence the later of: (i) the landlord’s delivery of 
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exclusive possession of the premises and (ii) March 1, 2025. Under this lease agreement, we will pay an annual base rent 
of $0.9 million subject to an annual rent increase of 2.0%. The lease is for 10 years and includes two consecutive options 
to extend the term of the lease by five years for each such option. 

Purchase Obligations 

A purchase obligation is an agreement to purchase goods or services that is enforceable, legally binding, and 
specifies all significant terms. As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $78.9 million of outstanding purchase 
obligations, of which approximately $66.5 million is expected to be paid in the next 12 months.  

Included in the above amounts, during 2023, we entered into a capacity reservation agreement with one of our 
chip suppliers to reserve production supply capacity due to the current global supply shortage environment. Under the 
agreement, we agreed to pay certain fees in exchange for the supplier’s commitment to reserve capacity to produce a set 
quantity of chips from 2023 through 2026, subject to certain conditions, and we have committed to purchase those chips. 
The total value of the minimum non-cancellable commitment is approximately $190.0 million over the term of the 
agreement. As of December 31, 2024, the remaining commitment was $62.0 million, of which $49.9 million is expected 
to be paid in the next 12 months. In the event that the supplier is unable to deliver the specified quantity of chips, it will 
be subject to liquidated damages of 10% of the price of any non-delivered products. 

 
Cyclical and Seasonal Nature of Business 

Payment cards are generally influenced by broader cyclical changes in the economy, with economic downturns 
potentially resulting in decreases in the demand for our products and services and economic upturns potentially resulting 
in increases in demand. In particular, prolonged economic downturns typically have resulted in significant reductions in 
the production demand for general purpose credit cards due to tightening credit conditions. Our net sales are also 
influenced by changes in customer behavior such as altering inventory management practices, payment card renewal 
cycles and demand for new products, such as contactless cards. Additionally, we historically have generated higher net 
sales in the third and fourth quarters of the year, as our sales of Prepaid Debit Card solutions are more heavily weighted 
toward the second half of the year when consumers tend to purchase more of these products and services in anticipation 
of the holiday season in the United States and timing related to the production of health insurance and health savings 
account cards. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our 
consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America. In preparing our financial statements, we make estimates, assumptions and judgments 
that can have a significant impact on our reported net sales, results of operations and net income, as well as on the value 
of certain assets and liabilities on our balance sheet during and as of the reporting periods. These estimates, assumptions 
and judgments are necessary because future events and their effects on our results and the value of our assets cannot be 
determined with certainty and are made based on our historical experience and on other assumptions that we believe to 
be reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates may change as new events occur or additional information is 
obtained, and we may periodically be faced with uncertainties, the outcomes of which are not within our control and may 
not be known for a prolonged period of time. Because the use of estimates is inherent in the financial reporting process, 
actual results could differ from those estimates. 

Revenue Recognition 

Products Net Sales: “Products” net sales are recognized when obligations under the terms of a contract with a 
customer are satisfied. In most instances, this occurs over time as cards are produced for specific customers and have no 
alternative use and the Company has an enforceable right to payment for work performed. For work performed but not 
completed and unbilled, we estimate net sales by taking actual costs incurred and applying historical margins for similar 
types of contracts. Margins across each business with similar contracts have been relatively consistent and we have not 
made changes to our methods and assumptions during 2024. Items included in “Products” net sales are produced 
payment cards, including contact, contactless, eco-focused, and magnetic stripe cards, private label credit cards and retail 
gift cards. Card@Once hardware and consumables are also included in “Products” net sales, and their associated 
revenues are recognized at the time of shipping. 
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Services Net Sales: Net sales are recognized for “Services” as the services are performed. Items included in 
“Services” net sales include the personalization and fulfillment of payment cards, providing tamper-evident secure 
packaging and fulfillment services to prepaid program managers, and SaaS-based personalization of instant issuance 
debit and credit cards. For work performed but not completed and billed, we estimate revenue by taking actual costs 
incurred and applying historical margins for similar types of contracts. Margins across each business with similar 
contracts have been relatively consistent and we have not made changes to our methods and assumptions during 2024. 

Customer Contracts: The Company often enters into Master Services Agreements (“MSAs”) with its 
customers. Generally, enforceable rights and obligations for goods and services occur only when a customer places a 
purchase order or statement of work to obtain goods or services under an MSA. Usually our contractual arrangements 
include neither exclusivity clauses nor commitments from our customers to order any given quantities of products on a 
medium or long-term basis. The contract term as defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, is the length of time it takes to 
deliver the goods or services promised under the purchase order or statement of work. As such, the Company's contracts 
are generally short term in nature. 

Costs to Obtain a Contract with a Customer: Costs to obtain a contract (“contract costs”) include only those 
costs incurred to obtain a contract that the Company would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. For 
contracts where the term is greater than one year, these costs are recorded as an asset and amortized consistent with the 
timing of the related revenue over the life of the contract. To do so, we estimate the amount of the contract costs over the 
term of the contract as well as the timing of future revenue over the term of the contract to determine the amortization of 
such costs. The current portion of the asset is included in “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” and the noncurrent 
portion is included in “Other assets” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Contract costs incurred but unpaid 
are included in “Accrued expenses” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Contract costs are expensed as 
incurred when the amortization period is one year or less. 

Income Taxes 

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is 
required in evaluating our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and 
liabilities are computed annually for differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities 
that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the 
periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. 

The Company has deferred tax assets and liabilities and maintains valuation allowances where it is more likely 
than not that all or a portion of deferred tax assets will not be realized. Significant judgment is required in determining 
any valuation allowance recorded against deferred tax assets. The determination of the amount of valuation allowance to 
be provided on recorded deferred tax assets involves consideration of estimates regarding the timing and amount of the 
reversal of taxable temporary differences and the impact of tax planning strategies. Changes in the relevant facts can 
significantly impact the judgment or need for valuation allowances. In the event we change our determination as to the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be realized, we will adjust our valuation allowance with a corresponding impact to 
the provision for income taxes in the period in which such determination is made.  

During the ordinary course of business, there are transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The company is required to make estimates regarding future compensation for covered 
individuals to determine the value of its deferred tax assets related to the future deductibility of executive stock-based 
compensation and accrued incentive compensation, which also requires significant judgment. We also establish reserves 
for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. The 
reserves are established when we believe that certain positions are likely to be challenged and may not be fully sustained 
on review by tax authorities. We adjust these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of 
a tax audit or refinement of an estimate. Although we believe our reserves are reasonable, no assurance can be given that 
the final outcome of these matters will be consistent with what is reflected in our historical income tax provisions and 
accruals. To the extent that the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts recorded, such 
differences will impact the current provision for income taxes. We recognize interest and penalties related to 
unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. 
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The Company’s valuation allowance recorded as of December 31, 2024, relates to certain state net operating 
losses, which the Company estimates may not be fully utilized. Additionally, other changes to the federal and state tax 
regulations can lead to variability in allowable deductions, which can impact the Company’s valuation allowance. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

Refer to Part II, Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data, Note 2, “Summary of Significant 
Accounting Policies” for a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 
 

Not required due to smaller reporting company status. 
 
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors 
CPI Card Group Inc.: 

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CPI Card Group Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, 
stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated 
financial statements). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows 
for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the 
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. 

Basis for Opinions 
 
The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, 
included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the 
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. 
Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that 
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of 
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing 
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable 
basis for our opinions. 
 
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
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management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements. 
 
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. 
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate. 
 
Critical Audit Matter 
 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated 
financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates 
to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially 
challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of a critical audit matter does not alter in any way 
our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical 
audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it 
relates. 
 
Assessment of impairment indicators from certain contracts with customers 
 
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company records costs to obtain a contract with a term greater 
than one year as an asset and amortizes the costs consistent with the timing of the related revenue over the life of the 
contract. The asset is amortized as a reduction of the transaction price over the period of expected cash flows. The 
Company estimates the timing of future revenue to determine the amortization of such costs and assesses the asset for 
impairment. The current portion of the asset is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets and the noncurrent 
portion is included in other assets on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2024, the 
Company recorded $11.3 million in prepaid expenses and other current assets and $20.3 million in other assets, a portion 
of which related to these contract costs. 
 
We identified the assessment of any indicators of impairment of the costs to obtain certain contracts with a term greater 
than one year as a critical audit matter. Subjective auditor judgment was required to assess any indicators of impairment 
due to the nature of available evidence.  
 
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design 
and tested the operating effectiveness of an internal control related to the Company’s assessment of any indicators of 
impairment. We compared actual revenue recorded to the terms of certain contracts with customers to determine if any 
indicators of impairment existed. 
 

/s/ KPMG LLP 
 
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2014. 

Denver, Colorado 
March 4, 2025 
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CPI Card Group Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 

       

  December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Assets      
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  33,544  $  12,413 
Accounts receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     85,491     73,724 
Inventories, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     72,660     70,594 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,347     8,647 

Total current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     203,042     165,378 
Plant, equipment, leasehold improvements and operating lease right-of-use assets, net . .     68,648     63,053 
Intangible assets, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     10,492     14,122 
Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     47,150     47,150 
Other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     20,325     3,980 

Total assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  349,657  $  293,683 
Liabilities and stockholders’ deficit     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  16,123  $  12,802 
Accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     57,979     35,803 
Deferred revenue and customer deposits. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,485     840 

Total current liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     75,587     49,445 
Long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     280,405     264,997 
Deferred income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     3,318     7,139 
Other long-term liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     25,968     24,038 

Total liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     385,278     345,619 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)     
Series A Preferred Stock; $0.001 par value—100,000 shares authorized; 0 shares  
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    — 
Stockholders’ deficit:     
Common stock; $0.001 par value—100,000,000 shares authorized; 11,240,507 and 
11,446,155 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2024 and 2023,  
respectively . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11     11 

Capital deficiency . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (105,429)    (102,223)
Accumulated earnings . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     69,797     50,276 

Total stockholders’ deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (35,621)    (51,936)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  349,657  $  293,683 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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CPI Card Group Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income 

(in thousands, except share and per share amounts) 
 

       

  Year Ended December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Net sales:     

Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  250,008  $  249,354 
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     230,593     195,193 

Total net sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     480,601     444,547 
Cost of sales:     

Products (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown below) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     166,036     161,374 
Services (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown below) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     131,952     117,397 
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,394     10,287 

Total cost of sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     309,382     289,058 
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     171,219     155,489 
Operating expenses:     

Selling, general and administrative (exclusive of depreciation and amortization  
shown below) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     103,401     88,255 
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     5,026    5,644 

Total operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     108,427     93,899 
Income from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     62,792     61,590 
Other expense, net:     

Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (34,087)    (26,913)
Loss on debt extinguishment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (2,987)   (243)
Other (expense) income, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (691)    28 

Total other expense, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (37,765)    (27,128)
Income before income taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     25,027     34,462 
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (5,506)    (10,477)

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  19,521  $  23,985 
     

Basic and diluted earnings per share:     
Basic earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1.75  $  2.10 
Diluted earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1.64  $  2.01 

       
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,152,648    11,426,124 
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,878,076    11,917,556 
     
Comprehensive income:     

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  19,521  $  23,985 
Total comprehensive income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  19,521  $  23,985 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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CPI Card Group Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit 

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 
 

          
          

  Common Stock  Capital  Accumulated  Stockholders 
      Shares      Amount      deficiency      earnings (loss)      Deficit 
December 31, 2022 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      11,390,355  $  11  $  (108,379) $  26,291  $  (82,077) 

Shares issued under stock-based compensation plans . . . . . .     68,980    —    (368)   —    (368) 
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    —    —    7,507    —    7,507 
Repurchase and retirement of common shares . . . . . . . . . . .    (13,180)   —    (983)   —    (983) 
Components of comprehensive income:           

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    —    —    23,985    23,985 
December 31, 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,446,155  $  11  $  (102,223) $  50,276  $  (51,936) 

Shares issued under stock-based compensation plans . . . . . .    267,636    —    (3,806)   —    (3,806) 
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    —    —    8,545    —    8,545 
Repurchase and retirement of common shares . . . . . . . . . . .    (473,284)   —    (7,945)   —    (7,945) 
Components of comprehensive income:           

Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    —    —    19,521    19,521 
December 31, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    11,240,507  $  11  $  (105,429) $  69,797  $  (35,621) 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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CPI Card Group Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 

(in thousands) 
 

       

  Year Ended December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Operating activities     
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  19,521  $  23,985 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:     

Depreciation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     12,790     12,065 
Amortization expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     3,630    3,866 
Stock-based compensation expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     8,545     7,507 
Amortization of debt issuance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,536    1,855 
Loss on early extinguishment of debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     8,763    243 
Deferred income taxes and other, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (3,935)    (324)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Accounts receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (11,786)    6,795 
Inventories . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (1,990)    (1,638)
Prepaid expenses and other assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (19,665)    2,346 
Income taxes, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     985     (1,162)
Accounts payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,762     (11,260)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     21,512     (7,506)
Deferred revenue and customer deposits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     645     (2,731)

Cash provided by operating activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     43,313     34,041 
Investing activities     
Capital expenditures for plant, equipment and leasehold improvements, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (9,257)    (6,405)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     36    183 

Cash used in investing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (9,221)    (6,222)
Financing activities     
Principal payments on 2026 Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (267,897)   (16,954)
Proceeds from 2029 Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     285,000    — 
Net proceeds from ABL Revolver . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    (5,000)
Payments on finance lease obligations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (5,221)   (3,871)
Common stock repurchased . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (8,678)   (250)
Debt issuance costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (6,583)   — 
Payment for debt early redemption premium . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (5,776)  — 
Taxes withheld and paid on stock-based compensation awards . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (3,806)  (368)

Cash used in financing activities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (12,961)    (26,443)
Effect of exchange rates on cash . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —     — 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     21,131     1,376 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     12,413     11,037 
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  33,544  $  12,413 
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information     
Cash paid (refunded) during the period for:     

Interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  26,319  $  25,738 
Income taxes paid . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,760  $  10,462 
Income taxes refunded . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (475) $  (86)

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:     
Operating leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1,292  $  3,091 
Financing leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,929  $  11,285 

Accounts payable and accrued expenses for capital expenditures for plant, equipment and 
leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  662  $  102 
 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements 
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CPI Card Group Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 

(dollars in thousands, except share and per share amounts or as otherwise indicated) 

1. Business 

CPI Card Group Inc. (which, together with its subsidiary companies, is referred to herein as “CPI” or the 
“Company”) is a payments technology company providing a comprehensive range of payment cards and related digital 
solutions. CPI is a leader in several areas of the U.S. payment card solutions market, including debit and credit card 
production, personalization, and SaaS-based instant issuance services. CPI is also a market leader in the production of 
Prepaid Debit Cards and related secure packaging solutions. 

CPI’s revenues are primarily generated from the production of and services related to secure debit and credit 
cards that are issued on the networks of the Payment Card Brands (Visa, Mastercard, American Express, and Discover), 
including Prepaid Debit Cards. The Company’s business consists of the following reportable segments: 

• Debit and Credit: primarily produces secure debit and credit cards and provides card services for 
U.S. card- issuing financial institutions. Services include personalization; instant issuance, which provides 
customers the ability to issue an instant personalized debit or credit card on-demand within a customer location; 
and other payment solutions such as digital push provisioning for mobile wallets; 

• Prepaid Debit: primarily provides secure packaging solutions, Prepaid Debit Cards, and other integrated prepaid 
card services, to prepaid program managers in the U.S.; and 

• Other: primarily corporate expenses.  

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. 
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. 

Use of Estimates 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). These accounting principles require 
management to make assumptions and estimates relating to the reporting of assets and liabilities in its preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. Significant items subject to such estimates and assumptions include the carrying 
amount of property and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets, leases, valuation allowances for inventories and 
deferred taxes, revenue recognized for work performed but not completed, recognition of amounts and timing of contract 
costs and uncertain tax positions. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents and they are stated at cost, which approximates fair value. 
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Trade Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Risk 

Accounts receivable are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances. The 
Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and generally requires no collateral to secure accounts 
receivable. 
       

      December 31,  
  2024      2023 
Trade accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  78,464   $  69,245 
Unbilled accounts receivable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      7,213     4,725 
     85,677     73,970 
Less allowance for credit losses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (186)   (246)

Total accounts receivable, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  85,491  $  73,724 
 

The Company maintains an allowance for potential credit losses based upon its assessment of the collectability 
of accounts receivable. Accounts are written off against the allowance when it is determined collection will not occur. 
The provision for credit losses was immaterial for both the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.  
 

For both years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, one customer represented 18% of the Company’s 
consolidated net sales. 

Inventories 

Inventories consist of raw materials and finished goods, and are measured at the lower of cost or net realizable 
value (determined on a first-in, first-out or specific identification basis). Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal and transportation. 
Finished goods inventory represents primarily stock cards and Card@Once hardware. The stock cards are not produced 
for a specific customer, but are ready to be personalized and sold as customer orders are received. The Company 
monitors inventory for events or circumstances that may indicate the net realizable value is less than the carrying value 
of inventory, such as negative margins, expiration of material usage and other forms of obsolescence, and records 
adjustments to the valuation of inventory, as necessary. 

For the year ended December 31, 2024 approximately 95% of the total value of purchased microchips and 
antennas came from three main suppliers, and approximately 78% came from one supplier. Approximately 96% of the 
total value of purchased microchips and antennas for the year ended December 31, 2023 came from four main suppliers, 
and approximately 72% came from one supplier. 

Plant, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements 

Plant, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. Accumulated depreciation is computed 
using the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful life of the related assets (generally 3 to 10 years for 
machinery and equipment, furniture, computer equipment, and leasehold improvements) or, when applicable, the lease 
term. Maintenance and repairs that do not extend the useful life of the respective assets are charged to expense as 
incurred. Capital expenditures are presented net of lessor reimbursements on the consolidated statement of cash flows for 
assets acquired when corresponding financing leases were contemplated to be executed at the asset purchase date and 
such financing leases are entered into shortly after asset acquisition. Any financing leases executed for the acquisition of 
right-of-use machinery and equipment assets are presented in the supplemental disclosures of non-cash information on 
the statement of cash flows. Financing leases are further described in Note 9, “Financing and Operating Leases.” 

Long-lived assets with finite lives are reviewed for impairment whenever events indicate that the carrying 
amount of the asset or the carrying amounts of the asset group containing the asset may not be recoverable. In such 
reviews, estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with these assets or asset groups are compared with their 
carrying value to determine if a write-down to fair value is required.  
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets 

The Company accounts for its goodwill under the authoritative guidance for goodwill and other intangible 
assets (ASC 350) and tests at least annually or more frequently when an event occurs or circumstances change that 
indicates the carrying value may not be recoverable. The Company first assesses qualitative factors to determine whether 
it is necessary to perform the quantitative goodwill impairment test. The Company performs its goodwill impairment test 
by comparing the fair value of the reporting unit with the carrying amount. If this qualitative assessment indicates it is 
more likely than not the fair value of a reporting unit is less than the carrying amount, a one-step quantitative test is then 
performed. Factors management considers in this assessment include macroeconomic, industry and market 
considerations, overall financial performance (both current and projected), cost increases impacting earnings and cash 
flows, changes in management and strategy, and changes in the composition or carrying amount of net assets. In the 
event a reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, the Company recognizes an impairment charge for the 
amount by which the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds its fair value. 

Acquired finite-lived intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of 
the assets, and are reviewed for impairment whenever events indicate that the carrying amount of the asset may not be 
recoverable. In such reviews, estimated undiscounted future cash flows associated with these assets are compared with 
their carrying value to determine if a write-down to fair value is required. 

Sales Tax 

The Company records sales tax collected from its customers on a net basis, and therefore excludes it from net 
sales as defined in ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Cash collected from customers is recorded in 
“Accrued expenses” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets and then remitted to the proper taxing authority. 

Income Taxes 

The Company accounts for income taxes using an asset and liability approach to financial accounting and 
reporting for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for differences between the 
financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future 
based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable 
income. 

The Company has deferred tax assets and liabilities and maintains valuation allowances where it is more likely 
than not that all or a portion of deferred tax assets will not be realized. To the extent the Company determines that it will 
not realize the benefit of some or all of its deferred tax assets, then these deferred tax assets will be adjusted through the 
Company’s income tax expense in the period in which this determination is made. 

The Company establishes reserves for tax-related uncertainties based on estimates of whether, and the extent to 
which, additional taxes will be due. The reserves are established when the Company believes that certain positions are 
likely to be challenged and may not be fully sustained on review by tax authorities. The Company adjusts uncertain tax 
positions in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the closing of a tax audit or refinement of an 
estimate. The Company recognizes the tax benefits from uncertain tax positions only when it is more likely than not, 
based on the technical merits of the position, that the tax position will be sustained upon examination, including the 
resolution of any related appeals or litigation. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax 
benefits as a component of income tax expense. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation pursuant to ASC 718, Share-Based Payments. All 
stock- based compensation is required to be measured at fair value and expensed over the requisite service period. The 
Company accounts for forfeitures as they occur and reverses previously recognized expense for the unvested portion of 
the forfeited shares. The Company recognizes compensation expense on awards on a straight-line basis over the vesting 
period for each tranche of an award. Upon the exercise of stock options, shares of common stock are issued from 
authorized common shares. Refer to Note 16 “Stock-Based Compensation” for additional discussion regarding details of 
the Company's stock-based compensation plans. 
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Net Sales 

Products Net Sales 

“Products” net sales are recognized when obligations under the terms of a contract with a customer are satisfied. 
In most instances, this occurs over time as cards are produced for specific customers and have no alternative use and the 
Company has an enforceable right to payment for work performed. For work performed but not completed and unbilled, 
the Company estimates revenue by taking actual costs incurred and applying historical margins for similar types of 
contracts. Items included in “Products” net sales are the design and production of payment cards, including contact, 
contactless, eco-focused, and magnetic stripe cards, CPI’s eco-focused solutions, including cards made with upcycled 
plastic, metal cards, private label credit cards and retail gift cards. Card@Once hardware and consumables are also 
included in “Products” net sales, and their associated revenues are recognized at the time of shipping. The Company 
includes gross shipping and handling revenue in net sales, and shipping and handling costs in cost of sales. 
 
Services Net Sales 
 

Net sales are recognized for “Services” as the services are performed. Items included in “Services” net sales 
include the personalization and fulfillment of payment cards, providing tamper-evident secure packaging and fulfillment 
services to prepaid program managers, and SaaS-based personalization of instant issuance debit and credit cards. As 
applicable, for work performed but not completed and unbilled, the Company estimates revenue by taking actual costs 
incurred and applying historical margins for similar types of contracts. 
 
Customer Contracts 

The Company often enters into Master Services Agreements (“MSAs”) with its customers. Generally, 
enforceable rights and obligations for goods and services occur only when a customer places a purchase order or 
statement of work to obtain goods or services under an MSA. The contract term as defined by ASC 606, Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers, is the length of time it takes to deliver the goods or services promised under the purchase 
order or statement of work. As such, the Company's contracts are generally short term in nature. 
 
Costs to Obtain a Contract with a Customer 

Costs to obtain a contract (“contract costs”) include only those costs incurred to obtain a contract that the 
Company would not have incurred if the contract had not been obtained. For contracts where the term is greater than one 
year, these costs are recorded as an asset and amortized consistent with the timing of the related revenue over the life of 
the contract. The current portion of the asset is included in “Prepaid expenses and other current assets” and the 
noncurrent portion is included in “Other assets” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Contract costs incurred 
but unpaid are included in “Accrued expenses” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Contract costs are 
expensed as incurred when the amortization period is one year or less. 
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 
 

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 
280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which will require enhanced segment disclosures.  Adoption of 
this accounting standard is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. The 
application of ASU 2023-07 did not change which segments are currently reported but did result in additional disclosure 
in the notes to the financial statements. 

 
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements 

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 
740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which will require a disaggregated rate reconciliation disclosure as well 
as additional information regarding taxes paid. Adoption of this accounting standard is effective for the Company for 
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024. The Company has elected not to early adopt this accounting standard. 
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The adoption of this standard will result in additional income tax disclosures; however, the Company does not anticipate 
that it will have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial position and results of operations. 

In November 2024, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU 2024-03, Income 
Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income - Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation 
of Income Statement Expenses, which will require disclosure of disaggregated information about certain expense 
captions presented in the income statement. Adoption of this accounting standard is effective for the Company for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027. The requirements 
should be applied on a prospective basis while retrospective application is permitted. The Company is evaluating the 
impact of adoption of this standard and does not anticipate that it will have a material impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial position and results of operations. 

3. Net Sales 
 

The Company disaggregates its net sales by major source as follows: 
 
          

  For the year ended December 31, 2024 
      Products      Services      Total 
Debit and Credit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  251,146  $  124,115  $  375,261 
Prepaid Debit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —   106,541   106,541 
Intersegment eliminations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (1,138)  (63)   (1,201)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  250,008  $  230,593  $  480,601 
          
          
  For the year ended December 31, 2023 
      Products      Services      Total 
Debit and Credit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  250,047  $  111,010  $  361,057 
Prepaid Debit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —   84,237   84,237 
Intersegment eliminations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (693)   (54)   (747)

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  249,354  $  195,193  $  444,547 
 
4. Inventories 
 

Inventories consisted of the following: 
 

       

  December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Raw materials . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  64,818  $  64,056 
Finished goods . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     7,842     6,538 

Total inventories, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  72,660  $  70,594 
 
5. Plant, Equipment, Leasehold Improvements and Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets 
 

Plant, equipment, leasehold improvements and operating lease right-of-use assets consisted of the following: 
 

       

  December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Machinery and equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  71,781  $  67,506 
Machinery and equipment under financing leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     32,272    23,774 
Furniture, fixtures and computer equipment . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,123     107 
Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     18,875     16,335 
Construction in progress . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     5,141     1,778 
Operating lease right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     15,090    19,989 
    144,282     129,489 
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (75,634)    (66,436)

Total plant, equipment, leasehold improvements and operating lease  
right-of-use assets, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  68,648  $  63,053 
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Operating lease right-of-use assets, net of accumulated amortization, are further described in Note 9, “Financing 
and Operating Leases.” 

 
There were no impairments of the Company’s plant, equipment, leasehold improvements and operating leases 

right-of-use assets for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.  
 
6. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets 
 

The Company reports all of its goodwill in the Debit and Credit segment at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The 
Company completed its goodwill impairment testing as of October 1, 2024 and did not identify any goodwill impairment 
during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.  
 

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships, acquired technology, and trademarks. There were no 
impairments of the Company’s amortizable intangible assets for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, intangible assets, excluding goodwill, were comprised of the following: 
 

                     

    December 31, 2024  December 31, 2023 
    Weighted Average        Accumulated    Net Book        Accumulated    Net Book 
   Life (Years)  Cost  Amortization  Value  Cost  Amortization  Value 
Customer relationships . . . . . . . . . . .     17.2  $ 55,454  $  (45,248)  $ 10,206  $ 55,454  $  (41,971) $ 13,483 
Acquired technology  . . . . . . . . . . . .     10.0     7,101    (7,101)    —     7,101    (6,967)   134 
Trademarks . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    8.7    3,330    (3,044)    286    3,330    (2,825)   505 

Intangible assets subject 
to amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     $ 65,885  $  (55,393)  $ 10,492  $ 65,885  $  (51,763) $ 14,122 

 
The estimated future aggregate amortization expense for the identified amortizable intangibles noted above as 

of December 31, 2024 was as follows: 
 

    

2025 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  3,440 
2026 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .         2,471 
2027 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,947 
2028 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,580 
2029 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,054 
  $  10,492 
 
7. Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date (exit price). In determining fair value, the 
Company utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value into 
three broad levels. The following is a brief description of those three levels: 

 
• Level 1 — Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

accessible to the reporting entity at the measurement date. 

• Level 2 — Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar 
assets and liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active or other inputs that are observable or can be 
corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term for the assets or liabilities. 

• Level 3 — Valuations based on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability used to measure fair value to the 
extent that observable inputs are not available, thereby allowing for situations in which there is little, if any, 
market activity for the asset or liability at the measurement date. 
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The Company’s financial assets and liabilities that are not required to be re-measured at fair value in the 
consolidated balance sheets were as follows: 
 
                

  Carrying    Fair Value Measurement at 
  Value as of  Fair Value as of  December 31, 2024 
  December 31,  December 31,  (Using Fair Value Hierarchy) 
     2024     2024     Level 1      Level 2     Level 3 
Liabilities:            

2029 Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  285,000   $  304,571  $ —   $ 304,571  $ — 
 
                

  Carrying    Fair Value Measurement at 
  Value as of  Fair Value as of  December 31, 2023 
  December 31,  December 31,  (Using Fair Value Hierarchy) 
     2023     2023     Level 1      Level 2     Level 3 
Liabilities:            

2026 Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  267,897   $  261,834  $ —   $ 261,834  $ — 
 

The aggregate fair value of the Company’s 2029 Senior Notes and 2026 Senior Notes (each as defined in 
Note 10, “Long-Term Debt”) was based on quoted prices for identical or similar liabilities in markets that are not active 
and, as a result, they are classified as Level 2 inputs. 

 
The carrying amounts for cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable each 

approximate fair value due to their short-term nature. 

8. Accrued Expenses 
 

Accrued expenses consisted of the following: 
 

       

     December 31, 
  2024      2023 
Accrued payroll and related employee expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  9,493   $  11,431 
Accrued employee performance-based incentive compensation  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      4,664     667 
Employer payroll taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     868    298 
Accrued rebates . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     3,956    2,919 
Capitalized contract costs payable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     8,000    — 
Accrued interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      13,506     6,830 
Current operating and financing lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     9,065    7,318 
Accrued share repurchases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    733 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     8,427    5,607 

Total accrued expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  57,979  $  35,803 
 

Other accrued expenses as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 consisted primarily of miscellaneous accruals for 
invoices not yet received, executive retention and severance, and self-insurance claims incurred but have yet to be 
reported. 
 
9. Financing and Operating Leases 

 
Right-of-use (“ROU”) represents the right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities 

represent the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. Operating lease ROU assets and 
liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. A 
lease is deemed to exist when the Company has the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment, as 
conveyed through a contract, for a certain period of time and consideration paid. The right to control is deemed to occur 
when the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits of the identified assets and the right 
to direct the use of such assets. Certain leases contain escalation provisions and/or renewal options, giving the Company 
the right to extend the leases by up to 10 years. However, these options are generally not reflected in the calculation of 
the ROU assets and lease liabilities due to uncertainty surrounding the likelihood of renewal. 
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The components of operating and finance lease costs were as follows: 
 
       

  Year Ended December 31, 
     2024      2023 
Operating lease costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  3,278  $  3,191 
Short-term and variable lease costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,009    741 

Total expense from operating leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4,287  $  3,932 
       
Finance lease costs:       

Right-of-use amortization expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  3,198  $  2,314 
Interest on lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     1,104    784 

Total financing lease costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  4,302  $  3,098 
 

The following table reflects balances for operating and financing leases: 
 

       

      December 31,  
  2024      2023 
Operating leases:       

Operating lease right-of-use assets, net of amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,853  $  11,234 
       

Current operating lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  2,468  $  2,539 
Non-current operating lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     8,242    9,384 

Total operating lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  10,710  $  11,923 
       
Financing leases:       

Plant, equipment and leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  32,272  $  23,774 
Accumulated depreciation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (6,533)    (3,335)

Total financing leases in plant, equipment and leasehold improvements, net . . . . . .   $  25,739  $  20,439 
       

Current financing lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  6,597  $  4,779 
Non-current financing lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     16,204    13,327 

Total financing lease liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  22,801  $  18,106 
 

Finance and operating lease ROU assets are recorded in “Plant, equipment, leasehold improvements, and 
operating lease right-of-use assets, net” on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Financing and operating lease 
liabilities are recorded in “Accrued expenses” and “Other long-term liabilities” on the Company's consolidated balance 
sheets. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had additional operating lease payment obligations, related to buildings 
and office space, of approximately $8.0 million which had not yet commenced. These leases are expected to commence 
in 2025 and have lease terms of up to 10 years. 
 

Components of lease expense were as follows: 
 

       

  December 31,  
     2024      2023 
Weighted-average remaining lease term:       

Operating leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    4.06   4.70 
Financing leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    3.84   3.98 

       
Weighted-average discount rate:       

Operating leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    7.04%   7.19% 
Financing leases . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    6.23%   6.28% 

 
Cash paid on operating lease liabilities was $2.5 million and $2.4 million during the years ended December 31, 

2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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Future cash payment with respect to lease obligations as of December 31, 2024 were as follows: 
 

       

  Operating  Financing  
  Lease  Leases 
Year Ending              
2025 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  3,142  $  7,831 
2026 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,987    6,416 
2027 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,833    5,485 
2028 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,513    4,224 
2029 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     886    1,707 

Total lease payments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     12,361    25,663 
Less imputed interest . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (1,651)   (2,862)

Total   . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  10,710  $  22,801 
 
10. Long-Term Debt  
 

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, long-term debt consisted of the following: 
 

       

  December 31,  
      2024      2023 
2029 Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  285,000  $  — 
2026 Senior Notes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    267,897 
Unamortized deferred financing costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (4,595)   (2,900)

Total long-term debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     280,405    264,997 
Less current maturities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    — 

Long-term debt, net of current maturities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  280,405  $  264,997 
 
2029 Senior Notes 

On July 11, 2024 (the “Closing Date”), the Company completed a private offering by its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, CPI CG Inc. (the “Issuer”), of $285.0 million aggregate principal amount of 10.000% Senior Secured Notes 
due 2029 (the “2029 Senior Notes”) and related guarantees at an issue price of 100%. The notes and related guarantees 
were offered and sold in a private transaction exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, to persons reasonably believed to be qualified institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144A under the 
Securities Act and outside the United States to certain non-U.S. persons in compliance with Regulation S under the 
Securities Act. 

 
Net proceeds from the 2029 Senior Notes, together with cash on hand, were used to redeem the entire principal 

balance of $267.9 million of the 8.625% Senior Secured Notes due 2026 (the “2026 Senior Notes”) as of the Closing 
Date, and to pay related fees, an early redemption premium of 2.156%, and other expenses. The early redemption 
premium paid is recorded in “Interest, net” on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income for 
the year ended December 31, 2024. 

 
The 2029 Senior Notes mature on July 15, 2029. Interest is payable on the 2029 Senior Notes on January 15 

and July 15 of each year, beginning on January 15, 2025. The 2029 Senior Notes are guaranteed by the Company and its 
domestic subsidiaries (other than the Issuer), and are secured by substantially all of the assets of the Issuer and the 
guarantors, subject to customary exceptions. The Company may be required to make an offer to repurchase the 2029 
Senior Notes, upon the occurrence of certain events including a change of control or certain asset sales. The 2029 Senior 
Notes also require the Company to comply with certain covenants limiting the ability of the Company and the 
Company’s restricted subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or guarantee additional debt or issue disqualified stock 
or certain preferred stock; create or incur liens; pay dividends, redeem stock or make other distributions; make certain 
investments; create restrictions on the ability of the Company’s restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company 
or make other intercompany transfers; transfer or sell assets; merge or consolidate; and enter into certain transactions 
with affiliates, subject to a number of important exceptions and qualifications as set forth in the indenture governing the 
2029 Senior Notes. 
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2029 ABL Revolver 

On the Closing Date, the Company and CPI CG Inc. as borrower (the “Borrower”), entered into a credit 
agreement (the “ABL Credit Agreement”) with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as lender, administrative agent and 
collateral agent, providing for an asset-based, senior secured revolving credit facility (the “2029 ABL Revolver”) of up 
to $75.0 million (the “Maximum Revolver Amount”). The 2029 ABL Revolver is guaranteed by the Company and its 
subsidiaries (other than excluded subsidiaries (as defined in the ABL Credit Agreement)), and is secured by substantially 
all of the assets of the Company, the Borrower and their subsidiaries (other than excluded subsidiaries (as defined in the 
ABL Credit Agreement)). 

The 2029 ABL Revolver consists of revolving loans, letters of credit and swing line loans provided by lenders, 
with a sublimit on letters of credit outstanding at any time of $10.0 million. The 2029 ABL Revolver also includes an 
uncommitted accordion feature whereby the Borrower may increase the 2029 ABL Revolver commitment by an 
aggregate amount not to exceed $25.0 million, subject to certain conditions. The 2029 ABL Revolver matures on the 
earliest to occur of July 11, 2029 and the date that is 91 days prior to the maturity of the 2029 Senior Notes. 

As of the Closing Date, the Borrower had $4.0 million of outstanding borrowings under a prior Credit 
Agreement with Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. entered into in March 2021 (the “2026 ABL Revolver”). The Company used 
initial borrowings under the 2029 ABL Revolver, together with cash on hand and proceeds under the notes, to repay in 
full and terminate the 2026 ABL Revolver and to pay related fees and expenses, and will use future borrowings for 
general corporate purposes. 

Borrowings under the 2029 ABL Revolver bear interest at a rate per annum that ranges based on the applicable 
term secured overnight financing rate (“SOFR”) as administered by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York plus 1.50% 
to 1.75% (subject, in each case, to a credit spread adjustment of 0.10%), based on the average daily borrowing capacity 
under the 2029 ABL Revolver over the most recently completed month. The unused portion of the 2029 ABL Revolver 
commitment accrues a commitment fee, which ranges from 0.375% to 0.50% per annum, based on the average daily 
excess availability under the 2029 ABL Revolver over the immediately preceding month. 

The 2029 ABL Revolver includes limitations on the Borrower’s ability to borrow in certain situations, 
including limitations based on the calculation of borrowing capacity and further limitations that are triggered if the 
amount available to borrow under the ABL Revolver is less than the greater of $7.5 million and 10% of the Maximum 
Revolver Amount. The borrowing capacity represents the net availability under the ABL Revolver and is calculated as 
the lesser of a) the total of certain eligible assets, including cash, accounts receivable and inventories, further reduced by 
stated contribution percentages and adjustments (the “Borrowing Base”) and b) the Maximum Revolver Amount. The 
Borrowing Base is further reduced by credit line reserves and letters of credit, as well as the loan ledger balance 
outstanding on the ABL Revolver. Additionally, commencing with the month immediately following a date on which 
borrowing capacity is below the greater of $7.5 million and 10% of the Maximum Revolver Amount and until such time 
that borrowing capacity equals or exceeds the greater of $7.5 million and 10% of the Maximum Revolver Amount 
for 30 consecutive days, the Company must maintain a fixed charge coverage ratio (as defined in the ABL Credit 
Agreement) of at least 1.00 to 1.00, calculated for the trailing 12 months, in order to borrow under the ABL Revolver. 

The 2029 ABL Revolver contains covenants limiting the ability of the Company, the Borrower and the 
Company’s restricted subsidiaries to, among other things, incur or guarantee additional debt or issue disqualified stock 
or certain preferred stock; create or incur liens; pay dividends, redeem stock or make other distributions; make certain 
investments; create restrictions on the ability of the Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries to pay dividends to the 
Company or make other intercompany transfers; transfer or sell assets; merge or consolidate; and enter into certain 
transactions with affiliates, subject to a number of important exceptions and qualifications as set forth in the ABL Credit 
Agreement. 

As of December 31, 2024, there were no outstanding borrowings on the 2029 ABL Revolver.  

Deferred Financing Costs 
 

Certain costs incurred with borrowings are reflected as a reduction to the long-term debt balance. These costs 
are amortized as an adjustment to interest expense over the life of the borrowing using the effective-interest rate method. 
As of December 31, 2024, the remaining unamortized debt issuance costs recorded on the 2029 Senior Notes were 
$4.6 million and are reported as a reduction to the long-term debt balance. The remaining unamortized debt issuance 
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costs on the 2029 ABL Revolver were $1.4 million and are recorded as other assets (current and long-term) on the 
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2024. 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded a $3.0 million loss on debt extinguishment 
relating to the unamortized deferred financing costs in connection with the redemption of the 2026 Senior Notes and the 
termination of the 2026 ABL Revolver. 

11. Income Taxes  
 

Income tax expense and effective income tax rates consist of the following: 
 

        

  December 31,  
     2024      2023      
Current taxes:      

Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  9,318  $  10,126  
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      9     20  

    9,327     10,146  
Deferred taxes:      

Domestic . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (3,821)    331  
Foreign . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —     —  

    (3,821)    331  
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  5,506  $  10,477  
Income before income taxes:      

Domestic income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  24,987  $  34,400  
Foreign income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     40     62  

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  25,027  $  34,462  
Effective income tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      22.0 %   30.4 % 
 

The Company’s effective tax rates on pre-tax income were 22.0% and 30.4% for the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively. The decrease in the Company’s effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2024 
compared to the prior year related to increased deductibility of stock-based compensation realized upon certain stock 
option exercises and restricted stock unit vesting, and a decrease in unrecognized tax benefits due to the lapse of statute 
of limitations. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2023 was impacted by limitation of executive 
compensation deductibility related to the former CEO’s retention agreement. 

 
For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the effective tax rate differs from the U.S. federal statutory 

income tax rate as follows: 
 

      

  December 31,  
     2024      2023      
Tax at federal statutory rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    21.0 %  21.0 % 
State taxes, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    5.4    4.4   
Expiration of capital loss carryover . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    7.1   —  
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (7.1)  —  
Unrecognized tax benefits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (2.8)  0.1  
Tax credits . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (1.4)  (0.5) 
Permanent items(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (0.2)  5.3  
Other  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    —    0.1   

Effective income tax rate . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    22.0 %  30.4 % 
 

(1) Includes the deductibility limitations on excess compensation.  
 

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate primarily 
due to state income taxes, which had a tax rate impact of 5.4%. Other items impacting the effective tax rate in 2024 
include unrecognized tax benefits, tax deductibility limitations on executive compensation and permanent items. For the 
year ended December 31, 2023, the effective tax rate differs from the federal statutory rate primarily due to state income 
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taxes, which had a tax rate impact of 4.4%. Other items impacting the effective tax rate in 2023 include tax deductibility 
limitations on executive compensation and permanent items. 

The components of the deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows: 
       

  December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Deferred tax assets:     

Accrued expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  3,414  $  1,928 
Net operating loss carryforward . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     133     130 
Stock-based compensation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,400     1,798 
Interest limitation . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,424    1,689 
Lease liability . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,730    3,026 
Capital loss carryover . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     —    2,110 
Research and development costs . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,070    1,350 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,772    3,244 

Total gross deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     15,943     15,275 
Valuation allowance . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (872)    (2,616)

Net deferred tax assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     15,071     12,659 
Deferred tax liabilities:     

Plant, equipment and leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (8,552)    (8,825)
Intangible assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (6,075)    (6,745)
Right-of-use assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (2,511)   (2,851)
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (1,251)    (1,377)

Total gross deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (18,389)    (19,798)
Net deferred tax liabilities . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  (3,318) $  (7,139)

 
The valuation allowance as of December 31, 2024, is primarily relating to the use of state interest deductions 

that may generate future state net operating losses, which may not be fully recognized. The valuation allowance as of 
December 31, 2023 related to a capital loss realized on the sale of a foreign subsidiary whereby the Company did not 
anticipate a capital gain in the foreseeable future that would allow for the recognition of the capital loss carryover. The 
capital loss carryover expired after five years, which was December 31, 2024. 

Under a provision in the 2017 U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, beginning in 2022, research and development costs 
incurred are no longer allowed as an immediate deduction for federal income tax purposes. Rather, these expenditures 
incurred must be capitalized and amortized over a five-year period for activities conducted in the United States and a 
15 year period for activities conducted outside the United States. 

The Company has a minimal amount of state and local operating loss carryforwards which will expire at 
various dates from 2033 to 2038. The Company does expect to be able to utilize these losses prior to expiration. 

The Company has recorded compensation for certain covered employees in excess of $1.0 million per year. 
Under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 162(m), the Company is prohibited from deducting the amount of tax 
compensation that exceeds $1.0 million per year for these employees. The covered employees are defined as the CEO, 
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), and the three next-highest-compensated officers of the Company. The Company 
considers the impact of the estimated IRC Section 162(m) limitations on the future deductibility of existing temporary 
differences. 

Unrecognized Tax Benefits 

Unrecognized tax benefits represent the aggregate tax effect of differences between the tax return positions and 
the amounts otherwise recognized in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, and are reflected in “Accrued 
expenses” and “Other long-term liabilities” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company accounts for 
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uncertain tax positions by recognizing the financial statement effects of a tax provision only when based upon the 
technical merits, it is “more-likely-than-not” that the tax position will be sustained upon examination.  
    

Balance as of December 31, 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .        $  1,317 
Increase related to current year tax position . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      82 
Increase related to prior year tax position . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      37 
Decrease related to lapse of statute of limitations . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      (767)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  669 
 

The Company recognizes interest and penalties with respect to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of 
income tax expense. The amount of accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits was $0.1 million 
and $0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The Company believes that it is reasonably possible that approximately $0.5 million of its unrecognized tax 
benefits may be recognized by the end of 2025 as a result of a lapse of the statute of limitations, which is reflected in 
“Accrued expenses” on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024. 

12. Stockholders’ Deficit 

Common Stock 

Common stock has a par value of $0.001 per share. Holders of common stock are entitled to receive dividends 
and distributions subject to the participation rights of holders of all classes of stock at the time outstanding, as such 
holders may have prior rights as to dividends pursuant to the rights of any series of preferred stock. Upon any 
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, after required payments are made to holders of any series of 
Preferred Stock, any remaining assets of the Company will be distributed ratably to the holders of common stock. 
Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share.  
 
Share Repurchases 
 

On November 2, 2023, the Company's board of directors approved a share repurchase plan authorizing the 
Company to repurchase up to $20.0 million of the Company's common stock, par value $0.001 per share. This 
authorization expired on December 31, 2024 with a remaining unused authorized amount of $11.2 million.  
 

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company repurchased 473,284 shares of its common stock at an 
average price of $18.16 per share, excluding commissions, or $8.6 million in aggregate, on a trade date basis. This 
amount includes 364,848 shares purchased from one of the Company’s significant stockholders at an average price of 
$18.09 per share, in accordance with the stock repurchase agreements entered into with Tricor Pacific Capital Partners 
(Fund IV) US, LP (“Parallel49”).  

 
Secondary Offering 

On September 30, 2024, significant stockholders Tricor Pacific Capital Partners (Fund IV), LP and Tricor 
Pacific Capital Partners (Fund IV) US, LP entered into an underwriting agreement for the sale of an aggregate 
of 1,380,000 shares of CPI common stock in a public offering. In conjunction with the Company’s initial public offering 
in October 2015, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement with its significant stockholders whereby the 
Company is required to pay expenses incurred in an offering of shares of CPI common stock by the Company’s 
significant stockholders other than underwriters’ fees, discounts, commissions, and certain transfer taxes. 

The offering contemplated in the underwriting agreement closed on October 2, 2024, and total expenses paid by 
the Company on behalf of the significant stockholders pursuant to the registration rights agreement for the offering were 
approximately $0.5 million. The Company did not sell any securities in the offering and did not receive any proceeds 
from the sale of the shares offered by the significant stockholders. 
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13. Earnings per Share 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of 
common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur 
if outstanding stock options at the presented dates are exercised and shares of restricted stock have vested. For the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 36,826 and 72,049 potentially dilutive securities, respectively, are excluded from 
the calculation of diluted earnings per share. The effect of these shares was anti-dilutive under the treasury stock method, 
as the assumed proceeds of the options and restricted stock per unit were above our average share price during the 
periods. 

 
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share: 

 
       

  Year Ended December 31, 
     2024     2023 
Numerator:       

Net income  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  19,521  $  23,985 
     
Denominator:         

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,152,648     11,426,124 
Dilutive shares. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    725,428    491,432 
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     11,878,076   11,917,556 
    

Basic earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1.75  $  2.10 
     

Diluted earnings per share . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  1.64 $  2.01 
 

 
14. Commitments and Contingencies 

Commitments 

During 2023, the Company entered into a capacity reservation agreement with one of its chip suppliers to 
reserve production supply capacity due to the current global supply shortage environment. Under the agreement, we 
agreed to pay certain fees in exchange for the supplier’s commitment to reserve capacity to produce a set quantity of 
chips from 2023 through 2026, subject to certain conditions, and we have committed to purchase those chips. As of 
December 31, 2024, the remaining commitment was $62.0 million, of which $49.9 million is expected to be paid in the 
next 12 months with the remaining expected to be paid in 2026. The Company's total purchases under this commitment 
were $68.4 million and $60.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Refer to Note 9 “Financing and Operating Leases” for details on the Company’s future cash payments with 
respect to financing and operating leases. During the normal course of business, the Company enters into 
non- cancellable agreements to purchase goods and services, including production equipment and information technology 
systems. The Company leases real property for its facilities under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. Land and 
facility leases expire at various dates between 2026 and 2029 and contain various provisions for rental adjustments and 
renewals. The leases typically require the Company to pay property taxes, insurance and normal maintenance costs. The 
Company’s financing leases expire at various dates between 2025 and 2029 and contain purchase options which the 
Company may exercise to keep the machinery in use. 

Contingencies 

In accordance with applicable accounting guidance, the Company establishes an accrued expense when loss 
contingencies are both probable and estimable. In such cases, there may be an exposure to loss in excess of any amounts 
accrued. As a matter develops, the Company, in conjunction with any outside counsel handling the matter, evaluates on 
an ongoing basis whether such matter presents a loss contingency that is probable and estimable. Once the loss 
contingency is deemed to be both probable and estimable, the Company will establish an accrued expense and record a 
corresponding amount of expense. The Company expenses professional fees associated with litigation claims and 
assessments as incurred. The Company is subject to routine legal proceedings in the ordinary course of business. The 
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Company believes that the ultimate resolution of any such matters will not have a material adverse effect on its business, 
financial condition or results of operations. 

Voluntary Disclosure Program 

The Company is subject to unclaimed or abandoned property (escheat) laws which require it to turn over to 
state governmental authorities the property of others held by the Company that has been unclaimed for specified periods 
of time. Property subject to escheat laws generally relates to uncashed checks, trade accounts receivable credits and 
unpaid payable balances. During the second quarter of 2022, the Company received a letter from the Delaware Secretary 
of State inviting the Company to participate in the Delaware Secretary of State’s Abandoned or Unclaimed Property 
Voluntary Disclosure Agreement Program to avoid being sent an audit notice by the Delaware Department of Finance. 
On August 31, 2022, the Company entered into Delaware’s Voluntary Disclosure Agreement Program in order to 
voluntarily comply with Delaware’s abandoned property law in exchange for certain protections and benefits. The 
Company intends to work in good faith to complete a review of its books and records related to unclaimed or abandoned 
property during the periods required under the program. Any potential loss, or range of loss, that may result from this 
matter is not currently reasonably estimable. 

15. Employee Benefit Plan 

The Company maintains a qualified defined-contribution plan under the provisions of the Internal Revenue 
Code Section 401(k), which covers substantially all employees in the United States who meet certain eligibility 
requirements. Under the plan, participants may defer their salary subject to statutory limitations and may direct the 
contributions among various investment options. The Company matches 100% of the participant’s first 3% of deferrals 
and 50% matching on each of the 4th and 5th percent contributed by the participant. As the Company operates the plan as 
a safe harbor 401(k) plan, the Company’s match is 100% vested at the time of the match. 

The aggregate amounts charged to expense in connection with the plan were $2.4 million and $2.1 million for 
the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

16. Stock-Based Compensation 

CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan  

In October 2015, the Company adopted the CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan (as amended and 
supplemented, the “Omnibus Plan”) pursuant to which cash and equity-based incentives may be granted to participating 
employees, advisors and directors. Effective January 30, 2024, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to 
the Omnibus Plan to increase the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock reserved and available for 
issuance thereunder by 1,000,000 shares, resulting in a total of 3,200,000 shares issuable under the Omnibus Plan.  

As of December 31, 2024, there were 866,564 shares of common stock available for grant under the Omnibus 
Plan. Options have seven-year terms and are issued with exercise prices equal to the fair market value of the Company’s 
common stock on the grant date. 

The following is a summary of the activity in outstanding stock options under the Omnibus Plan: 
 

           

      Weighted-Average    
       Remaining    
    Weighted-Average  Contractual  Aggregate
    Exercise  Term  Intrinsic 
     Options     Price     (in Years)     Value 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    909,438  $ 18.79  4.06  $  6,482 

Exercised . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (125,144)  5.98   —    
Expired . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (1,459)  24.71   —    
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (1,572)  18.01   —    

Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    781,263  $ 20.84  2.67  $  9,925 
Options vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2024 . . .    711,979  $ 20.70  2.52  $  9,333 
Options vested and expected to vest as of  
December 31, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    781,263  $ 20.84  2.67  $  9,925 
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The following is a summary of the activity in unvested stock options under the Omnibus Plan: 
      

    Weighted-Average 
    Grant-Date  
      Number      Fair Value 
Unvested as of December 31, 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    160,121  $  10.92 

Vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (89,265)    10.69 
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (1,572)    11.12 

Unvested as of December 31, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    69,284  $  11.21 

Unvested stock options of 69,284 as of December 31, 2024 have a seven-year term and are expected to vest 
ratably over a two-year period on each anniversary of the grant date. No options were granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2024. The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year ended December 31, 2023 was 
$11.21. The total fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $1.0 million and 
$1.2 million, respectively. 

The fair value of the stock option awards granted for the year ended December 31, 2023 was determined 
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions: 
 
      

   December 31,  
      2024      2023  
Expected term in years (1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    —   2.90  
Volatility (2) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    — %  73.16 % 
Risk-free interest rate (3) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    — %  4.46 % 
Dividend yield (4) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    — %  — % 

 
(1) The Company estimated the expected term based on the average of the weighted-average vesting period and the contractual term of the 

stock option awards by utilizing the “simplified method,” as the Company does not have sufficient available historical data to estimate the 
expected term of these stock option awards. 

(2) Volatility was based on a weighting of the Company’s historical volatility and a representative peer group, which is comprised of 
companies with similar industry, size and financial leverage. 

(3) The risk-free interest rate was determined by using the United States Treasury rate for the period consistent with the expected term 
described above. 

(4) The Company’s expected annual dividend yield was zero based on current practice.  
 

The following table summarizes the changes in the number of outstanding restricted stock units for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 under the Omnibus Plan: 

 
        

       Weighted-Average
            Remaining 
    Weighted-Average  Amortization 
    Grant-Date  Period 
  Shares   Fair Value      (in Years) 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     713,360  $  21.25   
Granted . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    226,739    23.90   
Vested . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    (305,348)    21.57   
Forfeited . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (38,535)    20.30   
Outstanding as of December 31, 2024 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     596,216  $  22.15  1.25 

 
The restricted stock unit awards contain conditions associated with continued employment or service. 

Restricted stock units granted in 2024 are expected to vest ratably over a one or three-year period on each anniversary of 
the grant date. Shares of common stock will be issued to the award recipients on the vesting date. The weighted average 
fair value of restricted stock units granted during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $23.90 and $21.39, 
respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $6.6 million 
and $2.2 million, respectively.  
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During 2024, executives received a quarterly restricted stock unit grant comprising one-fourth of the annual 
equity-based incentive component of their total compensation. The number of shares awarded will be determined based 
on a value tied to the monthly average closing price of the Company’s common stock. 

In June 2023, the Company announced an award comprised of 25% nonqualified stock options and 75% 
restricted stock units to its CEO at the time as an incentive to remain employed by the Company through February 28, 
2024. The first one-third of the awards was granted in June 2023, the second one-third was granted in August 2023, and 
the remainder was granted in November 2023. All of these awards will vest ratably over a two-year period irrespective 
of employment status with expense related to these awards to be recognized by the Company through February 28, 2024. 
As part of the CEO’s incentive package, the requisite service and exercise periods for his awards granted in 2023 prior to 
June 2023 were also modified with expense related to the modification being recognized in June 2023 through February 
2024.  

In January 2024, the Company granted 60,000 performance stock units (PSU) in connection with the 
appointment of its CEO, with a grant date fair value of $0.9 million using a Monte Carlo simulation model. The PSU 
award will vest, subject to continued employment, in equal one-third increments upon the attainment of the rolling 
weighted average closing price of the Company’s common stock equaling or exceeding each of $35.00, $50.00, and 
$65.00, in each case, for at least 90 consecutive trading days during the five-year performance period commencing on 
the grant date. Additionally, the Company granted its CEO 40,000 restricted stock units which will vest entirely at the 
end of the four year service period. 

As of December 31, 2024, the total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested options and restricted 
stock units was $7.1 million, which the Company expects to recognize over an estimated weighted-average period of 
approximately 1.3 years. 

17. Segment Reporting 

The Company’s chief operating decision maker is its CEO, who is charged with management of the Company 
and is responsible for the evaluation of operating performance and decision-making about the allocation of resources to 
operating segments based on the measures of net sales and EBITDA. 

As the Company uses the term, “EBITDA” is defined as income before interest expense, income taxes, 
depreciation and amortization. The Company’s chief operating decision maker believes EBITDA is a meaningful 
measure and is useful as a supplement to GAAP measures as it represents a transparent view of the Company’s operating 
performance that is unaffected by fluctuations in property, equipment and leasehold improvement additions. The 
Company’s chief operating decision maker uses EBITDA to perform periodic reviews and comparison of operating 
trends and to identify strategies to improve the allocation of resources amongst segments. 

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s reportable segments were as follows: 

• Debit and Credit; 
• Prepaid Debit; and 
• Other. 

 
Debit and Credit Segment 

The Debit and Credit segment primarily produces secure debit and credit cards and provides card services, 
including digital services, for U.S. card-issuing financial institutions. Products produced by this segment primarily 
include payment cards, including contact, contactless, eco-focused, and magnetic stripe cards. This segment also 
provides personalization services; instant issuance solutions, which provides customers the ability to issue an instant 
personalized debit or credit card on-demand within a customer location; and other payment solutions such as digital push 
provisioning.  
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Prepaid Debit Segment 

The Prepaid Debit segment primarily provides integrated prepaid card services to prepaid program managers 
primarily in the U.S., including tamper-evident secure packaging. This segment also produces payment cards issued on 
the networks of the Payment Card Brands that are included in the tamper-evident secure packages.  

Other 

The Other segment includes corporate expenses.  

Performance Measures of Reportable Segments 
 

Net sales and EBITDA of the Company’s reportable segments, as well as a reconciliation of total segment 
EBITDA to income from operations and net income for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, were as follows: 
 
                

  Year Ended December 31, 2024 

 
    Debit and 

Credit      
Prepaid 

Debit      Other      
Intersegment 
Eliminations      Total 

Net sales                
Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  251,146  $  —  $  —  $  (1,138) $  250,008 
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     124,115    106,541    —    (63)   230,593 

Total net sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     375,261    106,541    —    (1,201)   480,601 
Cost of sales                

Products(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     167,174    —    —    (1,138)   166,036 
Services(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     72,255    59,760    —    (63)   131,952 
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     7,737    3,657    —    —    11,394 

Total cost of sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     247,166    63,417    —    (1,201)   309,382 
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     128,095    43,124    —    —    171,219 
Operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     35,239    5,923    67,265    —    108,427 

Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  92,856  $  37,201  $  (67,265)  $  —  $  62,792 
                
EBITDA by segment:                

Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  92,856  $  37,201  $  (67,265)  $  —  $  62,792 
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     8,854    3,896    3,670    —    16,420 
Other income (expense) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     (82)   (10)   (3,586)    —    (3,678)

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  101,628  $  41,087  $  (67,181)  $  —  $  75,534 
                

Gross profit margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    34.1%   40.5%   *   *   35.6% 
EBITDA margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    27.1%   38.6%   *   *   15.7% 

 
* Calculation not meaningful. 
(1) Exclusive of depreciation and amortization. 
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  Year Ended December 31, 2023 

 
    Debit and 

Credit      
Prepaid 

Debit      Other      
Intersegment 
Eliminations      Total 

Net sales                
Products . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  250,047  $  —  $  —  $  (693)  $  249,354 
Services . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     111,010    84,237    —    (54)    195,193 

Total net sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     361,057    84,237    —    (747)   444,547 
Cost of sales                

Products(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     162,067    —    —    (693)   161,374 
Services(1) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     64,461    52,990    —    (54)   117,397 
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     7,753    2,534    —    —    10,287 

Total cost of sales . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     234,281    55,524    —    (747)   289,058 
Gross profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     126,776    28,713    —    —    155,489 
Operating expenses . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     31,870    3,786    58,243    —    93,899 

Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  94,906  $  24,927  $  (58,243)  $  —  $  61,590 
                
EBITDA by segment:                

Income (loss) from operations . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  94,906  $  24,927  $  (58,243)  $  —  $  61,590 
Depreciation and amortization . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     9,025    2,860    4,046    —    15,931 
Other income (expense) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     29    (1)   (243)    —    (215)

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  103,960  $  27,786  $  (54,440)  $  —  $  77,306 
                

Gross profit margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    35.1%   34.1%   *   *   35.0% 
EBITDA margin . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    28.8%   33.0%   *   *   17.4% 

 
* Calculation not meaningful. 
(1) Exclusive of depreciation and amortization. 
 

       

  December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Net income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  19,521   $  23,985 
Interest, net . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      34,087     26,913 
Income tax expense . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     5,506    10,477 
Depreciation and amortization  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .      16,420     15,931 

EBITDA . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  75,534   $  77,306 
 
Balance Sheet Data of Reportable Segments 
 

Total assets of the Company’s reportable segments as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows: 
 

       

  December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Debit and Credit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  248,970   $  235,680 
Prepaid Debit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     60,621     38,265 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     40,066     19,738 

Total assets  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  349,657   $  293,683 
 
Capital Expenditures of Reportable Segments 
 

Total capital expenditures of the Company’s reportable segments as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as 
follows: 

 
       

  December 31, 
      2024      2023 
Debit and Credit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .    $  6,921   $  5,116 
Prepaid Debit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     2,319     963 
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .     17     326 

Total capital expenditures  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .   $  9,257   $  6,405 
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 
 

None. 
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures 
  

Under the supervision of and with the participation of our management, including our CEO and our CFO, we 
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) as of December 31, 2024. 
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in our 
Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s 
rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our CEO 
and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based upon that evaluation, as 
discussed below, our CEO and CFO have concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2024.  
 
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
  

Management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the Company. The Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting was designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those 
policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly 
reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
the Company’s management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely 
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.  

 
Based on its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 

misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls 
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and 
procedures may deteriorate. 

 
Management has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 

December 31, 2024 based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on the results of its evaluation, the 
Company’s management concluded that as of December 31, 2024, the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting is effective. The Company’s independent registered public accounting firm audited the consolidated financial 
statements and related notes in the Annual Report on Form 10-K and have issued an audit report on the effectiveness of 
the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Their report appears in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
  

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the 
evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during our fourth quarter of 
2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting. 
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Item 9B. Other Information 
 

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, no directors or officers of the Company adopted or 
terminated any Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements or non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements (each as defined in Item 
408(a) of Regulation S-K). 
 
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections 
 

Not applicable. 
 

PART III 
 
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 
 

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to the discussion in 
“Proposal No. 1—Election of Directors,” “Directors and Corporate Governance,” and “Executive Officers” of our 
definitive proxy statement for the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders. 

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics 

The Company’s Code of Business Conduct and Ethics and Code of Conduct for Financial Officers that are 
applicable to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer, are available on our 
website at investor.cpicardgroup.com or in printed form upon request by writing to the attention of: Investor Relations, 
CPI Card Group Inc. at 10368 West Centennial Road, Littleton, Colorado 80127. 

Insider Trading Policy 

We have adopted an Insider Trading Policy governing the purchase, sale, and/or other dispositions of our 
securities by directors, officers, employees, agents and consultants, as well as the Company itself, that is designed to 
promote compliance with insider trading laws, rules and regulations, and applicable listing standards. A copy of our 
Insider Trading Policy is filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K as Exhibit 19.1. 
 
Item 11. Executive Compensation 
 

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to the discussion in “Executive 
Compensation,” and “Directors and Corporate Governance” of our definitive proxy statement for the 2025 annual 
meeting of stockholders. 
 
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 
 

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to the discussion in “Security 
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners, Directors and Management,” and “Equity Compensation Plan Information 
Table” of our definitive proxy statement for the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders. 
 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 
 

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to the discussion of “Directors and 
Corporate Governance” and “Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions” of our definitive proxy statement 
for the 2025 annual meeting of stockholders. 
 
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 
 

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to the discussion in “Fees Paid to 
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm” of our definitive proxy statement for the 2025 annual meeting of 
stockholders. 
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PART IV 
 
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 
 
The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K. 
 
1. Financial Statements filed as a part of this document under Item 8. 
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
Consolidated Balance Sheets 
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income 
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Deficit 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
2. Financial Statement Schedule 
 
All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required, not applicable, or the required 
information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
 
3. Exhibits 
 
   

   Exhibit Description 

   
3.1  Fourth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of CPI Card Group Inc. (incorporated by 

reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 8, 2022). 

   
3.1.1  Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of CPI Card Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to the 

Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 31, 2023). 
   
3.2  Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws of CPI Card Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s 

Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 13, 2024). 
   
4.1  Form of Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 

(File No. 333-206218)). 

   
4.2  Description of Registrant’s Securities (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 

10-K filed March 8, 2022). 
   
4.3  Indenture, dated as of July 11, 2024, by and among CPI CG Inc., as issuer, CPI Card Group Inc., as a 

guarantor, the subsidiary guarantors party thereto, and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as 
trustee and notes collateral agent (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed July 11, 2024). 

   
4.4  Form of 10.000% Senior Secured Notes due 2029 (included as Exhibit A to the Indenture included herewith 

as Exhibit 4.3). 
   
10.1  Guaranty and Security Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2024, among CPI Card Group Inc. and certain of its 

subsidiaries from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as collateral agent 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 11, 2024). 

   
10.2  Credit Agreement, dated as of July 11, 2024, among CPI Card Group Inc., CPI CG Inc., the lenders from 

time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent 
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 11, 2024). 

   
10.3  Registration Rights Agreement by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and the Tricor Funds (incorporated by 

reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 21, 2015). 
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10.4  Director Nomination Agreement by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and the Tricor Funds (incorporated 
by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 21, 2015).  

   
10.5  Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement on 

Form S-1 (File No. 333-206218)).  
   
10.6**  CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended and restated effective January 30, 2024 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 7, 2024). 
   
10.7**  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 8, 2017). 
   
10.8**  Form of Executive Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly 

Report on Form 10-Q filed November 3, 2020). 
   
10.9**  Form of Executive Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus 

Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 
5, 2021). 

   
10.10**  Form of Executive Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 5, 2021). 
   
10.11**  Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed November 5, 2021). 
   
10.12**  Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan, dated 

September 25, 2017, by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and Scott Scheirman (incorporated by reference 
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 29, 2017). 

   
10.13*,**  Form of Performance-Based Award Agreement under the CPI Card Group Inc. Omnibus Incentive Plan. 
   
10.14*,**  Form of 2024 Executive Short-Term Incentive Plan. 
   
10.15**  CPI Card Group Inc. U.S. Executive Severance and Change in Control Guidelines (incorporated by 

reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed August 3, 2017). 
   
10.16**  Employment and Non-Competition Agreement, dated September 25, 2017, by and between CPI Card Group 

Inc. and Scott Scheirman (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
September 29, 2017). 

   
10.17**  Offer Letter, dated May 3, 2023 by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and Jeffrey Hochstadt (incorporated 

by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 9, 2023). 
   
10.18**  Employment Agreement, dated January 25, 2024 by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and John Lowe 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 7, 2024). 
   
10.19**  Employment Agreement, dated December 13, 2022 by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and Lane Dubin 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 8, 2023). 
   
10.20**  Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and Lane Dubin 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 9, 2023). 
   
10.21**  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and Lane Dubin 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed May 9, 2023). 
   
10.22**  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and Lane Dubin 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed June 5, 2023). 
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10.23**  Letter Agreement between Scott Scheirman and the Company dated June 2, 2023 (incorporated by reference 

to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 5, 2023). 
   
10.24**  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and John Lowe 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 7, 2024). 
   
10.25**  Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and John Lowe 

(incorporated by reference to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 7, 2024). 
   
10.26*,**  Transition and Separation Agreement effective January 25, 2024 by and between CPI Card Group Inc. and 

Sarah Kilgore. 
   
10.27  Stock Repurchase Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2023, by and between Tricor Pacific Capital Partners 

(Fund IV) US, LP and CPI Card Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on December 7, 2023). 

   
10.28  Stock Repurchase Agreement, dated as of March 11, 2024, by and between Tricor Pacific Capital Partners 

(Fund IV) US, LP and CPI Card Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on March 15, 2024). 

   
19.1*  Insider Trading Policy of CPI Card Group, Inc. 
   
21.1*  List of Subsidiaries of the Company. 

   
23.1*  Consent of Independent Registered Accounting Firm, KPMG LLP. 

   
31.1*  Certificate of Chief Executive Officer Required Under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

   
31.2*  Certificate of Chief Financial Officer Required Under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

   
32.1*  Certificate of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Required Under Section 906 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 

   
97.1  Amended and Restated Clawback Policy of CPI Card Group Inc. (incorporated by reference to the 

Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed March 7, 2024). 
   
101.INS*  XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its 

XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document. 
   
101.SCH*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document. 
   
101.CAL*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. 
   
101.DEF*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 
   
101.LAB*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. 
   
101.PRE*  Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. 
   
104*  Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101). 

 
* Filed or furnished herewith. 
**   Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
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Item 16.  Form 10-K Summary  
 

None. 
 

SIGNATURES 
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has 
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

 
 

 
 

 CPI CARD GROUP INC.  
   
   
 /s/ Jeffrey Hochstadt  
 Jeffrey Hochstadt   
 Chief Financial Officer   
   
March 4, 2025   
 

KNOWN BY ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that the individuals whose signatures appear below 
hereby constitute and appoint John Lowe and Jeffrey Hochstadt and each of them severally, as his or her true and lawful 
attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution for him and in his name, place and stead in 
any and all capacities to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all 
exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting 
unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, full power and authority to do or perform each and every act and thing requisite 
and necessary to be done in connection therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in 
person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or of his substitute or 
substitutes, may lawfully do to cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 

following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 

 
    

Name      Title      Date 
     

/s/ John Lowe  President, Chief Executive   March 4, 2025 
John Lowe  Officer and Director   

  (Principal Executive Officer)   
     

/s/ Jeffrey Hochstadt  Chief Financial Officer   March 4, 2025 
Jeffrey Hochstadt  (Principal Financial Officer)   

     
/s/ Donna Abbey Carmignani  Chief Accounting Officer   March 4, 2025 

Donna Abbey Carmignani  (Principal Accounting Officer)   
     

/s/ Hugh Sanford Riley  Chairman of the Board  March 4, 2025 
Hugh Sanford Riley     

     
/s/ Thomas Furey  Director  March 4, 2025 

Thomas Furey     
     

/s/ Ravi Mallela  Director  March 4, 2025 
Ravi Mallela     

     
/s/ Nicholas Peters  Director  March 4, 2025 

Nicholas Peters     
     

/s/ Marc Sheinbaum  Director  March 4, 2025 
Marc Sheinbaum     
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/s/ Valerie Soranno Keating  Director  March 4, 2025 
Valerie Soranno Keating     

     
/s/ Lisa Oleson  Director  March 4, 2025 

Lisa Oleson      



Exhibit 31.1 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
I, John Lowe, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CPI Card Group Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to

state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which
such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))for
the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures,
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 4, 2025 /s/ John Lowe 
John Lowe 
President and Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal Executive Officer) 



[This Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



Exhibit 31.2 
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 

OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
I, Jeffrey Hochstadt, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of CPI Card Group Inc.; 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to 

state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 
such statements were made not misleading, with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this 
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows 
of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining 
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and 
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for 
the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and 
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to 
the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over 
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented 
in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, 
as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting 
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal 
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of 
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the 
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

    

Date: March 4, 2025  /s/ Jeffrey Hochstadt 
   Jeffrey Hochstadt 
   Chief Financial Officer (Principal 

Financial Officer) 
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Exhibit 32.1 
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO  

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES–OXLEY ACT OF 2002 
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of CPI Card Group Inc. (the 

“Company”)  for the period ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), we, John Lowe, President and Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, and Jeffrey Hochstadt, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 
of 2002, to our knowledge, that: 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and 

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the 
financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  

 
   

By: /s/ John Lowe  
 John Lowe  
 President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer) 

   
By: /s/ Jeffrey Hochstadt  

Jeffrey Hochstadt  
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) 
  

Date:   March 4, 2025  
 

This written statement accompanies the Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 
be deemed filed by the Company for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended. 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the 
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange 
Commission or its staff upon request. 
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CPI works with the First Mile®, an initiative of Thread International and WORK, which formalizes waste collection 
networks in low-income communities and bridges the gap for global brands to purchase from these responsible 
supply chains, while diverting plastic waste from our oceans and landfills.

CPI was the first company to become a licensee of the ICMA EcoLabel Standard Program, a voluntary program created by the International 
Card Manufacturers Association (ICMA) for members to demonstrate their support of sustainability initiatives. The program establishes 
measurable criteria for assessing the environmental impact of transaction and identification cards for the purpose of ICMA EcoLabel 
Standard Program certification.

CPI’s Second Wave® cards that feature a core made with recovered ocean-bound plastic and Earthwise® cards have achieved certification 
under the ICMA EcoLabel Standard Program. For further details on which attributes ICMA evaluated and the requirements to use the 
EcoLabel logo, visit https://icma.com/resources/ecolabel-program

At CPI, we are committed to responsible business practices that 
reduce the environmental impact of our products and operations, 
foster a safe and rewarding workplace for our employees, uphold 
our values and commitment to integrity across our business and 
supply chain, and contribute meaningfully to our communities.

To learn more about our efforts, please visit 
https://www.cpicardgroup.com/sustainability/

Greener Payments Partnership 
CPI is a proud member of the Greener Payments 
Partnership (GPP) formed by Mastercard® and other 
major card manufacturers with a goal to reduce 
first-use PVC plastic in card manufacturing.

Forest Stewardship Council 
CPI has earned Forest Stewardship Council® (FSC®) Chain of 
Custody (CoC) certification for its prepaid product. CPI was 
third-party certified by SCS Global Services through its Forest 
Conservation Program.

FSC CoC certification ensures that certified wood products are 
tracked from responsibly managed forests to final paper products to 
verify that FSC-certified material is identified or kept separate from 
non-certified material throughout the chain. 

Mastercard and the circles design are registered trademarks of Mastercard International Incorporated.

Our Commitment to Responsibility
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CPI Card Group Inc.
10368 West Centennial Road
Littleton, Colorado 80127
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Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of CPI Card Group stockholders will be held at 8:00 a.m. 
Mountain Time on May 21, 2025, via live webcast.

For information on how to attend our annual meeting of stockholders, please see 
our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or 
visit: https://investor.cpicardgroup.com.
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